Inflation, Cosmic Perturbations and Non-Gaussianities

Yi Wang

Kavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe, Todai Institutes for Advanced Study, University of Tokyo, 5-1-5 Kashiwanoha, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8583, Japan and

Centre for Theoretical Cosmology, DAMTP, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0WA, UK

We review the theory of inflationary perturbations. Perturbations at both linear and nonlinear orders are reviewed. We also review a variety of inflation models, emphasizing their signatures on cosmic perturbations.

Contents

1.	An Introduction to Inflation	2
	A. The hot big bang	2
	B. Horizon, flatness, monopole and correlation problems	3
	C. Inflation as a solution of problems	6
	D. Dynamics of inflation	8
	E. Attractor	11
	F. Reheating	11
	G. Open questions	12
II.	Linear Perturbations	14
	A. A spectator field in de Sitter space	15
	B. Decomposition of the metric	18
	C. Gauge invariance and gauge fix	20
	D. The 2nd order gravitational action, $\delta\phi$ -gauge	22
	E. The 2nd order gravitational action, ζ -gauge	24
	F. Power spectrum, scale invariance and tilt	25
	G. Comoving curvature perturbation as the e-folding number difference	26
	H. Observable inflation, de Sitter space and eternal inflation	29
	I. Gravitational waves	31
	J. Other fields	32
III.	Nonlinear Perturbations	33
	A. Interaction picture and in-in formalism	34
	1. The Hamiltonian for the perturbations	34
	2. The interaction Hamiltonian	35
	3. The time evolution of the vacuum	36
	4. The in-in expectation value	37
	B. 3rd order gravitational action	38
	1. Constraints	38
	2. Action	39
	3. Integration by parts	40
	C. From action to Hamiltonian	41
	D. 3-point correlation function (bispectrum)	42
	E. Local non-Gaussianity and the local f_{NL}	43
	F. Soft limits of correlation functions	45
	1. The squeezed limit	45
	2. Soft limit of internal momenta	47
	3. Usage of unitarity	47
IV.	Inflation Models	49
	A. General single field inflation	49
	1. Generalizing the Lagrangian	49

2. Effective field theory of perturbations	52
3. Generalizing the initial condition	54
4. Generalizing the attractor behavior	55
B. Multi-field inflation	56
1. Adiabatic and entropy perturbations	56
2. Curvaton mechanism	58
3. Non-trivial reheating surface in field space	60
4. Modulated reheating	62
5. Modulated expansion history	63
6. A landscape of inflatons and isocurvatons?	65
C. Quasi-single field inflation	67
1. Energy scales during inflation	67
2. Mass uplifting of flat directions	67
3. A simple model	68
4. Amplitude of non-Gaussianities	69
5. Shape of non-Gaussianities	71
6. Scaling dimensions for general operators	72
D. Scale dependent features	73
1. Features in the potential	73
2. Sharp turning of trajectory	74
3. Particle production	75
Acknowledgement	76
. Computer Assisted Analytical Calculation	76
1. Algebra systems	76
2. Summed indices	76
3. Integration by parts	77
References	77

I. AN INTRODUCTION TO INFLATION

Α

Inflation [1–3] is the leading paradiam of the very early universe cosmology. The quantum fluctuations during inflation are stretched to super-Hubble scales and return to the Hubble horizon after inflation. They provide the seeds of CMB anisotropy and the large scale structure [4–8].

Here we review the cosmic perturbation theory, which calculates inflationary fluctuations. There have been already many books, reviews and lecture notes in this area [9–22]. In the present review we focus on an explicit treatment of the standard theory, including linear and non-linear perturbations. After that, we make a broad survey of models. Before those aspects, we briefly overview the inflationary cosmology in the rest of this section.

A. The hot big bang

The dynamics of the standard hot big bang cosmology is governed by the Friedmann equation. By assuming the universe is homogeneous, isotropic¹ and flat², the metric can be written as the FRW form:

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2} d\mathbf{x}^{2} . (1)$$

 $\mathbf{2}$

¹ Homogeneity and isotropy are firstly introduced just to simplify the equations. Later it is supported by observations that our universe is indeed nearly homogeneous and isotropic above 100 Mpc scales (and the size of our observable universe is about 3000 Mpc).

² Unlike homogeneity or isotropy, flatness is not a statement of symmetry. Nevertheless experiments suggest that our universe is very flat. Non-flatness, if exists, should have a curvature radius at least $10H^{-1}$. Thus for algebraic simplicity we also assume flatness unless stated otherwise.

Here *a* is the scale factor of the universe. Note that in a flat universe, the scale factor itself does not have physical meaning. Because we can always rescale *a* and spatial coordinate x_i together. On the other hand, ratios of scale factors are important. For example the Hubble parameter $H \equiv \dot{a}/a$ and the redshift $z \equiv a(t_0)/a(t) - 1$ are key quantities in cosmology.

With the FRW metric, the 00-component of the Einstein equation is the Friedmann equation:

$$3M_p^2 H^2 = \rho av{2} av{2}$$

where $\rho \equiv \sum \rho_i \equiv \rho_m + \rho_r + \rho_\Lambda + \cdots$ is the energy density. For non-interacting energy components, the time evolution (characterizing how this component dilutes with expansion of the universe) at the homogeneous and isotropic level is determined by the continuity equation

$$\dot{\rho} + 3H(\rho + p) = 0 \tag{3}$$

where p is pressure, which can be determined by ρ (and perhaps other parameters) from the equation of state for this form of matter. For example, for thermal matter, p/ρ can be calculated from the thermal partition function. For the cosmological constant, $p/\rho = -1$ follows from Lorentz invariance.

Our present universe is matter $(p \ll \rho)$ dominated. At earlier times, the universe was hotter and radiation $(p = \rho/3)$ dominated. However, radiation domination cannot be eternal to the past. This is because from Eq. (2), inserting $\rho = \rho_r \propto a^{-4}$, we get $\dot{a} \propto 1/a$ and $a \propto \sqrt{t-t_i}$, where t_i is an integration constant. The moment $t = t_i$ is a physical singularity, where scale factor sinks to zero and physical energy density diverges. Note that t is the proper time measured by a comoving observer. Thus the radiation dominated universe must start at some finite physical time (137Gyr ago). The start of the radiation dominated universe is known as the "hot big bang".

The singularity at $t = t_i$ requires the hot big bang. But this singularity by itself does not imply what happens before the hot big bang, or even if anything, including spacetime, exists or not before that. Nevertheless, the hot big bang cosmology is sensitive to its initial conditions. There are strong evidences (almost firm proof) showing that new physics exists before the big bang. And inflation is so far the most successful candidate for this very early epoch. In the remainder of the section, we shall focus on those evidences and how inflation explains them.

B. Horizon, flatness, monopole and correlation problems

It is a surprising fact that we find ourselves living in a huge universe – about 10^{23} kilometers in the observable radius and 10^{10} years in age (where kilometers and years are human's natural units). This turns into a greater surprise when we realize that our universe is supported by fundamental physics, where the natural scales are eV, GeV or even Planck scale. In those units the age and size of our universe are about 10^{33} eV⁻¹ (~ 10^{42} GeV⁻¹ ~ $10^{60}M_n^{-1}$).

Those surprises can be formulated in more accurate terms, by the horizon and flatness problems of the standard hot big bang cosmology. To see those problems, let us assume for a time that nothing happened before the hot big bang. In other words assume the universe is radiation dominated all the way back in the early times. Then problems arise:

• Horizon problem (1): Let us start with an example of the cosmic microwave background (CMB).

From observations, we actually see the universe is homogeneous and isotropic in the past, because light (or any other causal signal) needs time to propagate to us. By optical probes, we can observe the homogeneity and isotropy of the universe up to as early as recombination: When the CMB forms, the universe is already very homogeneous and isotropic (up to fluctuations of order 10^{-5} , which we will discuss soon).

However, from the hot big bang to the time of recombination, causal signals could only propagate a limited distance in space. This is because those signals could at most propagate at speed of light, with null geodesic $0 = ds^2 = -dt^2 + a^2 dr^2$. Thus the physical distance of propagation (measured by today's ruler $a(t_0)$) from the big bang to recombination is at most³

$$a(t_0)\Delta r = a(t_0) \int_{t_i}^{t_{\rm rec}} \frac{dt}{a(t)} \simeq 2\sqrt{t_{\rm rec}t_0} \sim \sqrt{\frac{t_{\rm rec}}{t_0}} \times \text{(size of current observable universe)} . \tag{4}$$

³ Here we approximated the universe as radiation dominated. Actually the universe has already become matter dominated at $z \simeq 3000$. Nevertheless this doesn't make a big difference for this estimate.

To put in numbers, the causal signals, from the hot big bang to recombination, could only propagate as long as about 1/100 of the radius of our observable universe. Thus different patches of the CMB sky were casually disconnected. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 1.

One could also consider this problem using conformal time. This is because conformal time, together with comoving spatial coordinates, straightforwardly shows the causal structure of spacetime.⁴ The flat FRW metric can be rewritten as

$$ds^{2} = a(\tau)^{2}(-d\tau^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}) , \qquad (5)$$

where τ is defined (up to a constant) by $dt = ad\tau$. Using conformal time, the light cones are 45 degree straight lines in the τ -x plane. Thus the distance luminal signals travel equals to conformal time.

Consider equation of state $p = w\rho$, where w is a constant. One finds $a \propto (t - t_0)^{\frac{2}{3(1+w)}}$. Thus

$$\tau - \tau_0 = \frac{3(1+w)}{1+3w} (t-t_0)^{\frac{1+3w}{3(1+w)}} .$$
(6)

For a fluid with w > -1/3 (including matter and radiation), a very short period of proper time $t - t_0$ corresponds to a very short period of conformal time $\tau - \tau_0$. Thus light cannot propagate far during this period of time.



FIG. 1: The horizon problem of hot big bang cosmology. The space and time in this diagram should be understood as comoving and conformal respectively. The several smaller light cones are truncated between the hot big bang and recombination (the time of CMB formation). Those light cones have no overlap at the time of hot big bang, thus they are causally unrelated at recombination. But why, they at recombination (for example A and B in the figure), look similar to each other (considering we can observe many of them, as indicated by the greater light cone between recombination and the present time)?

Note that in the CMB example of the horizon problem, $t_{\rm rec}$ is set by the scale of observation instead of the intrinsic nature of the problem itself. More generally, we could consider different observables (replace $t_{\rm rec}$ with other time scales) and generate a family of similar horizon problems. For example, problems of causally disconnect patches of large scale structure.

• Horizon problem (II): One could alternatively formulate the puzzle of horizon size in another way. Imagine we are observers sitting at $\mathbf{x} = 0$, who have existed since the hot big bang, and there exists some structural information S which are comoving⁵ in the universe (including homogeneity, isotropy and flatness, and departures from those ideal conditions). We could observe S by luminal or sub-luminal signals emitted from the structures on S. Now at time t_{obs} (not before or after), how much portion of S could we observe (in comoving size)?

⁴ Conformal time is not only important for showing causal structures. There are also a few other important usages of conformal time. For example, the field equations looks simpler and closer to Minkowski field equations in conformal time. Also, it can be used to show that conformal invariant fields do not "know" the cosmic expansion. We will discuss those aspects more extensively in later sections

⁵ The requirement of comoving is not only for simplicity. Motions away from comoving receives Hubble fraction (the kinetic energy loss, analog of redshift for a massless particle). Thus on large scales, objects tend to be comoving.

We find there is a competition in this situation. On the one hand, as t_{obs} becomes larger, the past light cone is larger thus we tend to see more structures on S. On the other hand, the expansion of the universe itself tends to hide those structures into more distant regions, where we may not be able to observe. Interestingly, those two effects depends on different order of derivatives of a. Thus typically there is a winner between them. The comoving size of the observable universe is characterized by the comoving horizon size:

$$\frac{1}{aH} . (7)$$

We find that as we move forward in time, we see more and more portion of S. In other words, comoving objects are floating inwards from outside of our horizon⁶. Or from the horizon point of view, the universe is not expanding "fast" enough, and thus the horizon keeps expanding in comoving size. (Here we have quoted "fast", because the time dependence of the quantity $aH = \dot{a}$ is actually the acceleration of expansion, instead of the expansion speed.)

Now comes the horizon problem: If no one could never "see" (more accurately, interact with) those structures in the early universe, how could they be causally prepared, and prepared in a consistent way? This situation is illustrated in Fig. 2 and Fig. 3.



FIG. 2: The horizon problem II, or the flatness problem. At early times, the observer could only observe a small portion of the universe thus unaware of larger scale structures (e.g. the spherical topology in the figure). At later times though radiation or matter domination, the universe expands. However, the observer's horizon expands faster. Thus the observer could obtain more large scale structural information (e.g. easier to measure the non-flatness of the universe, if exists). From current observation, the universe is rather flat now. If there were non-flatness in our universe, how could causal process produce them in the early universe, considering no causal process could see this non-flatness in the early universe?

• Flatness problem: The flatness problem could be considered as an example of the version (II) of the horizon problem. Here the structural information S is the spatial curvature of the universe. For simplicity, we haven't put spatial curvature into the metric. Nevertheless, we could imagine we live on a sphere instead of a flat plane.

When the universe expands, the curvature radius \mathcal{R} should expand together, keeping $\mathcal{R} = a(t)$ (with proper normalization of a). Nevertheless, as horizon problem (II), in matter or radiation dominated universes, the universe does not expand "fast" enough thus we still see more and more portion of the sphere as time goes on.

⁶ The horizon here is defined in the sense of the above paragraph. This horizon is sometimes called the "cosmological horizon". The horizon size, in comoving coordinate, is 1/(aH). This is not to be confused with the concepts of the particle horizon or the event horizon.



FIG. 3: The comoving scales return to the horizon in radiation and matter dominated eras.

So far, we haven't seen any curvature ($\mathcal{R} > 10a$). Thus at a much earlier time, \mathcal{R} has to be greater than 10a by a much greater amount. How could such a flat universe be prepared at the beginning, without the help of causal processes?

This is not yet the end of the story. Some UV-completion theories of the particle physics standard model predict topological defects. From those theories, another question arises:

• *Monopole problem*: Phase transitions of the early universe may produce gauge theory monopoles. If produced, they are supposed to dominate the energy density the universe. But we haven't found them. (On the other hand, global monopoles is not necessarily a problem.)

So far we have outlined a few problems for the standard picture of the hot big bang cosmology. However, it is worth noticing that sometimes it is hard to judge the seriousness of conceptional problems:

On the one hand, it is because those conceptional problems are paradigm dependent. For example, the monopole problem could be simply solved by starting with a theory without monopole solutions. One could as well argue that the universe could start from some almost deterministic initial conditions where the universe is extremely flat and uniform. Those theories exist, such as the quantum creation of universe [23] (see also [24, 25] for a different approach with different predictions).

On the other hand, solution to some problems may not be complete, or may also raise other (though arguably less serious) problems. We will come back later to the new problems brought by inflation.

However, there does exist physical problem of the hot big bang, without proper extension before the bang. This is the problem⁷ of large scale correlations on the CMB (or in the large scale structure).

• Correlation problem: Again consider Fig. 1. Actually the CMB map is not absolutely homogeneous and isotropic, but instead has small fluctuations on it, with an amplitude $\sim 10^{-5}$. Now consider the statistical correlation of those fluctuations, in regions A and B. Assuming nothing exists before the hot big bang, A and B shouldn't have correlations. However, those statistical correlations were caught, mode by mode in momentum space, in the CMB experiments [26]. With nowadays CMB map (WMAP:[27, 28] ACT:[29–31] SPT:[32, 33]), one can actually observe by eyes that the fluctuations are very different from a map generated from white noise.

Indeed, historically it is the verified predictions of inflation from the correlation in the cosmic perturbations, instead of the conceptual "postdictions", that convinced the majority that inflation should be the theory of the very early universe and produce the dominant seed of CMB and structure formation.

C. Inflation as a solution of problems

Inflation is a period of time before the hot big bang, during which the universe undergoes accelerating expansion:

$$\ddot{a} > 0 . (8)$$

⁷ Historically, the large scale correlation was no longer a problem of the bang, but already the success of inflation. This is because those correlations are detected after inflation was proposed.

For example, consider a constant equation of state $p = w\rho$. In this case acceleration implies w < -1/3. And as we shall see, inflation typically require $w \simeq -1$ (approach -1 from the greater side).

Before going into detailed dynamics which could drive the above accelerating expansion, let us first have a look how inflation solves the problems in the previous subsection.

• Horizon problem (I): From equation (6), we find that in case of acceleration (w < -1/3), $\tau - \tau_0 \propto -(t - t_0)^{\text{negative power}}$. Thus small proper time interval $t - t_0 \rightarrow 0$ means negative and large conformal interval $\tau - \tau_0 \rightarrow -\infty$.

Remember that $\tau - \tau_0$ corresponds to the distance that light ray could travel. $\tau - \tau_0 \rightarrow -\infty$ means that light ray could travel a very long distance during the w < -1/3 epoch (although could be a small interval of proper time $(t - t_0)$) before reaching the time of recombination. Thus Fig. 1 is replaced by Fig. 4, where the initial t_i hypersurface is stretched downwards in conformal distance, and light cones with tips on CMB becomes highly overlapped at t_i .

Alternatively, we can re-calculate the light propagation distance, similarly to Eq. (4): during inflation

$$a(t_0)\Delta r = a(t_0) \int_{t_{\rm ini}}^{t_{\rm end}} \frac{dt}{a(t)} \simeq \frac{1}{H} \frac{a(t_0)}{a(t_{\rm ini})} \simeq \frac{1}{H} \frac{a(t_0)}{a(t_{\rm end})} e^{H(t_{\rm end} - t_{\rm ini})} .$$
(9)

This corresponds to an exponentially large distance, that light signals could have travelled during inflation.

• Horizon problem (II) and the flatness problem: Those problems arises because $\dot{a} = aH$ was a decreasing function all the way since the creation of the universe (i.e. $\ddot{a} < 0$). Now we have a period of inflation $\ddot{a} > 0$ before the hot big bang. Thus the horizon problem (II) and the flatness problem are solved provided that the $\ddot{a} > 0$ period is long enough. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 4, where the left and right panels plots the same physics, in spacetime diagram and in terms of change of comoving horizon scale, respectively.



FIG. 4: Inflation solves the horizon problem. Thanks to the accelerated expansion, the conformal time τ is no longer tightly bounded by the big bang singularity t = 0. Thus the past light cones on the CMB overlap in the past, which solves the horizon problem.

- *Monopole problem:* If monopoles were created before inflation, they could easily be inflated away. Thus it is no wonder we can not observe them today. (However, one should still pay attention not to produce gauge theory monopoles, domain walls or very strong cosmic strings after inflation.)
- Correlation problem: How inflation solves this problem is discussed in detail in later sections. The key idea is that, the sub-Hubble quantum fluctuations are stretched by cosmic expansions during inflation, into super-Hubble fluctuations. Those fluctuations return to the horizon later after the end of inflation. Those returned modes cause large scale correlations on the CMB. This is illustrated in Fig. 4.



FIG. 5: The comoving scales exits the horizon during inflation, and later returns during radiation and matter dominated eras.

D. Dynamics of inflation

Now that inflation is very powerful in solving problems, it is interesting to see how inflation could be realized. The requirement $p/\rho = w < -1/3$ is not that easy to obtain. Because our familiar components in the universe have positive pressure. For example, consider a gas of particles in a box. The particles always "want" to escape the box, thus generate positive pressure by hitting the surface of the box.

The same difficulty can be also observed from the continuity equation $\dot{\rho} + 3H(1+w)\rho = 0$. Again consider a gas component (but now in the whole universe). Both particle density and momentum of particles get diluted when the universe expands. Thus ρ should dilute at least as quickly as a^{-3} . Especially, when $w \simeq -1$, we want a component whose energy density is almost not diluted when the universe expands.

To have such an acceleration, one immediate idea is to use vacuum energy. This is because, the vacuum, after adiabatic expansion, is still vacuum⁸. Thus we have w = -1 and the universe accelerates.⁹

However, if we use the vacuum energy to accelerate our early universe, problems arise:

- Inflation must end. Our universe is not always in a state of acceleration. Observationally, significant parts of our directly observable history was radiation and matter dominated and the universe decelerates instead of accelerates in expansion. Theoretically, we need the comoving structures to return to the horizon.
- The end of inflation must be controlled by a rather accurate clock. The overlapping of light cones in Fig. 4 does not grantee (though makes it possible) that we observe an almost homogeneous and isotropic universe. For example, if one significant part of the universe has much earlier end of inflation, then energy density drops quickly in that part and it will produce a void in our universe, breaking homogeneity and isotropy.

The vacuum energy itself does not provide an exit mechanism for inflation. Moreover, even if we add anything, like tunneling to another vacuum, as the end of inflation, it will not solve the problem as long as there is no clock. For example, the tunneling to another vacuum happened spontaneously instead of being controlled by a clock.¹⁰

Thus, we have to attach a clock to vacuum energy, and use this clock to end inflation. A clock¹¹ is something that takes a number at every physical point in the spacetime manifold, with the numbers increasing along an observer's

⁸ Adiabaticity cannot be maintained for the vacuum wave modes as long as 1/H. We shall come back to this issue later in details.

⁹ Indeed our present universe is accelerating, and the vacuum energy is the most popular candidate for our present expansion. For the discussion of late time acceleration, see e.g. [34] and the references therein.

¹⁰ The decay of false vacuum is actually the oldest model of inflation. However, apart from the clock problem, the decay of false vacuum has another more serious problem: Let Γ be the decay rate of the false vacuum. Then when $\Gamma > H$, inflation will end within one e-fold, thus do not really solve problems. On the other hand, if $\Gamma < H$, true vacuum bubbles can not percolate because the space between true vacuum bubbles expand too quickly. In this case we found ourselves in an open bubble [35, 36], and the flatness problem returns. Thus inflation will either end too quickly or will never end globally.

¹¹ To be more accurate, by "a clock", we actually mean a set of clocks, accessible at every spacetime point. Thus the clock is actually a clock field.

world line. Thus a clock can be simply realized by a rolling scalar field¹². In other words we would need an effective vacuum energy, controlled by the motion of a scalar field.

The change from a vacuum energy to a rolling scalar field can be thought of as follows: A vacuum energy plus a massless scalar can be viewed in an alternative way as a scalar field lying on a flat potential. By slightly tilting the potential, we have a slowly rolling scalar field acting as an effective vacuum energy. This picture can be visualized by the analog of a rolling ball along a very flat surface, as shown in Fig. 6. The rolling scalar is called the "inflaton".

Further, inflation could be ended by adding some additional mechanisms triggered by some particular value of inflaton. For example, as in Fig. 6, after ϕ_{reh} , the potential $V(\phi)$ is no longer flat thus inflation ends when ϕ rolls to ϕ_{reh} . In this case, the inflaton field is the clock field of the universe.



FIG. 6: Left panel: a rolling scalar field is a modest deformation of pure vacuum energy. Right panel: the inflationary potential. The shape of the inflationary potential is largely unconstrained, as long as it is flat enough. Inflation ends at where the potential is no longer flat and a process of reheating follows to reheat the universe.

To be explicit, the Lagrangian for a scalar field is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = \sqrt{-g} \left[-\frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - V(\phi) \right] , \qquad (10)$$

In the homogeneous and isotropic background level, the above equation is reduced to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = a^3 \left[\frac{1}{2} \dot{\phi}^2 - V(\phi) \right] . \tag{11}$$

The equation of motion for ϕ can be obtained from varying this action with respect to ϕ :

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0 , \qquad (12)$$

where prime denote derivative with respect to ϕ .

It is interesting to compare this equation with the flat space equation of motion for a homogeneous and isotropic scalar field: $\ddot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0$. The new term in Eq. (12) is a friction term. To see this, consider $V'(\phi) = 0$. In this case the solution of ϕ is $\phi = \text{const}$ and $\dot{\phi} \propto a^{-3}$. The $\phi = \text{const}$ solution means a "ball" which is at rest. The $\dot{\phi} \propto a^{-3}$ solution means that when there is no additional driving force, the initial velocity decreases.

To solve Eq. (12), we need yet to know H. Thus we have to couple the ϕ field to gravity. There are a few (essentially the same) ways to couple ϕ to gravity. One could either vary the gravitational Lagrangian together with \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} with respect to $g_{\mu\nu}$, or vary \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} in Eq. (10) with respect to $g_{\mu\nu}$ to get the stress tensor¹³ and insert this stress tensor into the Einstein equations. Instead, here we take a simpler route:

The physical energy density can be obtained by a Legendre transform:

$$\rho = \mathcal{H}_{\phi}/a^3 = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + V(\phi) .$$
(13)

¹² Such a concept of global time appears in conflict with the principles of relativity. Because relativity asserts there is no preferred observer or absolute time. Indeed, Lorentz symmetry is spontaneously broken in cosmology, by the expansion of the universe. Nevertheless, spontaneous breaking of symmetry just means the state breaks the symmetry, which do not reduce the power or (arguably) beauty of the theory.

¹³ Using this method, the stress tensor is $T_{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + pg_{\mu\nu}$, where $u_{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\mu}\phi/\sqrt{-\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi}$, and ρ and p are given in (13) and (14).

Compare the continuity equation $\dot{\rho} + 3H(\rho + p) = 0$ with the equation of motion (12), one concludes

$$p = \mathcal{L}_{\phi} / a^3 = \frac{1}{2} \dot{\phi}^2 - V(\phi) .$$
 (14)

Thus we have inflation when potential energy dominates.

Inserting ρ into the Friedmann equation, we get

$$3M_p^2 H^2 = \rho = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + V(\phi) .$$
(15)

Now we are in the position to solve this system (with Eqs. (12) and (15)). It is in general difficult to find solutions for a general V. For some special potentials, the system can be solved. For example, one can make an ansatz $w = p/\rho = \text{const}$, and this case is called "power law inflation" [37], resulting in an exponential potential of ϕ .

However, here we expect more general solutions. Thanks to the friction force, there is a slow-roll-approximated solution of Eq. (12) when the potential is flat enough, regardless the details of the potential. This is the solution that the fraction force balances the external force $V'(\phi)$, such that the acceleration of ϕ does not change significantly. In addition, to have inflation, we want the potential energy $V(\phi)$ dominates over the kinetic energy $\frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2$. Thus the approximation is

$$\frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 \ll V(\phi) , \qquad |\ddot{\phi}| \ll 3H|\dot{\phi}| . \tag{16}$$

The first condition grantees inflation because in this case $p \simeq -\rho$. The second condition requires $\dot{\phi}$ to change slowly such that the first condition can be satisfied for long enough time.

With the above approximations (16), given the value of ϕ , we can first solve H by

$$H \simeq \sqrt{\frac{V}{3M_p^2}} , \qquad (17)$$

and then insert the resulting H into $3H\dot{\phi} + V' \simeq 0$ to obtain

$$\dot{\phi} \simeq -\frac{V'}{3H} \ . \tag{18}$$

After obtaining those solutions, we need to step back to verify the assumptions in Eq. (16). Inserting the solutions of H and $\dot{\phi}$, we have

$$\epsilon_V = \frac{M_p^2}{2} (\frac{V'}{V})^2 \ll 1 , \qquad \eta_V = M_p^2 \frac{V''}{V} , \qquad |\eta_V| \ll 1 .$$
(19)

The subscript V means that those small "slow roll parameters" are defined using the inflation potential. This is convenient because by model construction, we typically start with a potential and want to know immediately if the potential is flat enough to have inflation.¹⁴

Especially, when inflation is driven by the mass of the inflaton, we have

$$\eta_V = \frac{m^2}{3H^2} \ . \tag{20}$$

Thus η_V actually denotes the mass square of the inflaton, measured in Hubble units. The condition $|\eta_V| \ll 1$ means, the dynamics of the *inflationary background*, has an energy scale much smaller than Hubble parameter. As we shall see later, the inflationary perturbations actually lives on the energy scale H, with initial condition set on an even higher energy scale.

It is also convenient to define another set of slow roll parameters using the dynamics of scale factor¹⁵:

$$\epsilon \equiv -\frac{\dot{H}}{H^2} , \qquad \eta \equiv \frac{\dot{\epsilon}}{H\epsilon} .$$
 (21)

When slow roll conditions $\epsilon_V \ll 1$ and $|\eta_V| \ll 1$ are satisfied, those slow roll parameters are related to ϵ_V and η_V by

$$\epsilon = \epsilon_V + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon_V^2, \eta_V^2) , \qquad \eta = 4\epsilon_V - 2\eta_V + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon_V^2, \eta_V^2) . \tag{22}$$

When slow roll conditions are not satisfied, the relations between (ϵ, η) and (ϵ_V, η_V) are non-linear.

 $^{^{14}}$ Note the appearance of Planck mass M_p in those *small* parameters. It turns out quite hard to get those slow roll conditions satisfied.

 $^{^{15}}$ The convenience will show up practically in calculations like expanding the action with respect to perturbations

E. Attractor

As we have shown, in the slow roll approximation, given a flat enough potential, there exists a slowly rolling inflationary solution. To take this solution seriously, it is important to consider the naturalness: Could this solution be reached easily without highly fine-tuned initial conditions?

This is in general a hard problem. Because on the one hand, the dynamics before inflation is yet unknown. Thus the aprior naturalness is not well defined. On the other hand, even consider the mathematical naturalness, one need to consider a measure of the phase space. Unfortunately, the phase space measure for inflation divergences and different regularization method leads to different conclusions [38–40].

Nevertheless the solution of slow roll inflation is an attractor. An attractor solution is natural, at least in a naive way.

There is an intuitive way to see this attractor behavior: the potential energy of inflation acts as an effective vacuum energy, and thus do not significantly redshift during inflation. However, the kinetic energy of inflaton tends to be redshifted away quickly. As discussed in the last section, without continuous injection of energy from the potential, the kinetic energy of ϕ decays as a^{-6} .

Thus, on the one hand, if the universe starts potential dominated, we are fine to have inflation already. On the other hand, if the universe starts kinetic energy dominated, with a small coherent potential energy¹⁶, the kinetic energy will get diluted away and the universe will eventually become potential dominated. Thus inflation is a dynamical attractor solution.

F. Reheating

As we already emphasized, it is important to end inflation. From local energy conservation, the effective vacuum energy should go somewhere. The simplest case is that this effective vacuum energy decays into matter or radiation, which heats the universe. This process is called reheating¹⁷.

After reheating, the universe is radiation dominated¹⁸, thus

$$M_p^2 H^2 \sim \rho_r \sim T_{\rm reh}^4 , \qquad T_{\rm reh} \propto \sqrt{M_p H} , \qquad (23)$$

where H is the energy scale at reheating. We require the reheating temperature to be compatible with BBN. Thus $T_{\rm reh} > 10$ MeV. This is considered as a hard lower bound for inflationary energy scale $H > 10^{-22}$ GeV. Nevertheless, we expect inflation to happen at much higher energy scales, because it is increasingly harder to build a flat potential at extremely low energy scale.

If reheating is sufficient, most of the vacuum energy goes into radiation. In this case H is close to the energy scale of inflation.

Unlike the dynamics during inflation, the dynamics of reheating is extremely model dependent. Here we shall not come into detailed physics (see [41, 42] for a review). Instead we only outline the generic class of models:

• Perturbative decay: In this case, the decay is characterized by a decay rate Γ in particle physics [43–45]. A typical scenario of this kind has the inflaton oscillate around its minima of potential after inflation. And when the duration of oscillation is longer than $1/\Gamma$, the inflaton energy decays into other particles. Note that the duration of oscillation is approximately $t \propto 1/H$ at the decay time. Thus the inflaton decay happens on a uniform Hubble (and thus uniform total energy density) hypersurface in spacetime.

In this case the reheating temperature can be written as $T_{\rm reh} \propto \sqrt{M_p \Gamma}$. In case of a long time of oscillation, the Hubble parameter at the inflaton decay can be significantly lower than the inflationary Hubble parameter.

• Non-perturbative decay: This case is model dependent. For example, brane inflation typically end by collision of brane and anti-brane [46–48]. The decay is very fast due to the tachyon mode between the branes. The decay happens on a uniform inflaton hypersurface in spacetime. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 7.

¹⁶ Actually a small coherent potential energy may be a big claim because the horizon problem is back.

¹⁷ Reheating, as we can read, seems to mean the universe heat up for a second time. However, we don't know what happens before inflation, thus actually don't know if the universe was hot before inflation.

¹⁸ It is still possible that the inflaton decays into matter, and the matter later decays into lighter particles which behaves as radiation.



FIG. 7: Brane inflation and reheating. When the brane moves close to the stack of anti-branes, the open string mode with end point on both brane and anti-brane become tachyonic, which triggers the decay of the brane. Brane inflation ends on a uniform inflaton hypersurface.

• Parametric resonance (preheating): When inflation ends and the inflaton is oscillating around its minima, the oscillation may trigger a resonance for other particles (say, χ) [49–52]. In the resonance band, the energy density of χ grows exponentially until χ has comparable energy density with the inflaton, after which the system becomes non-linear while the decay continues.

Note that during reheating, the small scale physics changes. However those scales are so small that the same comoving scale today is not cosmological. Moreover, those sub-Hubble scales shall not go super-Hubble again thus there is no associated conserved quantity. Thus it is harder to probe the physics of reheating than to probe the physics during inflation.

Nevertheless, there do exist a few possibilities that can constraint (and in the future may observe) scenarios of reheating:

- *Modification of large scale fluctuations:* As we shall show later in Sec. IV B 3 and IV B 4, in some special models of reheating, not only the small scale perturbations but also the large scale ones can get modified.
- *Gravitational waves:* The gravitational waves propagate freely after they are produced. Thus the primordial ones carry information of extremely early ages [53]. Unfortunately the typical energy scale of reheating is yet smaller than the currently generation of gravitational wave detectors. Nevertheless, a low scale reheating or a table top detector may uncover the physics of reheating.

G. Open questions

We have discussed the dynamics of inflation, and its success. Before going on to discuss the further success of inflation at the level of perturbations, let us pause and mention a few open questions for inflation.¹⁹

• The η_V -problem [54]: As we discussed, for inflation to happen, we need $\epsilon_V \ll 1$. On the other hand, for inflation to happen for enough e-folds to solve any problem, we need $\eta_V \ll 1$. For example, consider a free massive field as the inflaton. In this case, $\eta_V \ll 1$ implies $m \ll H$.

Note that H is a remarkably low energy scale: The inflationary H is high in our today's high energy physics point of view. However, during inflation 1/H is the size of the whole "observable" universe at that time. Thus it is nontrivial that we need an inflaton, whose Compton wave length is much greater than the size of observable universe, during the era of inflation.

¹⁹ Those open questions, from a critical point of view, are problems of inflation.

Even worse, the mass of a scalar field is not protected by quantum fluctuations. Like in the case of the Higgs mass hierarchy problem, the quantum correction to the inflaton mass runs to the UV completion scale Λ of the theory. Even if the inflaton field only has gravitational self coupling (or coupling to other fields), the mass correction, by power counting, is

$$\Delta m^2 \sim \frac{\Lambda^4}{M_p^2} \ . \tag{24}$$

When $\Lambda \sim M_p$, the mass correction runs directly to Planck scale.

As in the case of Higgs physics, we may expect supersymmetry to save the theory from serve fine tuning. However, the supersymmetry, if exists, has to be broken at the Hubble scale. Thus the cancellation leaves a mass correction $\Delta m \sim H$.

Also, a locally supersymmetric theory typically get mass corrections of order $\Delta m \sim H$. For example, consider a Kahler potential $K \simeq c\phi^2/M_p^2$, where c is a number of order one. The Kahler potential appears in the Lagrangian as

$$e^{K}V(\phi) \simeq V(\phi) + \frac{c\phi^{2}}{M_{p}^{2}}V(\phi) \simeq V(\phi) + 3cH^{2}\phi^{2}$$
 (25)

Thus an effective mass $\Delta m^2 = 6cH^2$ is generated.

There are also other sources to generate $m \sim H$ corrections. For example, no symmetry forbids the coupling $\lambda \phi^2 R$ in the action, where R is the Ricci scalar. Note that during inflation, $R = 12H^2 + 6\dot{H}$. Thus coupling to Ricci scalar generates a mass correction $\Delta m^2 = 24\lambda H^2$ during inflation.

As another example, if ϕ couples to another field σ with $g\phi^2\sigma^2$ coupling, the σ field gets a vev at the fluctuation level (as we shall show in Sec. sec:spectator-field-de):

$$\langle \sigma^2 \rangle \simeq \frac{H^2}{4\pi^2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \Delta m^2 = 2g \langle \sigma^2 \rangle = \frac{gH^2}{2\pi^2} .$$
 (26)

The above problems are collectively called the η_V -problem. To avoid this problem, one could introduce a shift symmetry to protect the mass of the inflaton. Nevertheless the shift symmetry has to be broken softly to have inflation.

• The degeneracy problem: This is a problem at the opposite direction of the η_V -problem. As we discussed, it is hard to get a flat enough potential, because of the η_V -problem. However, if we allow some fine tuning to flatten the potential, there are immediately a huge number of inflation models. We shall review those models in later sections.

As we shall discuss later, the number of observables of inflation is limited. Thus it is considered very hard to break the degeneracy, to select the correct model of inflation from observations.

• The trans-Planckian problem [55–57]: Comoving scales expand exponentially during inflation. Thus those scales are exponentially small in the past. Especially those scales can be smaller than Planck scale at the initial time.²⁰ How can we trust a theory with such small energy scales? Especially how to set the trans-Planckian initial condition?

It is argued that the vacuum state is adiabatic on sub-Hubble scales, and thus does not have this scaling problem. Yet it is useful to show explicitly if there is a problem or not.

One should also note that at the level of free theory, the Planck mass M_p has no physical meaning and can be rescaled away. Only when we consider interactions, M_p becomes physical as the energy scale where gravity is strongly coupled. Thus the trans-Planckian problem is really a problem of interaction. And at the interacting level (which is by definition non-linear), there can be trans-Planckian modes interacting with the super-Hubble modes as well. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 8.

²⁰ There need to be 10 more e-folds of inflation before the observable stage, for the smallest cosmological scale to reach Planck scale in the past.



FIG. 8: The trans-Planckian problem, as a problem of non-linear interactions.



FIG. 9: The FRW patch is not geodesic complete. It covers only half of the global de Sitter space.

• Initial condition of inflation: Inflation cannot be the full story of the very early universe. The inflationary FRW metric only covers half of the de Sitter spacetime. As a result, inflation is not geodesic complete (a more general proof can be found in [58]). We need a start for inflation. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 9. It is an open question how to prepare a homogeneous and isotropic Hubble patch, for inflation to happen.

There are some candidates for the theories before inflation. For example eternal inflation [59, 60] (which yet needs an initial condition), or the quantum creation of the universe [23–25]. So far we are still unable to experimentally verify those theories.

From now on, we shall move on to the cosmic perturbation theory. This is the field where inflation has already shown its predictive power, and continues to excite the community with forthcoming experiments.

II. LINEAR PERTURBATIONS

Now we move on to the perturbations. Perturbations are by definition smaller than background. But for inflation (and many other cases in cosmology) they are by no means less important. Because a perfectly homogeneous and

isotropic universe do not tell us a lot (and cannot find anybody to tell).

A. A spectator field in de Sitter space

To warm up, we first consider a spectator field in de Sitter space $(a = e^{Ht})$ [61]. "Spectator" means gravity is not dynamical. Instead, gravity is just an expanding playground and do not receive back-reaction from the spectator field.

Operationally, one can consider a universe with a cosmological constant Λ . Then take $M_p \to \infty$ while keeping Λ/M_p^2 fixed. Then a finite energy density scalar field will be a spectator field.

For simplicity, we consider the spectator field to be a real scalar, non-interacting and massless. The action of the spectator field is

$$S = \int d^3x \, dt \, a^3 \left[\frac{1}{2} \dot{\sigma}^2 - \frac{1}{a^2} (\partial_i \sigma)^2 \right] \,. \tag{27}$$

In Fourier space, the above action is

$$S = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} dt \ a^3 \left[\frac{1}{2} \dot{\sigma}_{\mathbf{k}} \dot{\sigma}_{-\mathbf{k}} - \frac{k^2}{a^2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{-\mathbf{k}} \right] \ . \tag{28}$$

The σ field can be quantized as

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = v_k(t)a_{\mathbf{k}} + v_k^*(t)a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} , \qquad (29)$$

where $a_{\mathbf{k}}$ and its Hermitian conjugate $a_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ are time-independent creation and annihilation operators:

$$[a_{\mathbf{k}}, a_{\mathbf{k}'}] = 0, \qquad [a_{\mathbf{k}}, a_{\mathbf{k}'}^{\dagger}] = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') , \qquad (30)$$

and v_k satisfies the classical equation of motion of σ :

$$\ddot{v}_k + 3H\dot{v}_k + \frac{k^2}{a^2}v_k = 0.$$
(31)

To solve this equation, it is convenient to use conformal time. The same equation of motion now becomes

$$(av_k)'' + \left(k^2 - \frac{a''}{a}\right)(av_k) = 0 , \qquad (32)$$

where prime denotes derivative with respect to the conformal time. Note that $a = -1/(H\tau)$ for de Sitter space. Thus $a''/a = 2/\tau^2$. The above equation has simple solution

$$v_k = c_1 (1 + ik\tau) e^{-ik\tau} + c_2 (1 - ik\tau) e^{ik\tau} .$$
(33)

Now we have to fix the integration constants c_1 and c_2 . Before a careful treatment, let us first consider a quicker way: Note that av_k is the canonically normalized field. Thus when this k-mode is far inside the horizon $(\tau \to -\infty)$, av_k effectively lives in flat space and should have the same solution as in Minkowski space. By comparing with the Minkowski space solution $1/\sqrt{2k}$, we get

$$|c_1| = \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}}$$
, $c_2 = 0$. (34)

Note that the mode function v_k only coincide with the Minkowski space solution at $\tau \to -\infty$. When $\tau \ge -aH$, the solution of v_k becomes completely different from the Minkowski one.

Now we shall determine the above integration constants in a more careful way. There are two observations to determine c_1 and c_2 :

• Quantization and uncertainty. The σ field is quantized in Eq. (30). Note that in quantum mechanics, quantization and uncertainty principle have close connections. The size of quanta determines how accurate or inaccurate we could measure a system.

In our situation, the uncertainty principle is

$$\pi_{\mathbf{k}} \equiv \frac{\delta S}{\delta \dot{\sigma}_{\mathbf{k}}} = a^3 \dot{\sigma}_{-\mathbf{k}} , \qquad [\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}, \pi_{\mathbf{k}'}] = i(2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') . \tag{35}$$

To compare this relation with (30), we get a normalization condition

$$a^{2}(v_{k}v_{k}^{*\prime} - v_{k}^{\prime}v_{k}^{*}) = i.$$
(36)

Note that we have rewritten the time derivative in terms of conformal time. Applying the equation of motion for v_k , we obtain

$$c_1 c_1^* - c_2 c_2^* = \frac{H^2}{2k^3} . aga{37}$$

• *Vacuum has lowest energy.* Now we are to fix a "vacuum" state. There are two things to do to fix the state: First, we should relate the vacuum to annihilation operator. A "vacuum" is a state satisfying

$$a_{\mathbf{k}}|0\rangle = 0. \tag{38}$$

However, this condition is actually a precise definition of $a_{\mathbf{k}}$, among all the possible definitions. More importantly, we still need to know what *is* a vacuum as a physical state. We define the vacuum as the lowest energy state at initial time $\tau \to -\infty$. To make it more precise, the Hamiltonian (defined with respect to τ) is

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \left[a^4 \dot{\sigma}^2 + a^2 (\partial_i \sigma)^2 \right] = \frac{1}{2} a^2 (c_1 c_1^* + c_2 c_2^*) (k^2 + k^4 \tau^2) + \frac{1}{2} \left[a^2 c_1 c_2^* e^{-2ik\tau} (k^2 + 2ik^3 \tau) + \text{c.c.} \right] , \qquad (39)$$

where c.c. denotes complex conjugate. At $\tau \to -\infty$, the Hamiltonian is

$$\mathcal{H} \simeq \frac{1}{2H^2} (c_1 c_1^* + c_2 c_2^*) k^4 .$$
(40)

We want this Hamiltonian to be minimal with the constraint (37). Thus we get

$$|c_1| = \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}}$$
, $c_2 = 0$. (41)

Note that only the amplitude of c_1 is determined. The phase of c_1 is still not determined. This phase is a random phase, reflecting the quantum mechanical nature of the fluctuations. Eventually this random phase shows up, for example, on the CMB sky as the randomness of temperature fluctuations. In statistical quantities such as the power spectrum, this random phase do not appear.

To collect the result of quantization, we have

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}(\tau) = v_k(\tau)a_{\mathbf{k}} + v_k^*(\tau)a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} , \qquad v_k(\tau) = \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}}(1 + ik\tau)e^{-ik\tau} .$$
(42)

So far we have discussed two ways to fix the vacuum state: Instant Minkowski vacuum, as well as the initial lowest energy state. This vacuum state is known as the Bunch-Davies vacuum [62]. The same vacuum state can also be obtained in various other ways. For example, the Bunch-Davies vacuum can be obtained by the no boundary wave function of the universe. This is because the Euclidean version of initial time, $i\tau = -\infty$, is a regular point on the sphere, thus shouldn't result in a divergence in the Euclidean action. Alternatively, it is also believed that the Bunch-Davies vacuum is an attractor solution of inflation. Quite general (but not all) initial states are eventually driven to the Bunch-Davies state due to the cosmic expansion.

Before ending the discussion of vacuum, some more comments are in order here:

• The relation between Eq. (38) and minimalizing the Hamiltonian: At first glance, they look like the same condition. This is because, in flat space QFT, a_k annihilate one particle. So Eq. (38) means there is no particle, and thus is lowest energy state.²¹ However, on time dependent background, things become more complicated.

²¹ In flat space QFT, we still need $c_2 = 0$ to relate a_k to the concept of "annihilate one particle".

17

On a time dependent background, matter energy is not globally conserved. A "empty" state without particle could evolve into a state with lots of particles in it. Note that we work in the Heisenberg picture. Once we have defined the "vacuum" state, the state does not evolve with time. However once we define the vacuum state as the lowest energy state at one time, the same state could be no longer the lowest energy state at another time, due to the time dependence of the matter Hamiltonian. Here, we minimalize the energy at $\tau \to -\infty$, as one essential piece of vacuum selection.

- The vacuum is selected in the UV: Note that $\tau \to -\infty$ corresponds to the k-mode has almost zero wave-length and infinite energy. Thus in this procedure, the vacuum is selected in the UV. The $k/a \to \infty$ limit can not be reached in QFT because QFT is considered as an effective field theory with a UV completion. The UV completion scale is at most Planck scale. As we have discussed, this is the "trans-Planckian" problem of inflation. One might expect the selection of initial state at $k/a \to \infty$ could be relaxed to a selection of lowest energy state at $k/a \to \Lambda$, as long as $H \ll \Lambda \ll M_p$. Before $k/a = \Lambda$, the universe can be considered as expanding adiabatically and no particle is produced.
- The vacuum is selected linearly mode by mode: We first linearized the theory, and consider one k-mode without worrying about other modes. In other words, we implicitly set all other k-modes to zero. In flat space QFT, we can safely do that because in scattering process we indeed have set other modes to zero, at least locally near the incoming wave packet. However, in a time dependent background, the situation is actually not clear. The perturbations of other wave length, especially longer wave length exist and we cannot just forget about them. The inclusion of those modes will give a contribution at higher order in perturbation theory (fortunately not at the leading order).

Now we have determined the vacuum state, using a simple matching together with a more detailed discussion. The next step is to interpret and understand the solution. Suppose we could measure the scalar field σ after the end of inflation²², what shall we see?

We see random fluctuations and we want to extract statistical information from it. The way to do it is to consider the two point correlation function $\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle$ at $\tau \simeq 0$ (the end of inflation). Inserting the solution of the mode function, we have

$$\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}') \frac{2\pi^2}{k^3} P_{\sigma}(k) , \qquad P_{\sigma}(k) = \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 , \qquad (43)$$

where $P_{\sigma}(k)$ is called the power spectrum. $\sqrt{P_{\sigma}}$ is the fluctuation amplitude of σ per Hubble volume per Hubble time. When $P_{\sigma}(k)$ does not dependent on k (as the current case), we call the power spectrum "scale invariant".

The scale invariance of a power spectrum means if we zoom the fluctuations into a bigger volume, and compare with the true fluctuations in this bigger volume, statistically we cannot find difference between those fluctuations. The "zoom" operation shows up in the above formula as the k^3 factor, as a normalization of the volume.

Note that in our present example, the dynamics of the perturbation is linear. Linearity implies that all the odd-point correlation functions (e.g. $\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle$) vanishes, and all the even-point correlation functions (e.g. $\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_4} \rangle$) can be reduced trivially into their disconnect parts (e.g. $\langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_1} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_2} \rangle \langle \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_3} \sigma_{\mathbf{k}_4} \rangle$ +permutations). Thus the power spectrum carries all the statistical information about the perturbations. Considering the unpredictable nature of quantum random phase, $P_{\sigma}(k)$ is the unique function to connect theory and observations. As we shall show in later sections, in case of a non-linear theory, the above is no longer true and the predictions can become much richer.

The above discussion can be generalized to a massive spectator field. In the massive case, the above discussions can be directly generalized. The equation of motion takes the form

$$\ddot{v}_k + 3H\dot{v}_k + \frac{k^2}{a^2}v_k + m^2v_k = 0.$$
(44)

The solution, with the same method of vacuum choice, is (up to a phase)

$$v = e^{-i\pi\nu/2} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}H}{2} (-\tau)^{3/2} H_{i\nu}^{(1)}(-k\tau) , \qquad (45)$$

²² Actually at this time the modes are super-Hubble and not measurable. Nevertheless, we suppose we could measure those super-Hubble modes at the moment. We shall return to this topic when we discuss the conserved quantity.

where $H_{\nu}^{(1)}(x) \equiv J_{\nu}(x) + iY_{\nu}(x)$ is the Hankel function of the first kind. In the $k/a \gg \max(\sqrt{mH}, H)$ limit the solution returns to the same Minkowski limit as discussed in the massless case.

Finally, we heuristically apply the above discussion of σ to the fluctuation of the inflaton. This "application" must be considered with a *big caution* that, considering that inflaton is the field that drives inflation, the inflaton fluctuation couples to gravity dynamically. Thus it is dangerous and non-rigorous to assume the fluctuation of inflaton lives on a non-dynamical gravitational background. We will leave those issues to the next subsections.

Now we postulate that σ is the fluctuation of the inflaton field:

$$\phi(\mathbf{x},t) = \phi_0(t) + \delta\phi(\mathbf{x},t) , \qquad (46)$$

where $\delta \phi(x,t)$ is small and has the same solution as σ .

Return to the intuitive picture of ϕ as a clock. During inflation, on super-Hubble scales different parts of the universe temporarily lost casual contact with each other. It is the clock field within the Hubble patch, instead of the impact from other parts of the universe, that controls the reheat time of the local universe. When ϕ has a fluctuation $\delta\phi$, $\delta\phi$ brings an uncertainty to the clock. The time uncertainty, measured in Hubble unit, is $\zeta \equiv -H\delta t = -H\delta\phi/\dot{\phi}$. This time difference may be conserved, considering different patches of the universe do not talk to each other. If we consider this ζ as an observable, the power spectrum of ζ is

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{H^2}{\dot{\phi}^2} P_{\phi} = \frac{H^4}{4\pi^2 \dot{\phi}^2} = \frac{H^2}{8\pi^2 \epsilon M_n^2} \ . \tag{47}$$

We shall see in the next sections how the above argument could be made rigorous.

B. Decomposition of the metric

In the last section, we considered a spectator scalar field. In that case we could operationally take $M_p \to \infty$ keeping $\rho_{\sigma}/(M_p^2 H^2)$ to be small. However, this limit can not be applied to the inflaton. This is because from the Friedmann equation, the inflaton energy density is exactly $\rho_{\phi} \sim M_p^2 H^2$. Thus gravity do not apriorily decouple ²³.

To consider the inflationary perturbations, we need to perturb gravity as well. It is not enough to promote the scale factor a(t) in the FRW metric to be spacetime dependent. Instead, we have to consider the full metric, with the full dynamics of gravity. The dynamics of gravity is governed by the Einstein-Hilbert action

$$S_g = \frac{M_p^2}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \ R \ . \tag{48}$$

To calculate it explicitly in terms of gravitational perturbations, we have to write the metric into an explicit form. Instead of writing $g_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of $g_{00}, g_{01}, g_{02}, \cdots$, it is convenient to write the metric in the ADM form [63], without loss of generality:

$$ds^{2} = -N^{2}dt^{2} + h_{ij}(N^{i}dt + dx^{i})(N^{j}dt + dx^{j}) .$$
(49)

The convenience that the ADM form of the metric brings include:

- Clear physical meaning. The meaning of each component is demonstrated in Fig. 10.
- Convenience of calculation. Various quantities can be calculated easily using the ADM decomposition. For example, the determinant of the metric is

$$\sqrt{-g} = N\sqrt{h} \ . \tag{50}$$

And the inverse metric can be written as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} -N^2 + N^k N_k & N_i \\ N_j & h_{ij} \end{pmatrix} \quad \rightarrow \quad g^{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} -1/N^2 & N^i/N^2 \\ N^j/N^2 & h^{ij} - N^i N^j/N^2 \end{pmatrix} , \tag{51}$$

where $N_i \equiv h_{ij}N^j$, and h^{ij} is the inverse matrix of h_{ij} (note that in general $h^{ij} \neq g^{ij}$).

²³ One can still dump the major part of ρ_{ϕ} to an effective cosmological constant. It is the time variation of ρ_{ϕ} that invalids decoupling of gravity. Thus one can expect the gravitational corrections (per e-fold) to the inflaton are slow roll suppressed, compared with the case of a spectator field in de Sitter space. As we shall show it is indeed the case.



FIG. 10: The ADM decomposition of the metric. The green arrows are the components of the metric, namely, lapse of time Ndt, a shift of hypersurface due to the time flow $N^i dt$ and the spatial distance dx^i . The distance $N^i dt + dx^i$ is first measured by 3-metric h_{ij} , and then together with Ndt, makes ds. If $dx^i = 0$, the time part themselves sums up to dt^{μ} , along the flow direction of time.

• Decomposition of the Ricci scalar. The 4-dimensional Ricci scalar is much more difficult to calculate than the 3-dimensional one. The ADM decomposition provides a connection between the 3- and 4-dimensional Ricci scalars. The derivation can be found in e.g. [64]. Here we outline the results:

One can construct normal of the hypersuface as

$$n_{\mu} = (-N, 0, 0, 0) = -\delta_{\mu}^{0} / \sqrt{-g^{00}} , \qquad n^{\mu} = (1/N, -N^{i}/N) .$$
 (52)

The extrinsic curvature of the hypersurface can be written as

$$K_{\mu\nu} = (\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu} + n^{\sigma} n_{\mu}) \nabla_{\sigma} n_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}_n (g_{\mu\nu} + n_{\mu} n_{\nu}) .$$
 (53)

This $K_{\mu\nu}$ can be calculated explicitly as

$$K^{0\mu} = 0$$
, $K_{ij} = \frac{1}{2N} \left[\dot{h}_{ij} - \mathcal{D}_i N_j - \mathcal{D}_j N_i \right]$, (54)

where \mathcal{D}_i is the 3-dimensional covariant derivative, defined from h_{ij} .

The 3- and 4-dimensional Ricci scalars are related by

$$R = {}^{(3)}R - K^2 + K^{\mu}_{\nu}K^{\nu}_{\mu} - 2\nabla_{\mu}\left(-Kn^{\mu} + n^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}n^{\mu}\right) .$$
(55)

Note that there is a total divergence term in the RHS. For Einstein gravity, this term is a boundary term. In the case there is no spatial or temporal boundary, this term can be dropped²⁴.

• Constraints easily solvable. Note that in the above setup, the Einstein-Hilbert action has no derivative acting on N, and no time derivative acting on N^i . Thus N and N^i are constraints and easily solvable. The disappearance of derivatives on N and N^i are not accidental. The reason is that gravity can be viewed as a gauge theory and there are constraints to be solved. This can be also understood from Fig. 10: N and N^i only tells how to define (instead of dynamically evolve) the spatial hypersurface at the next instant of time. Thus they should be non-dynamical.

One can still decompose the ADM metric further. Note that the 3-dimensional rotational symmetry is explicitly preserved during inflation. Thus it is convenient to decompose the metric components according to the irreducible

²⁴ Actually, even there is boundary, those terms should also be canceled by explicitly adding boundary terms [65, 66]. Otherwise the variation principle of the action is not well defined.

representations of the rotational group. The relevant representations are 3d scalar, 3d vector and 3d tensor representations. Thus it is convenient to decompose the metric into those components. At linear level (i.e. calculation of two point function), those components do not mix with each other, because different representations are orthogonal to each other.

For this purpose, we decompose²⁵

$$N_i = \partial_i \beta + b_i , \qquad h_{ij} = e^{2\zeta} a^2 \left[\delta_{ij} + \gamma_{ij} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{D}_j E + \mathcal{D}_i F_j + \mathcal{D}_j F_i \right] .$$
(56)

Here the vector sector contains b_i and F_i , satisfying

$$\mathcal{D}_i b^i = 0 , \qquad \mathcal{D}_i F^i = 0 . \tag{57}$$

The tensor sector contains γ_{ij} , satisfying

$$\mathcal{D}_i \gamma^{ij} = 0 , \qquad \gamma^i_i = 0 . \tag{58}$$

The scalar sector contains N, β , ζ and E.



FIG. 11: The meaning of ζ , E and h_{ij} . ζ is an overall rescaling. E rescale the points with respect to its original radius to the origin. h_{ij} rescale the points with respect to its own direction.

From the orthogonal theorem in the theory of group representations, modes in different representations do not propagate into each other. For example²⁶, $\langle \zeta(x)\gamma_{ij}(y)\rangle = 0$.

The above scalar, vector, tensor perturbations need to be considered together with matter perturbations, for example, $\delta\phi$ of the inflaton. Here we shall consider the scalar sector of the perturbations in detail. The tensor sector looks similar to the scalar sector and we shall only discuss it briefly. The vector sector decays in most inflation scenarios. Thus we shall neglect the vector sector here.

C. Gauge invariance and gauge fix

Einstein's theory of gravity is invariant under general coordinate transformation. The action (and thus physics) do not change under a change of coordinate

$$\widetilde{x}^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x) . \tag{59}$$

The metric itself transform as a tensor under this coordinate transformation. Thus components in the metric, N, β , ζ , \cdots , indeed change under this transformation. Those transformations can be written collectively as

$$\delta_{\xi}g_{\alpha\beta}(x) \equiv \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x) - g_{\alpha\beta}(x) = \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x) - (\delta^{\mu}_{\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha}\xi^{\mu})(\delta^{\nu}_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\xi^{\nu})\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x+\xi) .$$
⁽⁶⁰⁾

²⁵ At higher order of perturbations, the γ_{ij} part defined here may be not very convenient. See Maldacena's definition.

²⁶ However, note that if we want to calculate one loop contribution of $\langle \zeta(x)\zeta(y) \rangle$, we do need to consider the loop contribution from γ_{ij} . Also, more-than-two-point functions can be mixed. For example, $\langle \zeta(x)\zeta(y)\gamma_{ij}(z) \rangle \neq 0$.

Scalar fields also change under the gauge transformation as

$$\delta_{\xi}\phi(x) \equiv \widetilde{\phi}(x) - \phi(x) = \widetilde{\phi}(x) - \widetilde{\phi}(x+\xi) .$$
(61)

Those transformations can be grouped into two parts: the scalar part ξ^0 and ξ , and the vector part $\hat{\xi}^i$, where

$$\xi^{i} = \hat{\xi}^{i} + \partial^{i}\xi , \qquad \partial_{i}\hat{\xi}^{i} = 0 .$$
(62)

Those two parts transform the scalar sector and vector sector respectively. The tensor sector is gauge invariant by itself.

For example, under a shift of time $\xi^0 = \delta t(x)$, and at linear order, ζ and $\delta \phi$ changes as

$$\widetilde{\zeta} = \zeta + H\delta t , \qquad \widetilde{\delta\phi} = \delta\phi - \dot{\phi}_0 \delta t .$$
 (63)

Consider a featureless spacetime with all those perturbations N, β , ζ , \cdots being zero. If we perform a gauge transformation on this spacetime, we find those perturbation quantities no longer zero. Thus there appears to be perturbations. Those apparent perturbations are called gauge artifacts, which need to be eliminated from the calculation. For example, a gauge artifact δt brings pure background spacetime into

$$\widetilde{\zeta} = H\delta t$$
, $\widetilde{\delta\phi} = -\dot{\phi}_0 \delta t$. (64)

There are two ways to eliminate those gauge artifacts. One way is to use gauge-invariant formalism. In this formalism, the gauge artifacts cancels within the gauge-invariant quantities. For example, at linear order, one can choose the gauge invariant quantity as the Mukhanov-Sasaki variable

$$\zeta^{\rm gi} \equiv \zeta + H \frac{\delta \phi}{\dot{\phi}} \ . \tag{65}$$

However, one need to note that free of gauge artifact do not necessarily mean the effect is observable. We still need to identify theoretical observables with what one actually observe in experiments. The situation is particularly dangerous for non-linear perturbations. This is because at the non-linear level, the short wavelength fluctuations, which are accessible by local observers, can be mixed with long wavelength perturbations, which are not accessible by local observers (but still gauge invariant) [67, 68].

A related issue with gauge invariant variable is that, at next to leading order, the gauge invariant quantities are non-local and non-unique [69].

Here we follow a simpler way: to fix the gauge²⁷. Once the gauge is fixed, there are no longer available gauge transformations thus pure artifacts cannot appear.

It is convenient to choose a gauge with E = 0. We have yet another gauge condition to choose in the scalar sector. This additional gauge condition fixes spatial slicing. There are a few frequent choices. They give the same result of observables. On the other hand each gauge has pros and cons:

- The $\delta\phi$ -gauge (spatial flat gauge): We can choose to let the spatial part of the (scalar sector) metric to be flat: $\zeta = 0$. This gauge is convenient to discuss sub-Hubble scale physics. Because on small scales (sub-Hubble, but not as small as Planck scale), gravity is weak. Thus it is intuitive to think about gravity as decoupled. Also, the calculation of the action is simplest in this gauge.
- The ζ -gauge (uniform inflaton gauge): We can choose to let the inflaton field have no fluctuation²⁸: $\delta \phi = 0$. This gauge is a comoving gauge, in that the observer moves together with the cosmic fluid and measures no matter flux.

Note that the three dimensional curvature is

$${}^{(3)}R = -\frac{4e^{-2\zeta}\partial_i\partial_i\zeta}{a^2} - \frac{2e^{-2\zeta}(\partial_i\zeta)^2}{a^2} \ . \tag{66}$$

²⁷ The observables, for example the number of photons found in the detectors, are gauge invariant. However, most quantities we talk about, which we have intuition for, are gauge dependent. Those gauge dependent but intuitive quantities include field fluctuations $\delta\phi$, and the fluctuations in the metric. Thus it is still convenient to consider an observer and consider the intuitive picture of the world understood by this observer.

²⁸ Note that all scalar fields behave similarly under gauge transformations. Thus in the case of multi-field inflation, although we have two gauge conditions in the scalar sector, we could only set one scalar field to zero (even with $E \neq 0$).

This ζ -gauge is convenient to discuss the super-Hubble scale physics. Because on the one hand, gravity accumulates. Thus on large scales it is more intuitive to think about the perturbations as ζ instead of $\delta\phi$. On the other hand, as we shall show later, ζ is conserved in the ζ -gauge for single field inflation. This provide a connection between the inflationary physics and current observations.

However, on small scales, ζ -gauge is not intuitive. Let's consider an analogue situation: A table has different height from the ground (if we choose Euclid coordinates). And in our room, gravity is not too strong. However, from general covariance, we can choose a coordinate system where the table and the ground has the same coordinate height. However, in this coordinate system gravity is extremely strongly coupled to cancel the sameheight artifact. In the ζ -gauge, on small scales the situation is similar: our intuition gets mixed up by a small physical effect plus a big gauge artifact (this comment also applies for $\delta\phi$ -gauge on super-Hubble scales).

Technically, we shall indeed find that in the ζ -gauge, we have to do a lot of integrations by parts to cancel large numbers in the gravitational action.

• The Newtonian gauge: We can choose to let the shift vector vanish: $\beta = 0$. In this gauge one can rewrite the scalar sector of the metric as

$$ds^{2} = -(1+2\Phi)dt^{2} + a^{2}(1-2\Psi)d\mathbf{x}^{2} .$$
(67)

Here Φ and Ψ are gravitational potentials. The Newtonian gauge allows us to think intuitively about how particle moves in the gravitational field: Φ is the Newtonian potential that non-relativistic particles move in Newtonian mechanics. Relativistic particles could feel both Φ and Ψ . In Einstein gravity, constraint equations yield $\Psi = \Phi$, and a departure is a smoking gun of modified gravity. For those reasons, the Newtonian gauge is very convenient in analysis of the late time universe.

• Mixed gauges: One could even choose one gauge at one time, and another gauge at another time. As we discussed, the $\delta\phi$ -gauge is nice before and at the Hubble-exit, while the ζ -gauge is nice after the Hubble exit. Thus one can choose $\zeta|_{k=aH} = 0$, and $\delta\phi|_{\text{reheating}} = 0$. This can be accomplished by the partition of unitary. There are infinitely differentiable functions which vanish at k = aH and equal to 1 at reheating, and vise versa. For example,

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x \le 0\\ e^{-1/x}, & x \ge 0 \end{cases}, \quad f_1(x) = \frac{f(x)}{f(x) + f(1-x)}, \quad f_2(x) = 1 - f_1(x). \end{cases}$$
(68)

Here $f_1(x) = 0$ when x < 0 and $f_1(x) = 1$ for x > 1. The metric

$$g_{\mu\nu}^{\text{mixed}} = f_1(\hat{t})g_{\mu\nu}^{\delta\phi-\text{gauge}} + f_2(\hat{t})g_{\mu\nu}^{\zeta-\text{gauge}} , \qquad \hat{t} \equiv (2t - t_{\text{crossing}} - t_{\text{reheating}})/t_{\text{crossing}} , \qquad (69)$$

takes $\delta \phi$ -gauge at Hubble-crossing and takes ζ -gauge at reheating. Despite the complexity of gauge condition, we shall find the usage of this gauge when reviewing the δN formalism.

It is useful to note that, sometimes those intuitive gauge choices do not completely fix the gauge. For example, in the ζ -gauge, there is still residue global symmetry, known as the large gauge transformation [70]. For single field inflation,

$$\mathbf{x} \to \widetilde{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{x}e^{\lambda} , \quad \zeta \to \widetilde{\zeta}(\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}) = \zeta(\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}) + \lambda ,$$
(70)

$$\mathbf{x} \to \widetilde{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{x} + 2(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{x})\mathbf{x} - x^2 \mathbf{b} , \quad \zeta \to \widetilde{\zeta}(\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}) = \zeta(\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}) + 2\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{x} ,$$
 (71)

For multiple field inflation, the change of other fields should be considered together. One could further fix this residue gauge (see, e.g. [71]) but we shall not need those further fixings at the moment.

D. The 2nd order gravitational action, $\delta\phi$ -gauge

Now we are in the position to calculate the perturbations in the gravitational theory. There are typically two ways to do this. One way is to start from the classical Einstein equation, and perturb the Einstein equation to the linear order. However, the cosmic perturbations are quantum in nature. As we observed in the spectator field case, we need to know how to normalize the field canonically (how large one quanta is). Thus it is better to start from the action. In the action approach, the first order action is just a variation principle of the background and thus vanishes. To get the linear equation of motion, we need the second order action, and the variation principle on top of that.

We start from the $\delta\phi$ -gauge. In the $\delta\phi$ -gauge, we set $\zeta = 0$ and E = 0. The perturbation variables in the scalar sector are $\delta\phi$, α , β defined as:

$$\delta \phi \equiv \phi(x) - \phi_0(t) , \qquad N \equiv 1 + \alpha , \qquad N_i \equiv \partial_i \beta .$$
 (72)

The gravitational plus inflaton action is

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{M_p^2 R}{2} - g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi - V(\phi) \right] .$$
(73)

To calculate the Ricci scalar R by hand, one had better go to the ADM formalism Eq. (55) and drop the total derivative. Or if a computer algebra system is used, it is technically easier to start directly from the 4-dimensional Ricci scalar.

In the ADM case the 2nd order action in momentum space takes the form

$$S_{2} = \int dt \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \Big[a^{3}(\epsilon - 3)M_{p}^{2}H^{2}\alpha^{2} + 2k^{2}M_{p}^{2}aH\alpha\beta - a^{3}V'\alpha\delta\phi - a^{3}\dot{\phi}_{0}\alpha\dot{\delta\phi} - k^{2}a\dot{\phi}_{0}\beta\delta\phi + \frac{1}{2}a^{3}\dot{\delta\phi}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}a(k^{2} + a^{2}V'')\delta\phi^{2} \Big] .$$
(74)

In 4-dimensional Ricci scalar case, the 2nd order action in momentum space takes the form

$$S_{2} = \int dt \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \Big[2a^{3}(3-\epsilon)M_{p}^{2}H^{2}\alpha^{2} + 6M_{p}^{2}a^{3}H\alpha\dot{\alpha} + k^{2}M_{p}^{2}aH\alpha\beta - k^{2}M_{p}^{2}a\dot{\alpha}\beta - k^{2}M_{p}^{2}a\alpha\dot{\beta} - a^{3}V'\alpha\delta\phi - a^{3}\dot{\phi}_{0}\alpha\dot{\delta\phi} - k^{2}a\dot{\phi}_{0}\beta\delta\phi + \frac{1}{2}a^{3}\dot{\delta\phi}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}a(k^{2} + a^{2}V'')\delta\phi^{2} \Big] .$$
(75)

The above two actions can be related by some integrations by parts, as desired from the boundary term of (55). Note that in the action we have not written the k-dependence of the perturbation variables explicitly. Those k-dependence should be understood as, e.g. $2a^3(3-\epsilon)M_p^2H^2\alpha^2 \Leftrightarrow 2a^3(3-\epsilon)M_p^2H^2\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}\alpha_{-\mathbf{k}}$. The $\alpha_{\mathbf{k}}\alpha_{-\mathbf{k}}$ part follows from momentum conservation.

From Eq. (74), we observe that there is no time derivative acting on α or β . This is as expected from the general principles we discussed when we introduce the ADM formalism. Thus α and β can be solved:

$$\alpha = \frac{\dot{\phi}_0 \delta \phi}{2H} , \qquad \beta = \frac{a^2}{2Hk^2} (\dot{\phi}_0 \dot{\delta\phi} - H\epsilon \dot{\phi}_0 \delta\phi - a^2 \ddot{\phi}_0 \delta\phi) . \tag{76}$$

Actually we shall not need the solution of β when only the linear perturbations are considered. This is because Eq. (74) is linear in β . Thus inserting the solution of α into Eq. (74) eliminates α and β together. Then after an integration by part to eliminate the $\delta\phi\dot{\delta\phi}$ term, we get the second order action

$$S = \int dt \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} a^3 \dot{\delta\phi}^2 - \frac{1}{2} k^2 a \delta\phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} a^3 \left[V'' - 2H^2 (3\epsilon - \epsilon^2 + \epsilon\eta) \right] \delta\phi^2 \right\} .$$
(77)

A few comments are in order:

- The 3rd term in Eq. (77) is a mass term for the perturbations. The mass is $m_{\text{eff}}^2 = V'' 2H^2(3\epsilon \epsilon^2 + \epsilon\eta)$. Due to gravitational corrections, this mass is different from the naively expected $m^2 = V''$. Nevertheless they are of the same order.
- Note that this mass term is rather small. To see this, we recall that the energy scale for inflationary perturbations is H. And $m_{\text{eff}}^2 = \mathcal{O}(\eta)H^2$.

• Could this small mass be neglected? The answer is actually subtle. Although $m_{\text{eff}} \ll H$, it may take effect on super-Hubble scales. For the mode corresponding to the current cosmological scales, the mass term takes effect for about 60 Hubble times (the observable e-folding number of inflation). The same subtlety can be also observed in that, the $\dot{\delta \phi}^2$ term in the action would vanish exponentially on super-Hubble scales, and eventually become comparable with the "small" mass term. We for the time being neglect this mass term, and leave the subtleties to the next subsection.

(Doubtfully) neglecting the mass term, the discussion for the $\delta\phi$ perturbations become completely parallel to the discussion of a massless spectator scalar field on de Sitter background. The power spectrum of the $\delta\phi$ perturbations can be calculated as

$$P_{\delta\phi} = \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \,. \tag{78}$$

E. The 2nd order gravitational action, ζ -gauge

As we have discussed in the previous subsection, in the $\delta\phi$ -gauge, perturbations could evolve on super-Hubble scales. This invalids the naive slow roll approximation. Actually the problem is more serious: Inflation takes place at an extremely high energy scale. The physics from after inflation until TeV scale is unknown. How could we evolve the inflationary perturbations (or any other observables produced by inflation) through this unknown epoch and make predictions for inflation?

Fortunately, for single field inflation, the ζ -perturbation in the ζ -gauge is conserved on super-Hubble scales. We shall show the conservation at linear level in this subsection, and at non-linear level in the later sections. It is the conserved perturbation on super-Hubble scales, that brings connection between the very early time physics and very late time physics, after Hubble-reentering.

For this consideration, it is important to consider the perturbations in the ζ -gauge. Here we set $\delta \phi = 0$ and E = 0. Inserting the perturbations into the gravitational plus inflaton action (73), we get using the ADM Ricci scalar:

$$S_{2} = M_{p}^{2} \int dt \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \Big[-a^{3}(3-\epsilon)H^{2}\alpha^{2} + (2aHk^{2}\beta + 2ak^{2}\zeta + 6a^{3}H\dot{\zeta})\alpha - 2k^{2}a\beta\dot{\zeta} - 3a^{3}\dot{\zeta}^{2} - 18a^{3}H\zeta\dot{\zeta} + a(-9(3-\epsilon)a^{2}H^{2} + k^{2})\zeta^{2} \Big] .$$
(79)

Or from the 4-dimensional Ricci Scalar:

$$S_{2} = M_{p}^{2} \int dt \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3}} \Big[2a^{3}(3-\epsilon)H^{2}\alpha^{2} + (-k^{2}a\beta - 9a^{3}H\zeta - 3a^{3}\dot{\zeta})\dot{\alpha} \\ + (6a^{3}H\dot{\alpha} + k^{2}aH\beta - k^{2}a\dot{\beta} + a(2k^{2} - 9(3-\epsilon)a^{2}H^{2})\zeta - 12a^{3}H\dot{\zeta} - 3a^{3}\ddot{\zeta})\alpha \\ - 2k^{2}a\beta\dot{\zeta} + (36a^{3}H\dot{\zeta} + 9a^{3}\ddot{\zeta})\zeta + 6a^{3}\dot{\zeta}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}a(9(3-\epsilon)a^{2}H^{2} + 2k^{2})\zeta^{2} \Big] .$$

$$(80)$$

Again they are related by integration by parts. The constraints can be solved as

$$\alpha = \frac{\dot{\zeta}}{H} , \qquad \beta = -\frac{\zeta}{H} + \frac{a^2 \epsilon \dot{\zeta}}{k^2} . \tag{81}$$

Insert the constraints into the 2nd order action, and do some integration by parts to eliminate cross terms. Eventually one finds the action to be in a very simple form

$$S = M_p^2 \int dt \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \epsilon (a^3 \dot{\zeta}^2 - k^2 a \zeta^2) .$$
(82)

Note that unlike the case of $\delta\phi$ -gauge, now there is no mass term for the ζ -gauge perturbations. Thus the awkward super-Hubble evolution problem no longer exists in the ζ -gauge. There is a decaying mode and a constant mode for ζ . After a few e-folds after Hubble exit, the decaying mode goes away and ζ becomes conserved. We shall verify this conservation argument explicitly at the end of this section.

It is useful to note two facts:

• No slow roll approximation is assumed in the above derivation. Thus the above action applies even $\epsilon \sim 1$.

• In general, even if the cosmic fluid is not a scalar field, as long as $p = p(\rho)$, one can choose the ζ -gauge.

Thus the conservation of ζ should hold after inflation (with the assumption of $p = p(\rho)$). This answers the question at the beginning of this subsection: The conservation of ζ makes inflation predictive.

Now we are in the place to calculate the quantum perturbations of ζ . The equation of motion of ζ is

$$\ddot{\zeta} + (3+\eta)H\dot{\zeta} + \frac{k^2}{a^2}\zeta = 0$$
 . (83)

To the lowest order of slow roll approximation, the η factor in the above equation can be ignored and approximately $a \propto e^{Ht}$. The solution of the above equation, as a function of conformal time, is

$$\zeta = \frac{H}{M_p \sqrt{4\epsilon k^3}} (1 + ik\tau) e^{-ik\tau} . \tag{84}$$

In terms of the quantized fields, the above solution is equivalent to

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}} = u_k a_{\mathbf{k}} + u_k^* a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} , \qquad u_k = \frac{H}{M_p \sqrt{4\epsilon k^3}} (1 + ik\tau) e^{-ik\tau} .$$
(85)

As in the case of a scalar field in de Sitter space, the "negative frequency" mode is disregarded and the constant factor is determined from the consistency of quantization together with the assumption that the initial state of the k-mode has lowest energy.

Before closing this subsection, we would like to verify the conservation of ζ on super-Hubble scales, without the reference of slow roll or inflationary background. Note that (85) is an exact equation without making slow roll approximation.

On super-Hubble scales, $k \ll aH$ thus the $(k^2/a^2)\zeta$ term can be neglected in (85). Thus the equation of motion can be approximated as

$$\ddot{\zeta} + (3+\eta)H\dot{\zeta} \simeq 0 . \tag{86}$$

Considering the exponential growth of a, this equation is exponentially accurate on super-Hubble scales. The solution is

$$\zeta(t) = c_1 + c_2 \int^t dt_1 \, \exp\left\{-\int^{t_1} [3+\eta(t_2)]H(t_2)dt_2\right\} \,. \tag{87}$$

Thus there exists a constant mode c_1 . The other mode is decaying as long as $\eta > -3$. This inequality is satisfied by most of the cosmological conditions (note that $\eta = 0$ for a constant equation of state parameter w, and $\eta \simeq 0$ for slow roll inflation).²⁹

F. Power spectrum, scale invariance and tilt

Similarly to the case of massless scalar field, the power spectrum of comoving curvature perturbation can be defined as

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}'} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}') \frac{2\pi^2}{k^3} P_{\zeta}(k) , \qquad P_{\zeta}(k) = \frac{H^4}{4\pi^2 \dot{\phi}^2} = \frac{H^2}{8\pi^2 \epsilon M_p^2} .$$
(88)

The observational value of the power spectrum is $P_{\zeta}(k) \simeq 2 \times 10^{-9}$. This value is known as the COBE normalization [26]. Sometimes one also use $\Delta_{\mathcal{R}} \equiv \sqrt{P_{\zeta}}$.

Again, the power spectrum does not depend on k at the lowest order. Thus the inflationary perturbations are nearly scale invariant.

Although the power spectrum is nearly scale invariant, it is still important to consider the small non-scale-invariant correction to the power spectrum. This correction is called the tilt of the spectrum, or the spectral index. According

²⁹ However, it is interesting to note that in case $\eta < -3$, ζ finds itself in an effectively contracting universe, although the real metric is expanding.

to the WMAP result, the exact scale invariant power spectrum is almost ruled out and the derivation from scale invariance should be a few percents.

To describe the scale dependence, the spectral index n_s is defined as

$$n_s - 1 \equiv \frac{d \ln P_{\zeta}(k)}{d \ln k} . \tag{89}$$

To calculate this quantity, it is helpful to have a closer look at the equation of motion (83). There are two ways to take the scale dependence into account in (83). The most straightforward way is to consider the small derivation from $a \propto e^{Ht}$ together with no longer neglecting η . The equation of motion can be solved in this case and a derivation from scale invariance is observed [72, 73].

On the other hand, there is an easier way to calculate the scale dependence. Weak scale dependence means that the parameters in (83) would vary by a small amount per Hubble time. Within a few e-folds near the Hubble crossing, Eq. (83) should still be applicable, with H considered as a constant and η neglected. A few e-folds before the Hubble crossing the solution is linked with the instant Minkowski solution, and a few e-folds after the Hubble crossing the solution is linked with the conserved quantity. Both the sub-Hubble instant Minkowski solution and the super-Hubble conserved quantity are not slow roll approximated but instead exact result.

In other words, the prescription should be to take the Hubble parameter in the equation of motion as a function of momentum k: H = H(k), and calculate the value of H at Hubble crossing k = aH. Thus up to higher order slow roll corrections, we have $d \ln k \simeq d \ln a = H dt$. The spectral index can be calculated as

$$n_s - 1 = \frac{d\ln P_{\zeta}(k)}{Hdt} = -2\epsilon - \eta = -6\epsilon_V + 2\eta_V .$$

$$\tag{90}$$

One can also define the running of spectral index, as

$$\alpha_s \equiv \frac{d\ln n_s}{d\ln k} \ . \tag{91}$$

For the above single field inflation model we are considering, we have

$$\alpha_s = -2\eta\epsilon - \frac{\dot{\eta}}{H\eta} \ . \tag{92}$$

Thus α_s is one order smaller than $n_s - 1$ in terms of slow roll parameters in the above simple model.

G. Comoving curvature perturbation as the e-folding number difference

As we discussed at the end of Sec. II E, on super-Hubble scales the equation of motion simplify. Actually, the k/(aH) parameter itself can be used as an expansion parameter. One can set up perturbation theory with respect to k/(aH), which could be exact to all orders of ζ or the slow roll parameter. This method is called the gradient expansion.

There is an intuitive way to view the gradient expansion, at least at the leading order $k/(aH) \rightarrow 0$. During inflation, the universe broken up into exponentially many "local universes", which temporarily cannot talk to each other. Each local universe is quite homogeneous and isotropic and thus can be locally approximated as a FRW universe.

The local properties of those local FRW universes have no difference between one another. However, when we compare those local universes in spacetime, there could be a difference of expansion between them at a fixed time, or a difference of time at a fixed rate of expansion. This difference can be produced by the quantum fluctuations. For example, in one local universe, if there is a quantum fluctuation to drive the inflaton a little bit up on the potential, this local universe is then driven farther away from reheating. As we shall show, this difference is actually the comoving curvature perturbation. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 12.

It is useful to make this separate universe idea explicit. There are a few ways to do this and here we follow the method of [74]. Consider a local universe with scale factor

$$\widetilde{a}(t, \mathbf{x}) = a(t)e^{\zeta(t, \mathbf{x})} , \qquad (93)$$

where $\zeta(t, \mathbf{x})$ is almost a constant on scales comparable with the Hubble scale, and only change significantly on



FIG. 12: Time difference between local FRW universes. After reheating, the universe become radiation dominated and the energy density dilutes quickly with the expansion of the universe. The change of color illustrate the drop of energy density.

super-Hubble scales. The local Hubble expansion can be defined as³⁰ $\tilde{H} \equiv \dot{\tilde{a}}/\tilde{a}$. The continuity equation is

$$\dot{\rho} + 3\dot{H}(\rho + p) = 0.$$
(94)

In terms of a and ζ , this equation can be written as

$$\frac{\dot{a}}{a} + \dot{\zeta} = -\frac{1}{3}\frac{\dot{\rho}}{\rho + p} \ . \tag{95}$$

So far we haven't specified any gauge yet. Now we shall look at this equation in the uniform energy density gauge. (It can be shown that on large scales this gauge is equivalent to the comoving gauge.) If there is no entropy perturbation, i.e. $p = p(\rho)$, then in Eq. (95) only $\dot{\zeta}$ is a perturbation variable. The precise definition and meaning of entropy perturbation will be discussed in Sec. IV B1. All other variables are background variables, independent of **x**. Considering a perturbation variable should not have zero mode, we have

$$\dot{\zeta} = 0 . \tag{96}$$

For yet another time we confirmed the conservation of comoving curvature perturbation on super-Hubble scales. And this time the confirmation is exact for all orders of perturbations in ζ (but assuming that ζ is classical, both in external lines and in loops. For a quantum treatment, see [75]).

Now let us make connection between ζ and the perturbation of e-folding number. Note that this part is independent to the above discussion, in the sense that we do not assume $p = p(\rho)$. Thus the result also applies for a time dependent ζ on super-Hubble scales.

The connection is intuitive because ζ is the perturbation of scale factor, and on the exponent. To see this connection more precisely, we note that the e-folding number of a local FRW universe can be written as

$$\widetilde{N}(t_2, t_1, \mathbf{x}) = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \widetilde{H} = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a} + \dot{\zeta}\right) = \ln\left[\frac{a(t_2)}{a(t_1)}\right] + \zeta(t_2, \mathbf{x}) - \zeta(t_1, \mathbf{x}) .$$
(97)

Again this equation does not dependent on gauge choice. Now we choose a mixed gauge: At an initial time t_1 , $\zeta(t_1) = 0$ (flat slice), and at a final time t_2 and later times, $\rho = \rho(t)$ (uniform energy density slice). In this mixed

³⁰ Note that the time derivative here can denote a general time instead of restricted into physical time. The lapse function cancels in this equation and later related equations.

gauge, we have

$$\zeta(t_2, \mathbf{x}) = \widetilde{N}(t_2, t_1, \mathbf{x}) - N(t_2, t_1) \equiv \delta N , \qquad (98)$$

where δN is the e-folding number difference between the initial flat slice and the final uniform energy density slice. This relation is known as the δN -formalism [76–78].

Finally, if needed, the gauge-invariance can be restored by adding back the gauged counter-part of (98):

$$\zeta^{(\text{gi})}(t) = \delta N(t) + \frac{1}{3} \int_{\bar{\rho}(t)}^{\rho(t,\mathbf{x})} \frac{d\rho}{\rho+p} , \qquad (99)$$

where $\bar{\rho}$ is the background energy density, which equals to the energy density on uniform energy density slice. ρ is the energy density without choosing a gauge.

As a side remark, the above discussions could actually be made stronger. Consider there are n components of fluids (say, ρ_i , i = 1, ..., n) in the universe. Assuming those components do not exchange energy between each other. Then the energy of those components are conserved separately. In this case we have n conserved quantities: one can define ζ_i as the δN on uniform ρ_i slices, respectively. The above discussion holds component-wise.

The δN -formalism is convenient in several aspects:

- It is straightforward to calculate the inflaton fluctuation on the initial flat slice. As we have shown, the inflaton fluctuation at Hubble crossing is $\delta \phi = H/(2\pi)$ plus calculable slow roll corrections.
- The comoving curvature perturbation is conserved after the final uniform energy density slice, as we have shown.
- For single field inflation, the uniform energy density slice is the reheating surface. Thus the δN defined in the above way does coincide with the e-folding number difference during inflation.
- The δN -formalism is non-linear in orders of ζ . Thus the formalism is still convenient to use for non-linear perturbations.

The convenience can be observed by a sample calculation. During inflation, the e-folding number can be calculated as $N(t) = \int_{t}^{t_{\rm reh}} H dt$. A variation of this equation is

$$\zeta = \delta N = -H\delta t = -\frac{H\delta\phi}{\dot{\phi}} . \tag{100}$$

Thus

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{H^2}{\dot{\phi}^2} \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \,. \tag{101}$$

This agrees with the power spectrum we have calculated in (88).

However, there is price for the simplicity. One has to pay attention to the assumptions of the above derivation, and be careful at the situations where those assumptions break down. For example,

- Non-conservation of ζ . When there are entropy perturbations, p is no longer a function of ρ thus ζ may not be conserved on super-Hubble scales.
- Non-trivial reheating surface. When there are entropy perturbations, the reheating surface may not be the uniform total energy density slice. In this case δN no longer has the physical meaning of e-folding number difference of inflation. Instead, a correction term coming from the difference between uniform energy density slice and the reheating surface must be considered.
- Nontrivial initial correlation functions. If the power spectrum or higher order perturbations of $\delta\phi$ is modified at Hubble-crossing, the modification needs to be considered as an input of the δN -formalism.
- Ignorance of the decaying mode. The requirement $p = p(\rho)$ is not the same as the requirement of single field. This is because a scalar field has second order equation of motion and thus two modes. On super-Hubble scales one mode decays away thus $p = p(\rho)$. However, in case both modes needs to be considered for some reason, one need to examine if $p = p(\rho)$ still hold.
- Validity of local FRW metric. This is typically not a problem for inflation. Because locally, non-FRW energy components are diluted. However, for alternative models to inflation, this is not necessarily true.

• Break down of classicality. At the non-linear level, quantum fluctuations on sub-Hubble scales may interact with the super-Hubble fluctuation. δN -formalism is classical and do not carry this quantum nature.

Finally, let us make one more clarification of the gradient expansion method and the δN -formalism: There exist sub-Hubble fluctuations. When considering local FRW universes, why we neglect those sub-Hubble fluctuations? Actually, those sub-Hubble fluctuations, as high energy modes in a general QFT consideration, can be integrated out. As a result, the background equation of motion for the inflaton acquires a stochastic source term [79]:

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V' = \frac{3}{2\pi}H^{5/2}\eta(t) , \qquad (102)$$

where $\eta(t)$ is a Gaussian noise obeying

$$\langle \eta(t_1)\eta(t_2) \rangle = \delta(t_1 - t_2) .$$
 (103)

This is exactly the origin of the $\delta \phi = H/(2\pi)$ fluctuation at Hubble crossing.

H. Observable inflation, de Sitter space and eternal inflation

So far we have been talking about the observable stage of inflation. When calculating the dynamics of inflationary perturbations, we have been using the lowest order slow roll approximation. Especially, when calculating the equation of motion for the perturbations, the mode functions are the same as that obtained in (the FRW patch of) de Sitter space (see our toy model of spectator field).

However, despite of the approximations, we should be careful in thinking about the observable stage of inflation as de Sitter space.

For example, one note that the power spectrum of comoving curvature perturbation is $P_{\zeta} \propto H^2/(\epsilon M_p^2)$. When $\epsilon \to 0$ with H fixed finite, the power spectrum diverges. This is very different from the observed power spectrum $P_{\zeta} \simeq 2 \times 10^{-9}$.

The problem not only arises as the divergence in the number. But also, ζ (or other observables stands for density perturbation of inflation) manifests itself only after the end of inflation and after the perturbation modes returns to the horizon. The exponential expansion of de Sitter space never end thus one can not observe the density perturbations.

Even worse, in de Sitter space, the "super-Hubble" density perturbations are not only non-observable. The whole semi-classical picture of cosmic perturbation theory may break down in the de Sitter limit. It is argued that, like the black hole complementary [80], de Sitter space may have complementary as well [81].

Consider two comoving observers A and B, who start near each other with distance nearer than Hubble. Because of cosmic expansion, at a later time, B will exit the horizon of A. The horizon exit process of B, as seen by A, is a disaster of B. The observer A measures the Gibbons-Hawking radiation with a temperature $T \sim H$. Blue shift this temperature to the near horizon regime, A actually finds B destroyed by the Gibbons-Hawking radiation when approximating the de Sitter horizon. This picture is different from that experienced by B, who finds nothing special because of the equivalence principle. The different semi-classical pictures observed by A and B contradicts. But this is not a problem as long as the observers no longer return to each other's horizon to compare notes.

Applied to cosmic perturbations: for a local observer, the physical picture of perturbations in de Sitter space should be that, the perturbations approaches the de Sitter horizon, get burnt by the blue shifted Gibbons-Hawking radiation, and get emitted back by the horizon. There is no other copy of information which actually "exits" the horizon.

Thus the physical picture is different between the perturbations in a stage of observable inflation, and that in de Sitter space. The change of physical picture actually not only happens at the exact value $\epsilon = 0$, but takes place when ϵ becomes so small that $P_{\zeta} \ge 1$. Note that the power spectrum can be also written as $P_{\zeta} \propto H^2/(2\pi\dot{\phi})^2$. Thus when $P_{\zeta} \ge 1$ we have

$$\frac{\dot{\phi}}{H} < \frac{H}{2\pi} \ . \tag{104}$$

The LHS is the classical motion of inflaton per Hubble time, and the RHS is the quantum fluctuation per Hubble time. Thus the above equation can be interpreted as that, the quantum fluctuation of the inflaton dominates over the classical motion.

The classical motion of the inflaton always roll down the potential in the slow roll regime. However, the quantum fluctuations has equal probability to fluctuate up or down. After one Hubble time, a Hubble volume self-reproduces into $e^3 \simeq 20$ copies. If in one or more of those 20 new Hubble volumes, the inflaton field has greater value due

to the large quantum fluctuation, the dynamics in those patches are driven away from the reheating surface. The self-reproduction continues and inflation will never globally end. This situation is known as eternal inflation [59, 60].

During eternal inflation, when following an observer's comoving world line, the observer finds that inflation eventually ends locally. However, due to the lack of global end, the global structure of eternal inflation is analogue to that of de Sitter space.

As in the case of de Sitter space, the semi-classical picture of cosmic perturbations break down during eternal inflation. Again this is not only because of $P_{\zeta} \ge 1$, and not only because of lack of global end of inflation, but also that the whole picture cannot be trusted.

To see this, it is convenient to consider (the slow roll analog of) the static patch of de Sitter space, instead of the FRW patch. In the static patch, the metric can be written as

$$ds^{2} = -(1 - H^{2}r^{2})d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{1 - H^{2}r^{2}} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}.$$
 (105)

The stretched horizon is defined as the surface with one more area unit compared with the classical horizon:

$$r_{\rm SH} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{H^2} - \frac{1}{M_p^2}} \ . \tag{106}$$

This definition is reasonable because stretched horizon $r_{\rm SH}$, the Gibbons-Hawking temperature is the Planck temperature. The temperature has a redshift

$$\frac{T}{H} = \frac{d\tau}{\sqrt{-ds^2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - H^2 r^2}} .$$
(107)

Setting $T = M_p$, one get the $r_{\rm SH}$ in equation (106). Complementarity becomes important as soon as objects (e.g. perturbation modes) reach the stretched horizon.

Now we want to estimate when complementarity becomes important for slow roll inflation. Roughly, we could use the result for pure de Sitter space, and let H vary with respect to time. Now the field excitation propagate towards the stretched horizon and the stretched horizon is also expanding itself. One should compare which of the two goes faster.

The field excitation near the stretched horizon falls towards the stretched horizon at speed of light:

$$v = \frac{dr}{d\tau} = 1 - H^2 r_{\rm SH}^2 = \frac{H^2}{M_p^2} .$$
 (108)

Measured by an observer at the center, the stretched horizon itself moves at a velocity (in terms of r and τ) as

$$v_{\rm SH} = \frac{dr_{\rm SH}}{d\tau} = \frac{dr_{\rm SH}}{dt} \simeq \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{1}{H}\right) \equiv \epsilon .$$
(109)

Here one should note that v is local process near the stretched horizon thus there is a huge redshift factor. however, $v_{\rm SH}$ is measured at the center of static patch, thus $d\tau = dt$ when calculating $v_{\rm SH}$.

To compare those velocities, one note

$$\frac{v}{v_{\rm SH}} = \frac{H^2}{\epsilon M_p^2} \simeq P_\zeta \ , \tag{110}$$

where P_{ζ} is the power spectrum for curvature perturbation during inflation. For the observable stage of inflation, $P_{\zeta} \simeq 2.4 \times 10^{-9}$. Thus during the observable stage of inflation the field excitations would never reach the stretched horizon. Thus the apparent difference of the static patch and the FRW patch is merely a coordinate transformation. However, for eternal inflation, $P_{\zeta} \ge 1$. Thus during eternal inflation the Hubble radius is expanding so slowly that the field excitations could reach the stretched horizon.

On the other hand, even one believed the semi-classical picture of eternal inflation, the density perturbation generated during eternal inflation could never be observed even in principle. This is because when the $\zeta \sim 1$ modes returns to the horizon, they form black holes. The global structure of spacetime is not accessible by an observer in a black hole [82].

To conclude this subsection, when taking the de Sitter space limit, one hits eternal inflation and a shift of semiclassical physical picture. The calculations of power spectrum and non-Gaussianities are not affected (although the de Sitter approximation is used for the mode function), because the perturbations never reaches the stretched horizon.

I. Gravitational waves

The inflaton is not the unique light field during inflation. Instead, there is at least another light field – the gravitational waves [83–85] (for modern conventions, see, e.g. [86]). The calculation of gravitational waves goes similarly to the scalar sector. One could either do a brute force calculation of the tensor part, or first calculate the Ricci scalar on Minkowski background and then do a conformal transformation into an inflationary background. The result is

$$S = \frac{M_p^2}{8} \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} d\tau \ a^2 \left(\gamma_j^{i\prime} \gamma_i^{j\prime} - k^2 \gamma_j^{i} \gamma_i^{j} \right) \ . \tag{111}$$

Note that the traceless and transverse conditions eliminates 4 components from the 6 components of a symmetric 3-tensor. Thus there are only 2 physical modes in γ_j^i . Those two modes can be decomposed by introducing the polarization tensors

$$\gamma_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{M_p} \left[\gamma_+(\mathbf{k}) e_{ij}^+(\mathbf{k}) + \gamma_\times(\mathbf{k}) e_{ij}^\times(\mathbf{k}) \right] , \qquad (112)$$

where the symmetric, traceless and transverse properties are carried over by e_{ij}^+ and e_{ij}^{\times} as

$$e_{ij}^{+,\times} = e_{ji}^{+,\times}$$
, $k^i e_{ij}^{+,\times} = 0$, $e_{ii}^{+,\times} = 0$. (113)

Further from the reality conditions we have

$$e_{ij}^{+,\times}(-\mathbf{k}) = (e_{ij}^{+,\times}(\mathbf{k}))^*$$
 (114)

And we have the freedom to normalize $e_{ij}^{+,\times}$. The normalization we take is

$$e_{ij}^+(e_+^{ij})^* + e_{ij}^\times(e_\times^{ij})^* = 4.$$
(115)

Finally, we need to fix the ambiguity of decomposition in Eq. (112). For this purpose, it is convenient to choose the two polarization tensors as the spin 2 eigenfunctions of rotation along the **k**-axis:

$$e_{ij}^+ \to e^{2i\theta} e_{ij}^+$$
, $e_{ij}^\times \to e^{-2i\theta} e_{ij}^\times$. (116)

Those conditions fixes the function $e_{ij}^{+,\times}(\mathbf{k})$ as a function of \mathbf{k} (up to a phase).

It is helpful to construct those polarization tensors in an explicit way. To do that, we make use of the rotational symmetry of the theory to first rotate \mathbf{k} to be (0, 0, k). Then the polarization tensors are

$$e_{ij}^{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & I & 0\\ I & -1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad e_{ij}^{\times} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -I & 0\\ -I & -1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(117)

For a general k, a 3-d rotation matrix is multiplied onto the above polarization tensors.

With the above decomposition, the action of the tensor mode becomes two decoupled components. Theoretically this is because they are different irreducible representations. Technically this is because $e_{ij}^+(e_{jk}^{\times})^* = 0$. The tensor mode action takes the form

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} d\tau \ a^2 \left[\left(\gamma'_+ \gamma_+' - k^2 \gamma_+ \gamma_+ \right) + \left(\gamma'_\times \gamma_\times' - k^2 \gamma_\times \gamma_\times \right) \right] \ . \tag{118}$$

For each polarization mode, the action is the same as that of a massless spectator scalar field. Thus

$$P_{\gamma}^{+,\times} = \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \,. \tag{119}$$

The tensor power spectrum is defined as

$$\bar{h}^{ik}\bar{h}^{jl}\langle\gamma_{ij}(\mathbf{k})\gamma_{kl}(\mathbf{k}')\rangle = (2\pi)^3\delta^3(\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{k}')\frac{2\pi^2}{k^3}P_\gamma , \qquad (120)$$

Compared with Eq. (112), we have

$$P_{\gamma} = \frac{2H^2}{\pi^2 M_p^2} \ . \tag{121}$$

To compare with the scalar power spectrum, a tensor to scalar ratio is defined and calculated as

$$r \equiv \frac{P_{\gamma}}{P_{\zeta}} = 16\epsilon \ . \tag{122}$$

It is important to note that, unlike the scalar power spectrum (88), the tensor power spectrum (119) does not depend on ϵ . In other words, $P_{\gamma}^{+,\times}$ is solely determined by H, the energy scale of the inflationary perturbations. Thus if the gravitational wave power spectrum is detected, we immediately know the inflationary Hubble scale.

The spectral index of gravitational waves is

$$n_T \equiv \frac{d\ln P_{\gamma}}{d\ln k} = -2\epsilon = -r/8 . \qquad (123)$$

Note that both the very LHS and very RHS of the above equation are expressed in terms of observables. Thus $n_T = -r/8$ is a consistency relation for single field inflation.

It is also interesting to note that, the tensor to scalar ratio is related to the distance that the inflaton rolled in field space during inflation. The inflaton's rolling distance per e-fold is

$$\frac{d\phi}{dN} = \frac{\phi}{H} = \frac{M_p}{4}\sqrt{2r} \ . \tag{124}$$

Thus in 60 e-folds, ϕ rolls a distance $\Delta \phi \simeq 15 M_p^2 \sqrt{2r}$. In words, large tensor to scalar ratio r indicates a longer distance of inflaton's motion. This relation is known as the Lyth bound [87]. One can correspondingly classify inflation models into large field and small field models, with $\Delta \phi \geq M_p$ and $\Delta \phi < M_p$ respectively.

J. Other fields

As we have seen, the construction of inflation requires two types of light fields: the inflaton field and the gravitational waves. However, we know from QFT that there are many other fields. What do other fields behave during inflation? Here we discuss several possibilities:

• Gauge fields: Non-interacting gauge fields in 3+1 dimension have a conformal symmetry. The action of a non-interacting gauge field can be written as (take U(1) as an example)

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} g^{\mu\alpha} g^{\nu\beta} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\alpha\beta} . \qquad (125)$$

Note that $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ does not really contain metric or covariant derivative. Moreover, the scale factor dependence (using conformal time) in $\sqrt{-g}$ and $g^{\mu\alpha}g^{\nu\beta}$ cancels. Thus the gauge field does not "know" it lives on an expanding background instead of on a Minkowski background. This is due to the conformally flat nature of the FRW metric. As a result, the large scale fluctuations of the gauge field is suppressed by k^2/a^2 and thus not important or observable.

On the other hand, if for some reasons we want the gauge field to have large scale fluctuations, then we have to break the scale invariance of the field (see, e.g. [88]).

• Accidental, or other protected massless fields: In this case, our previous discussion of a spectator field in de Sitter space applies. During each e-fold, the field has a fluctuation $\sigma = H/(2\pi)$. Thus on long time scales, the field has a random walk behavior $\sigma(x) = H\sqrt{Ht}/(2\pi)$.

However, one should note that, it is not easy to have a massless field without a symmetry. This is because, without the protection from symmetry, the quantum corrections generates a mass for the field. For the same reason as the Higgs mass hierarchy problem, the quantum correction for a unprotected mass parameter runs to the UV completion scale of the effective field theory. This generates a mass correction $\Delta m^2 \sim \Lambda^4/M_p^2$. If there is supersymmetry (which has to be broken at Hubble scale), the mass correction is brought down to $\Delta m \sim H$.

• Field with a small mass $m \ll m_{\phi}$: The dynamics of such a light field depends on the field value. If the field is located at the origin of the potential, there is no much difference between the current case and the case of m = 0. However, as we discussed, because of the random walk behavior, the field cannot naturally stay at the minimum of the potential if there were a large amount of inflation before the observable stage. To estimate the field value, we note that there is a competition between the random walk and a classical roll-back of the field. The classical roll-back can be estimated using the field equation

$$3H\dot{\sigma} \simeq -V' = -m^2\sigma \ . \tag{126}$$

We may approximate H to be constant (considering that σ is not the field that drives inflation, which modifies H). In this case, σ can be solved as

$$\sigma \propto \exp\left(-\frac{m^2 \Delta t}{3H}\right) \ . \tag{127}$$

Thus at large field value, the field rolls back exponentially fast and cannot random walk. On the other hand, when the exponential factor is small, random walk dominates. Given enough e-folds of inflation (including inflation happened at the non-observable stage), the balance is reached at

$$\Delta t \sim \frac{H}{m^2} . \tag{128}$$

During the above time (corresponds to H^2/m^2 e-folds), the field randomly walks by a distance

$$\Delta \sigma \sim \frac{H}{2\pi} \times \sqrt{H\Delta t} \sim \frac{H^2}{2\pi m} . \tag{129}$$

This is the typical distance for σ , away from the origin. On large scales, the very light field forms a curvaton web [89]. The dynamics of the curvaton web can be analyzed in detail using the Langevin equation and the Fokker-Planck equation. If there were no enough e-folds of inflation, a cutoff of e-folding number needs also to be imposed.

At perturbation level, the present case share similar equations with the massless case. However, due to the non-trivial background motion, the conversion mechanism from entropy perturbation to the comoving curvature perturbation could be very model dependent. The definition of entropy perturbation together with the illustrations of mechanisms are discussed in Sec. IV B 1.

• Field with a small mass $m \sim m_{\phi}$:

This case is again different from the $m \ll m_{\phi}$ case. This is because the σ field now rolls fast enough that it does affect the variation of the Hubble parameter. Thus both fields contribute to the background evolution. In this case we have multi-field inflation.

• Field with a mass $m_{\phi} \ll m \lesssim H$: In this case, the σ field is heavy compared with the background energy scale – the inflaton mass. However, σ is not heavier than the energy scale of perturbations – the Hubble scale. Thus the field stays at the origin of the potential at the level of homogeneous and isotropic background, but the perturbations could couple to the inflaton and thus observable. In this case, we have quasi-single field inflation.

Note that if there is minimally broken supersymmetry during inflation, then the standard model fields should get a mass correction of order H. This is known as the " η_V -problem" for the inflaton [54], and opens up a variety of possibilities for other fields.

• Massive fields with $m \gg H$: Those fields decouple from the light fields at the tree level. However, considering that inflation is UV-sensitive, it is still an open question if loop corrections would make the imprint from those very massive fields observable in the sky [90].

III. NONLINEAR PERTURBATIONS

As we have shown in the previous section, linear perturbations already carry interesting information about the physics during inflation. However, the information that linear perturbation carries is quite limited. This is because, for each field, the power spectrum is a function of k only. Even worse, nearly scale invariance brings this function down to a few numbers with increasing difficulties to measure.

For example, consider the comoving curvature perturbation ζ . Currently we have measured two numbers: the amplitude P_{ζ} itself at a given k, and the tilt $n_s - 1$. If there were no features in the power spectrum, even a third number (the running of spectral index α_s) would be very difficult to measure. The gravitational wave sector is even worse. Even the amplitude P_h is not detected yet, leaving only an upper bound.

If the above two numbers are the only things that one could get from inflation (which actually comes directly from the nearly scale invariance of the background, not the detail dynamics), then it is very hard to distinguish between inflation and alternatives, or between inflation models, let alone to use inflation as an ultra high energy laboratory of physics.

One expects quite a few possibilities to overcome the above lack of prediction problem. For example, a detection of tensor mode will be of much help. We shall also discuss other possibilities such as features and entropy modes in later sections. Here, we consider another class of possibilities – interactions, which produce non-Gaussian fluctuations in the sky.

A. Interaction picture and in-in formalism

To calculate the interactions, it is convenient to use the interaction picture³¹. Let us start by reviewing how the Hamiltonian formalism and the interaction picture are defined on a time dependent background [91].

1. The Hamiltonian for the perturbations

Given a theory, we have a Hamiltonian $H[\phi(\mathbf{x},\tau),\pi(\mathbf{x},\tau)]^{3233}$, with equal time commutator

$$[\phi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau),\pi_b(\mathbf{y},\tau)] = i\delta_{ab}\delta^3(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}) , \quad [\phi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau),\phi_b(\mathbf{y},\tau)] = 0 , \quad [\pi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau),\pi_b(\mathbf{y},\tau)] = 0 , \quad (130)$$

where a, b indices denote different fields or field components. The equation of motion can be written as

$$\phi'_a = i [H, \phi_a] , \qquad \pi'_a = i [H, \pi_a] , \qquad (131)$$

where as usual, prime denotes time derivative with respect to the time τ . To do perturbation theory, we need to split ϕ_a and π_a into background and perturbations. The background is assumed to be c-number valued functions which satisfy the classical equation of motion³⁴. For our purpose, typically it is convenient to define the background as the homogeneous and isotropic part of the fields, which are the FRW metric and the zero mode of the matter fields. The perturbations $\delta\phi_a(\mathbf{x}, \tau)$ and $\delta\pi_a(\mathbf{x}, \tau)$ are define by

$$\phi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \bar{\phi}_a(\tau) + \delta\phi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau) , \qquad \pi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \bar{\pi}_a(\tau) + \delta\pi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau) .$$
(132)

The commutators for perturbations are not affected by the c-number valued background. Thus

$$[\delta\phi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau),\delta\pi_b(\mathbf{y},\tau)] = i\delta_{ab}\delta^3(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}) , \quad [\delta\phi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau),\delta\phi_b(\mathbf{y},\tau)] = 0 , \quad [\delta\pi_a(\mathbf{x},\tau),\delta\pi_b(\mathbf{y},\tau)] = 0 , \quad (133)$$

The Hamiltonian can be expanded with respect to the perturbations as

$$H[\phi,\pi] = H[\bar{\phi},\bar{\pi}] + \sum_{a} \int d^3x \left. \frac{\delta H[\phi,\pi]}{\delta \phi(\mathbf{x},\tau)} \right|_{\bar{\phi},\bar{\pi}} \delta \phi(\mathbf{x},\tau) + \sum_{a} \int d^3x \left. \frac{\delta H[\phi,\pi]}{\delta \pi(\mathbf{x},\tau)} \right|_{\bar{\phi},\bar{\pi}} \delta \pi(\mathbf{x},\tau) + \widetilde{H}[\delta\phi,\delta\pi;\tau] , \qquad (134)$$

where the terms which are linear in $\delta\phi(\mathbf{x},\tau)$ and $\delta\pi(\mathbf{x},\tau)$ vanish due to background equation of motion. The term $\widetilde{H}[\delta\phi,\delta\pi;\tau]$ is the Hamiltonian for perturbations, which is of second and higher orders of $\delta\phi$ and $\delta\pi$. Note that

³¹ Historically the advantage of interaction picture perturbation theory versus the old fashioned perturbation theory (Lippmann-Schwinger equation) is that the former explicitly preserves Lorentz invariance. In the cosmological background, there is a preferred time direction anyway. However, it is nontrivial to find the eigenstates which diagonalize the time dependent Hamiltonian for perturbations. This is the major difficulty for Lippmann-Schwinger equation in cosmic perturbation theory.

³² The **x** dependence in the Hamiltonian is a functional dependence, because the Hamiltonian has an integration over **x**. On the other hand, the Hamiltonian inherits implicit time dependence from $\phi(\mathbf{x}, \tau)$ and $\pi(\mathbf{x}, \tau)$.

³³ Here we haven't specify the meaning of τ yet. Nevertheless, we shall mainly have the conformal time in mind thus we denote it as τ as we did in previous sections.

³⁴ Note that there may be no unique classical background for some inflation models (e.g. [92, 93]). In this case, the definition of in-in formalism becomes tricky.

 $\widetilde{H}[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ is explicitly time dependent because now we write it as a functional of $\delta\phi$ and $\delta\pi$, and the time dependence coming from $\overline{\phi}(t)$ and $\overline{\pi}(\tau)$ appears as an explicit time dependence.

One can verify the consistency of taking $H[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ as the Hamiltonian for perturbations, by calculating from Eq. (15):

$$\delta \phi'_{a} = i \left[\widetilde{H}, \delta \phi_{a} \right] \quad \to \quad \delta \phi_{a}(\tau) = U^{-1}(\tau, \tau_{0}) \delta \phi_{a}(\tau_{0}) U(\tau, \tau_{0}) ,$$

$$\delta \pi'_{a} = i \left[\widetilde{H}, \delta \pi_{a} \right] \quad \to \quad \delta \pi_{a}(\tau) = U^{-1}(\tau, \tau_{0}) \delta \pi_{a}(\tau_{0}) U(\tau, \tau_{0}) , \qquad (135)$$

where $U(\tau, \tau_0)$ is the time evolution operator, satisfying³⁵

$$\partial_{\tau} U(t,\tau_0) = -i \widetilde{H}[\delta\phi(\tau_0), \delta\pi(\tau_0); \tau] U(\tau,\tau_0) , \qquad U(\tau_0,\tau_0) = 1 .$$
(136)

2. The interaction Hamiltonian

The Hamiltonian $\widetilde{H}[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ contains quadratic terms and higher order terms in $\delta\phi$ and $\delta\pi$. The quadratic terms result in linear equations of motion, which typically lead to simple solutions. However, the non-quadratic terms in $\widetilde{H}[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ results in non-linear equations of motion, and in most cases cannot be solved exactly. Perturbation theory is in position to solve this problem.

For this purpose, we split $H[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ into

$$H[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau] = H_0[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau] + H_I[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau] , \qquad (137)$$

where $H_I[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ is the interaction Hamiltonian.³⁶ According to the split of H_0 and H_I , we define the time evolution of the interaction picture fields $\delta\phi_a^I$ as

$$\delta \phi_a^{I'} \equiv i \left[H_0, \delta \phi_a^{I} \right] \to \delta \phi_a^{I}(\tau) = U_0^{-1}(\tau, \tau_0) \delta \phi_a^{I}(\tau_0) U_0(\tau, \tau_0) ,
\delta \pi_a^{I'} \equiv i \left[H_0, \delta \pi_a^{I} \right] \to \delta \pi_a^{I}(\tau) = U_0^{-1}(\tau, \tau_0) \delta \pi_a^{I}(\tau_0) U_0(\tau, \tau_0) ,$$
(140)

where $U_0(\tau, \tau_0)$ is the time evolution operator of the free theory, which is supposed to know explicitly from a given H_0 via

$$\partial_{\tau} U_0(\tau, \tau_0) = -iH_0[\delta \phi^I(\tau_0), \delta \pi^I(\tau_0); \tau] U_0(\tau, \tau_0) , \qquad U_0(\tau_0, \tau_0) = 1 .$$
(141)

To fix $\delta \phi_a^I$ completely, we have to choose the initial condition as well. Formally, this can be done as in the flat space QFT, by requiring that at some initial time τ_0 ,

$$\delta \phi_a^I(\tau_0) = \delta \phi_a(\tau_0) , \qquad \delta \pi_a^I(\tau_0) = \delta \pi_a(\tau_0) . \tag{142}$$

Combining Eqs. (136) and (141) (which implies $\partial_{\tau}(U_0^{-1}) = iU_0^{-1}H_0$), and making use of (142), we have

$$\partial_{\tau}[U_0^{-1}(\tau,\tau_0)U(\tau,\tau_0)] = -iU_0^{-1}(\tau,\tau_0)H_I[\delta\phi(\tau_0),\delta\pi(\tau_0);\tau]U(\tau,\tau_0) = -iU_0^{-1}(\tau,\tau_0)U(\tau,\tau_0)H_I[\delta\phi(\tau),\delta\pi(\tau);\tau] .$$
(143)

$$\widetilde{H} = \int d^3x \, \frac{1}{2} a^2 \left[(\sigma')^2 + c_s^2 k^2 \sigma^2 \right] \,, \quad \sigma' \equiv \pi_\sigma / a^2 \tag{138}$$

We could solve $\tilde{H}[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ directly, which is a straightforward generalization of $c_s = 1$ case. Or instead, when $|c_s - 1| \ll 1$ we could split $\tilde{H}[\delta\phi, \delta\pi; \tau]$ into

$$H_0 = \int d^3x \, \frac{1}{2} a^2 \left[(\sigma')^2 + k^2 \sigma^2 \right] \,, \quad H_I = \int d^3x \, \frac{1}{2} a^2 \left[k^2 (c_s^2 - 1) \sigma^2 \right] \,. \tag{139}$$

The two methods of calculation agree as they should at zeroth and 1st order of $|c_s - 1|$, with the usage of first order perturbation theory.

³⁵ From (135) we can directly get $\partial_{\tau} U(\tau, \tau_0) = -i \widetilde{H}[\delta\phi(\tau), \delta\pi(\tau); \tau] U(\tau, \tau_0)$. And note that the canonical equations (135) implies $\frac{dH}{d\tau} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial t}$

 $[\]frac{\partial H}{\partial \tau}$, thus $\tilde{H}[\delta\phi(\tau), \delta\pi(\tau); \tau] = \tilde{H}[\delta\phi(\tau_0), \delta\pi(\tau_0); \tau]$. This is how (136) is derived. Later we shall use this trick again in (141). ³⁶ Note that this split is just for the convenience of calculation and thus contains some ambiguities in it, which shouldn't affect physics. For example, in the case of field with modified sound speed (which we shall discuss in detail in later sections), we have

As one can directly check, the solution of this equation is

$$F(\tau,\tau_0) \equiv U_0^{-1}(\tau,\tau_0)U(\tau,\tau_0)$$

=1+(-i) $\int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \ H_I(\tau_1) + (-i)^2 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_1} d\tau_2 \ H_I(\tau_1)H_I(\tau_2)$
+(-i)³ $\int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_1} d\tau_2 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_2} d\tau_3 \ H_I(\tau_1)H_I(\tau_2)H_I(\tau_3) + \cdots$
= $Te^{-i\int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau')d\tau'}$. (144)

In the last line, the time ordered integrals have been compactly written into a time ordered exponential. However the exponential still needs to be calculated order by order in the form of the second and third line.

Now an operator in Heisenberg picture can be expressed via the interaction picture field as

$$Q(\tau) = F^{-1}(\tau, \tau_0) Q^I(\tau) F(\tau, \tau_0) = \left[\bar{T} e^{i \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau') d\tau'} \right] Q^I(\tau) \left[T e^{-i \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau') d\tau'} \right] ,$$
(145)

where \overline{T} is anti-time ordering.

3. The time evolution of the vacuum

As in flat space QFT, $F(\tau, \tau_0)$ is the time evolution operator of the quantum states in the interaction picture. In the aspect of quantum states, there is one state of particular importance: the "vacuum" state.

We have discussed the vacuum state in section II A. This discussion is reused for a few times for the inflationary scalar and tensor perturbations. However, here new ingredients come in, because of the interactions. In flat space QFT, there is already a difference between the interaction vacuum and free vacuum. The most part of this section is parallel to flat space QFT. Comments are made when the expansion of the background brings a difference.

Let us use $|0\rangle$ to denote the vacuum state of the free theory, which is defined by annihilation operators. We use $|\Omega\rangle$ to denote the interaction vacuum, which is to be constructed using $|0\rangle$. As discussed in section II A, it is important to note that the vacuum is the lowest energy state.

We first expand $|0\rangle$ using a complete set of energy eigenstates of the full theory. On expanding background matter energy is not conserved and we have yet to define gravitational energy. Nevertheless, we could consider the energy eigenstates at an initial time for the perturbation modes.³⁷ Near $\tau_0 \to -\infty$, we have

$$e^{-iH(\tau-\tau_0)}|0\rangle = \sum_{n} e^{-iH(\tau-\tau_0)}|n\rangle\langle n|0\rangle = \sum_{n} e^{-iE_n(\tau-\tau_0)}|n\rangle\langle n|0\rangle = e^{-iE_\Omega(\tau-\tau_0)}|\Omega\rangle\langle \Omega|0\rangle + \sum_{n'} e^{-iE_{n'}(\tau-\tau_0)}|n'\rangle\langle n'|0\rangle ,$$
(146)

where in the last line n' denotes the states excluding the ground state. Now we add a small imaginary part to time:

$$\tau \to \widetilde{\tau} = \tau (1 - i\epsilon)$$
 (147)

Near $\tau_0 \to -\infty$, the $i\epsilon$ factor introduces a term $e^{-\infty \times \epsilon E_n}$. Thus only the $|\Omega\rangle$ state survives from this $i\epsilon$ factor.³⁸ Now $|\Omega\rangle$ can be solved as

$$e^{-iH(\tilde{\tau}-\tilde{\tau}_0)}|\Omega\rangle = \frac{e^{-iH(\tilde{\tau}-\tilde{\tau}_0)}|0\rangle}{\langle\Omega|0\rangle} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad F(\tilde{\tau},\tilde{\tau}_0)|\Omega\rangle = \frac{F(\tilde{\tau},\tilde{\tau}_0)|0\rangle}{\langle\Omega|0\rangle} .$$
(148)

From now on, we shall neglect the tilde on τ . In other words the τ in later sections should be understood with a small imaginary part.

- $\langle \Omega | 0 \rangle \neq 0$. This may be fine considering H_I is a small perturbation. However things may get worse during a long time of interaction.
- If $\langle \Omega | 0 \rangle$ grows with time, the growth near $\tau \to -\infty$ is slower than exponential.
- It is good to interpret τ as conformal time. Because if we interpreted the τ here as proper time t, there is no limit $t \to -\infty$. However, during inflation the energy scale H drops slowly. This indicates that $Ht \simeq \text{const} \times t$ may be a better measure of time than $\tau \propto -e^{-Ht}$.

Unfortunately, we know very little about the interaction vacuum. Thus it is hard to explicitly verify those assumptions.

³⁷ Strictly speaking this requires all modes to be sub-Hubble. However, during inflation there are always Hubble-crossing and super-Hubble modes. Also, the hierarchy between Hubble scale H and Planck scale M_p may not be large enough to contain all those modes safely.

 $^{^{38}}$ There are a few assumptions here:
4. The in-in expectation value

Now combine (145) and (148), the time dependent expectation value of an operator can be written as

$$\langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle = \frac{\langle 0 | \left[\bar{T} e^{i \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau') d\tau'} \right] Q^I(\tau) \left[T e^{-i \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau') d\tau'} \right] | 0 \rangle}{|\langle 0 | \Omega \rangle|^2} .$$
(149)

Note that in the anti-time ordering $[\overline{T} \cdots]$, the $i\epsilon$ prescription is actually with a different sign (i.e. $\tilde{\tau} \to \tau(1+i\epsilon)$) from the time ordering part $[T \cdots]$. This is because the \overline{T} part is the Hermitian conjugate of T part, which flips the sign of $i\epsilon$ term. This contour of integration, specified by the above $i\epsilon$ prescription, is known as the in-in contour (Fig. 13).



FIG. 13: The left panel is the contour of integration in the in-in formalism. In the right panel, the contour is deformed to a vertical line running top-down. The deformed contour is used numerically in [94, 95] and more generally in [96, 97].

The denominator deserves a more close look. By taking Q(t) = (identity matrix), we can actually write $|\langle 0|\Omega \rangle|^2$ as

$$\left|\langle 0|\Omega \rangle\right|^{2} = \frac{\left\langle 0\right| \left[\bar{T}e^{i\int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau}H_{I}(\tau')d\tau'}\right] \left[Te^{-i\int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau}H_{I}(\tau')d\tau'}\right]\left|0\right\rangle}{\left\langle \Omega|\Omega \right\rangle} = 1 \ . \tag{150}$$

To get the RHS, we require both the states $\langle \Omega | \Omega \rangle$ and $\langle 0 | 0 \rangle$ are normalized. The $[\bar{T} \cdots]$ part cancels the $[T \cdots]$ part because it is just the Hermitian conjugate of a unitary operator. Thus finally we arrive at the master formula, known as the factorized form of in-in formalism:

$$\langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle = \langle 0 | \left[\bar{T} e^{i \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau') d\tau'} \right] Q^I(\tau) \left[T e^{-i \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} H_I(\tau') d\tau'} \right] | 0 \rangle .$$
(151)

Practically one expands the above formula order by order in perturbation theory. For example, the first order term in the expansion is

$$\langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle_1 = 2 \operatorname{Im} \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \langle 0 | Q^I(\tau) H_I(\tau_1) | 0 \rangle , \qquad (152)$$

and the second order terms are

$$\langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle_2 = \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_2 \langle 0 | H_I(\tau_1) Q^I(\tau) H_I(\tau_2) | 0 \rangle - 2 \operatorname{Re} \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_1} d\tau_2 \langle 0 | Q^I(\tau) H_I(\tau_1) H_I(\tau_2) | 0 \rangle .$$
(153)

However, one should note that the order in H_I does not necessarily agree with the $\mathcal{O}(\zeta^n)$ expansion. For example, when calculating the four-point function of general single field inflation, both the first order expansion of in-in formalism (with H_I being the $\mathcal{O}(\zeta^4)$ vertex) and the second order expansion of in-in contributes, with comparable amount [98].

Before moving on, let us note that there are a few variants of the in-in formula (151):

• The Wick-rotated factorized form [96, 97]: In the right panel of Fig. 13, if there are no poles or cuts between the dashed contour and the solid contour, both contours give the same result. Using the solid contour, the in-in formalism can be written into a more compact form:

$$\begin{split} \langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle &= \langle 0 | \bar{T} \left[Q^{I}(\tau) \exp\left(- \int_{-i\infty+\tau}^{i\infty+\tau} H_{I}(\tau_{E}) d\tau_{E} \right) \right] | 0 \rangle \\ &= \langle 0 | \bar{T} \left[Q^{I}(\tau) \exp\left(- \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_{I}(\tau+i\tau_{E}) d\tau_{E} \right) \right] | 0 \rangle , \end{split}$$
(154)

where in the second line a further change of variable is applied to simplify the integral. The Wick-rotated factorized form makes the (linear) UV convergence of in-in integral more explicitly.

• The commutator form [91]: Eq. (151) can be rewritten as

$$\langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} i^n \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_1} d\tau_2 \cdots \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_{n-1}} d\tau_n \left\langle [H_I(\tau_n), [H_I(\tau_{n-1}), \cdots, [H_I(\tau_1), Q^I(\tau)] \cdots]] \right\rangle .$$
(155)

To see this, one first observe the n = 0 order term agrees with (151). Then assuming the (n - 1)th order term also agrees, the time derivative of the (n - 1)th order terms generates the agreement of the *n*th order terms.

The advantage of (155) is that, there are some cancellations in the IR (i.e. $\tau \to 0$) from the commutators, which are not obvious in the form of (151). For example, the two terms in (154) could have cancellations between each other in the IR.

However, the form (155) has also a disadvantage: The $i\epsilon$ and $-i\epsilon$ terms are mixed in (155) thus we may meet divergences in the UV (i.e. $\tau \to -\infty$), due to the difference between $|\Omega\rangle$ and $|0\rangle$.

Similarly, the commutator form can also be written as

$$\langle \Omega | Q(\tau) | \Omega \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} i^n \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau} d\tau_2 \cdots \int_{\tau_{n-1}}^{\tau} d\tau_n \left\langle [H_I(\tau_1), [H_I(\tau_2), \cdots, [H_I(\tau_n), Q^I(\tau)] \cdots]] \right\rangle .$$
(156)

• The mixed form [94]: To keep both the advantage of (151) in the UV and (155) in the IR, one can choose an intermediate time τ_c (which is typically $|k\tau_c| \sim 1$) and re-group the terms before τ_c using the factorized form and the terms after τ_c using the commutator form as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\tau_c}^{\tau} d\tau_1 \cdots \int_{\tau_c}^{\tau_{i-1}} d\tau_i \text{ (commutator form)} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\tau_c} d\tau_{i+1} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\tau_{n-1}} d\tau_n \text{ (factorized form)} .$$
(157)

The result is independent on the intermediate time τ_c , and well behaved both in the UV and in the IR.

B. 3rd order gravitational action

We now use the in-in formalism to calculate the three point function for inflation. For the minimal model of inflation, the three point function is small. On the other hand it is dominated by pure gravitational actions, instead of $V'''(\phi)$ from the explicit non-linearity in the inflationary potential.

To calculate this, we need to derive the third order gravitational action. As an example, here we only do the calculation in ζ -gauge and using the ADM form of Ricci scalar.

For simplicity, here we take the Planck unit: $M_p = 1$.

1. Constraints

For calculating the three point function, we have to solve the constraint equations. Naively, we would expect that we have to solve the constraint equations up to third order in ζ . However, fortunately, we still only need to solve the constraints up to first order.

In general, to derive the second order action, one needs to solve the first order constraint equations. To derive the nth order action $(n \ge 3)$, one needs to solve the (n-2)th order constraint equations [99].

To see this, recall that there are no time derivatives acting on constraint variables.³⁹ Also the spatial derivatives on constraint variables can be converted to momentum k by going into momentum space (to save writing, we shall not do it explicitly). Taking the lapse function for example, in general we have

$$S = \int d^4x \,\mathcal{L}(N) \,, \qquad \delta S = \int d^4x \,\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial N} \delta N = 0 \,. \tag{158}$$

³⁹ if one used the 4-dimensional Ricci scalar for calculation, there exist time derivatives on constraint variables. But those time derivatives can be eliminated by integration by parts.

Let us expand $N = N_0 + N_1 + \cdots + N_n + \cdots$, where N_n denotes the $\mathcal{O}(\zeta^n)$ order terms. The constraint equation $\partial \mathcal{L}/\partial N = 0$ can be expanded (up to $\mathcal{O}(\zeta)$) as

$$\left. \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial N} \right|_{0,\zeta^0} = 0 , \qquad (159)$$

$$\left. \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial N} \right|_{0,\zeta^1} + N_1 \left. \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial N^2} \right|_{0,\zeta^0} = 0 , \qquad (160)$$

where the subscript $0, \zeta^a$ denotes the term does not contain N, and is at order in ζ (or the shift vector).

Now consider the *n*th order action $(n \ge 3)$. All the terms that contains N_n are

$$S_n \supset \int d^4x \left. N_n \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial N} \right|_{0,\zeta^0} = 0 \ . \tag{161}$$

This term vanishes because of (159). All the terms that contains N_{n-1} are

$$S_n \supset \int d^4x \, N_{n-1} \left(\left. \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial N} \right|_{0,\zeta^1} + N_1 \left. \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial N^2} \right|_{0,\zeta^0} \right) = 0 \,. \tag{162}$$

Again this vanishes because of (160). However, from N_{n-2} on, the coefficients in the constraint equation no longer coincides with the coefficients in S_n . The above proof also goes through for the shift vector N_i . Thus we have to solve the constraints to order $\mathcal{O}(\zeta^{n-2})$. Now we want to calculate S_3 . Thus Eq. (81) is enough for solving the constraints (and $b_i = 0$ at this order).

2. Action

The second order action is already given in (79). The third order action takes the form [99]:

$$S_{3} = \int dt d^{3}x \ a^{3} \Big\{ 3H^{2}\alpha^{3} - \epsilon H^{2}\alpha^{3} - 9H^{2}\alpha^{2}\zeta + 3\epsilon H^{2}\alpha^{2}\zeta + \frac{27}{2}H^{2}\alpha\zeta^{2} - \frac{9}{2}\epsilon H^{2}\alpha\zeta^{2} - \frac{27}{2}H^{2}\zeta^{3} + \frac{9}{2}\epsilon H^{2}\zeta^{3} - 6H\alpha^{2}\dot{\zeta} \\ + 18H\alpha\zeta\dot{\zeta} - 27H\zeta^{2}\dot{\zeta} + 3\alpha(\dot{\zeta})^{2} - 9\zeta(\dot{\zeta})^{2} - \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha b_{i}\partial_{i}\zeta + \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\zeta b_{i}\partial_{i}\zeta - \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha \partial_{i}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta + \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\zeta \partial_{i}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta + \frac{2}{a^{2}}b_{i}\dot{\zeta}\partial_{i}\zeta \\ + \frac{2}{a^{2}}\partial_{i}\beta\dot{\zeta}\partial_{i}\zeta - \frac{1}{a^{2}}\alpha(\partial_{i}\zeta)^{2} - \frac{1}{a^{2}}\zeta(\partial_{i}\zeta)^{2} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}b_{j}\partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}\partial_{j}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}b_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}b_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}b_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}b_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}b_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} - \frac{1}{a^{4}}\partial_{i}\beta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i} \\ - \frac{1}{4a^{4}}\alpha(\partial_{j}b_{i})^{2} - \frac{1}{4a^{4}}\zeta(\partial_{j}b_{i})^{2} - \frac{1}{4a^{4}}\alpha\partial_{j}b_{i}\partial_{i}b_{j} - \frac{1}{4a^{4}}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i}\partial_{i}b_{j} + \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha^{2}\partial^{2}\beta - \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha\zeta\partial^{2}\beta + \frac{1}{a^{2}}H\zeta^{2}\partial^{2}\beta \\ - \frac{2}{a^{2}}\alpha\dot{\zeta}\partial^{2}\beta + \frac{2}{a^{2}}\zeta\dot{\zeta}\partial^{2}\beta - \frac{2}{a^{4}}b_{j}\partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta - \frac{2}{a^{4}}\partial_{j}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta - \frac{1}{a^{4}}\alpha\partial_{j}b_{i}\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta - \frac{1}{a^{4}}\zeta\partial_{j}b_{i}\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta - \frac{1}{a^{4}}\alpha(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta)^{2} \\ - \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\zeta(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\alpha(\partial^{2}\beta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\zeta(\partial^{2}\beta)^{2} - \frac{2}{a^{2}}\alpha\zeta\partial^{2}\zeta - \frac{1}{a^{2}}\zeta^{2}\partial^{2}\zeta - \frac{9}{2}V\alpha\zeta^{2} - \frac{9}{2}V\zeta^{3}\Big\} .$$

$$(163)$$

Note that we can set $b_i = 0$. This action is simplified into

$$S_{3} = \int dt d^{3}x \ a^{3} \Big\{ 3H^{2}\alpha^{3} - \epsilon H^{2}\alpha^{3} - 9H^{2}\alpha^{2}\zeta + 3\epsilon H^{2}\alpha^{2}\zeta + \frac{27}{2}H^{2}\alpha\zeta^{2} - \frac{9}{2}\epsilon H^{2}\alpha\zeta^{2} - \frac{27}{2}H^{2}\zeta^{3} + \frac{9}{2}\epsilon H^{2}\zeta^{3} - 6H\alpha^{2}\dot{\zeta} \\ + 18H\alpha\zeta\dot{\zeta} - 27H\zeta^{2}\dot{\zeta} + 3\alpha(\dot{\zeta})^{2} - 9\zeta(\dot{\zeta})^{2} - \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha\partial_{i}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta + \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\zeta\partial_{i}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta \\ + \frac{2}{a^{2}}\partial_{i}\beta\dot{\zeta}\partial_{i}\zeta - \frac{1}{a^{2}}\alpha(\partial_{i}\zeta)^{2} - \frac{1}{a^{2}}\zeta(\partial_{i}\zeta)^{2} + \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha^{2}\partial^{2}\beta - \frac{2}{a^{2}}H\alpha\zeta\partial^{2}\beta + \frac{1}{a^{2}}H\zeta^{2}\partial^{2}\beta \\ - \frac{2}{a^{2}}\alpha\dot{\zeta}\partial^{2}\beta + \frac{2}{a^{2}}\zeta\dot{\zeta}\partial^{2}\beta - \frac{2}{a^{4}}\partial_{j}\beta\partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta - \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\alpha(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta)^{2} \\ - \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\zeta(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\beta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\alpha(\partial^{2}\beta)^{2} + \frac{1}{2a^{4}}\zeta(\partial^{2}\beta)^{2} - \frac{2}{a^{2}}\alpha\zeta\partial^{2}\zeta - \frac{1}{a^{2}}\zeta^{2}\partial^{2}\zeta - \frac{9}{2}V\alpha\zeta^{2} - \frac{9}{2}V\zeta^{3} \Big\} .$$

$$(164)$$

3. Integration by parts

Inserting the constraint Eq. (81) into the third order action (164), and do a lot of integration by parts⁴⁰, we get

$$S_{3} = \int dt d^{3}x \left\{ a^{3} \epsilon^{2} \zeta \dot{\zeta}^{2} + a \epsilon^{2} \zeta (\partial \zeta)^{2} - 2a \epsilon \dot{\zeta} \partial \zeta \partial \chi \right. \\ \left. + \frac{a^{3} \epsilon}{2} \dot{\eta} \zeta^{2} \dot{\zeta} + \frac{\epsilon}{2a} \partial \zeta \partial \chi \partial^{2} \chi + \frac{\epsilon}{4a} \partial^{2} \zeta (\partial \chi)^{2} \right. \\ \left. + 2f(\zeta) \left. \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \zeta} \right|_{1} + \mathcal{L}_{b} \right\},$$
(165)

where χ is defined by

$$\partial^2 \chi \equiv a^2 \epsilon \dot{\zeta} , \qquad (166)$$

thus the first line of (165) is $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ in slow roll and the second line is $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$. In the third line, $\frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \zeta}\Big|_1$ is proportional to the equation of motion, thus does not contribute to the three point function⁴¹. Just for keeping track, $f(\zeta)$ is

$$f(\zeta) = \frac{\eta}{4}\zeta^2 + \frac{1}{H}\zeta\dot{\zeta} + \frac{-\partial\zeta\partial\zeta + \partial^{-2}[\partial_i\partial_j(\partial_i\zeta\partial_j\zeta)]}{4a^2H} + \frac{\partial\zeta\partial\chi - \partial^{-2}[\partial_i\partial_j(\partial_i\zeta\partial_j\chi)]}{2a^2H} .$$
(167)

And \mathcal{L}_b is a collection of boundary terms⁴²:

$$\mathcal{L}_{b} = \partial_{t} \left[-9a^{3}H\zeta^{3} + \frac{a}{H}\zeta(\partial\zeta)^{2} - \frac{1}{4aH^{3}}(\partial\zeta)^{2}\partial^{2}\zeta - \frac{a\epsilon}{H}\zeta(\partial\zeta)^{2} - \frac{\epsilon a^{3}}{H}\zeta\dot{\zeta}^{2} + \frac{1}{2aH^{2}}\zeta(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\chi - \partial^{2}\zeta\partial^{2}\chi) \right] - \frac{\eta a}{2}\zeta^{2}\partial^{2}\chi - \frac{1}{2aH}\zeta(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\chi\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\chi - \partial^{2}\chi\partial^{2}\chi) \right] + \partial_{i} \left[\epsilon a^{3}H\zeta^{2}\partial_{i}\partial^{-2}\dot{\zeta} - 2a\zeta^{2}\partial_{i}\zeta - \frac{2a}{H}\zeta\dot{\zeta}\partial_{i}\zeta + \frac{2a\epsilon}{H}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\partial^{-2}\dot{\zeta} + \frac{a\epsilon}{H}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial^{-2}\dot{\zeta} \right. + \frac{1}{4aH^{2}}(-3\partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta - 2\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta + 2\zeta\partial_{i}\zeta\partial^{2}\zeta) + \frac{1}{4aH^{3}}(2\partial^{2}\zeta\partial_{i}\zeta\dot{\zeta} - 2\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\dot{\zeta} + \partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{i}\dot{\zeta}) + \frac{\epsilon}{4aH^{2}}(2\zeta\partial^{2}\zeta\partial_{i}\zeta - 2\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta + \partial_{i}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{j}\zeta) + \frac{a\epsilon}{2H^{2}}(\dot{\zeta}\partial_{j}\zeta\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta^{-2}\dot{\zeta} - \zeta\partial_{j}\dot{\zeta}\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\zeta^{-2}\dot{\zeta} + \zeta\dot{\zeta}\partial_{i}\dot{\zeta} - \dot{\zeta}^{2}\partial_{i}\zeta) \right]$$
(168)

The spatial part $\partial_i[\cdots]$ do not contribute to the three point function. Because there is no spatial boundary in our inflationary universe. However, we have to be more careful about the time total derivative. This is because for in-in formalism, we do have a time boundary, typically chosen at a time where ζ becomes conserved after that. In the $a \to \infty$ limit, only one term in the $\partial_t[\cdots]$ survives⁴³ [100] :

$$\mathcal{L}_b \simeq \partial_t \left(-\frac{\epsilon \eta}{2} a^3 \zeta^2 \dot{\zeta} \right) \ . \tag{169}$$

⁴⁰ Doing the integration by parts is quite difficult. The readers can save some time by expanding the boundary terms in Eq. (168), to keep track of what integrations by parts we have performed.

⁴¹ Note that we are doing perturbation theory, thus it is allowed to use the linear equation of motion, when calculating the third or higher order actions. On the other hand, one could insist not to use the equation, but instead do field redefinition $\zeta_n \equiv \zeta + \mathcal{O}(\zeta^2)$ to eliminate $\frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \zeta}\Big|_1$. In this case, all the $\ddot{\zeta}$ terms can be eliminated without using equation of motion, and there is no boundary term contributing to the action, in terms of ζ_n .

⁴² In calculation, one does not need to write down all of them explicitly. In this way it is clear to see which integrations by parts we have performed. On the other hand, for the purpose of calculation, only the boundary terms that both (a) contain ζ on the boundary (i.e. ζ in the bulk), and (b) non-vanishing on the boundary, need to be considered.

⁴³ It appears that this boundary term contains ζ'' when expanded in the bulk, and thus the variation principle is not well defined. However, actually there is no problem because we are allowed to use linear equations of motion in the bulk. If we choose not to use the linear equations of motion, but instead perform field redefinitions to get rid of high derivative terms in the 3rd order action, then this boundary term does not appear [99].

To conclude, the third order Lagrangian, which contributes to the three point function is

$$\mathcal{L}_{3} = a^{3} \epsilon^{2} \zeta \dot{\zeta}^{2} + a \epsilon^{2} \zeta (\partial \zeta)^{2} - 2a \epsilon \dot{\zeta} \partial \zeta \partial \chi + \partial_{t} \left(-\frac{\epsilon \eta}{2} a^{3} \zeta^{2} \dot{\zeta} \right) + \frac{a^{3} \epsilon}{2} \dot{\eta} \zeta^{2} \dot{\zeta} + \frac{\epsilon}{2a} \partial \zeta \partial \chi \partial^{2} \chi + \frac{\epsilon}{4a} \partial^{2} \zeta (\partial \chi)^{2}$$
(170)

where the first line dominates over the second line in slow roll approximation (note χ is proportional to ϵ).

Before to proceed, it is important to note that, the dominate contribution for \mathcal{L}_3 come from gravitational interactions, instead of the inflaton's direct coupling. To see this, consider the inflaton's direct coupling $V'' \delta \phi^3$. The third derivative V''' can be estimated as

$$V' \simeq -3H\dot{\phi} , \quad \partial_t(V') = V''\dot{\phi} = -3H\dot{\phi} \times \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) , \quad \partial_t(V'') = V'''\dot{\phi} = -3H \times \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) , \quad (171)$$

where $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ collectively denote order of slow roll parameters. Thus

$$V''' = \frac{H}{\dot{\phi}} \times \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \sim \frac{H\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)}{\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}} .$$
(172)

Gauge transform $V'''\delta\phi^3$ into ζ -gauge, using $\delta\phi = -\dot{\phi}\zeta/H$, we have the Lagrangian for inflaton self interaction in the ζ -gauge:

$$\mathcal{L}_3 \supset -V''' \frac{\dot{\phi}^3}{H^3} \zeta^3 = \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \times \frac{\dot{\phi}^2}{H^2} \zeta^3 = \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3) \zeta^3 .$$
(173)

This belongs to the second line of (170), which is sub-dominated. In other words, gravity is not the weakest force during inflation. The inflaton self interaction is weaker (although it is not a gauge interaction, in which case gravity is conjectured to be the weakest force [101, 102]).

C. From action to Hamiltonian

As in classical mechanics, a Legendre transform $H = \int d^3x \left(\pi \dot{\phi} - \mathcal{L}\right)$ brings Lagrangian to Hamiltonian. Especially, potential energy $V(\phi)$ flips sign in the Legendre transform.

For the gravitational action, the situation is a bit non-trivial because there is derivative coupling. Fortunately, the third order interaction Hamiltonian is still just flipping the sign of the third order action:

$$H_3 = -\int d^3x \mathcal{L}_3 \ . \tag{174}$$

We shall derive the above equation, together with a non-trivial relation for the 4th order relation between H_4 and \mathcal{L}_4 [103]. Readers who are not interested in this detail are suggested to skip the remainder of this subsection.

We consider a Lagrangian up to 4th order in perturbations:

$$\mathcal{L} = f_{ab}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} \dot{\alpha}^{b} + j^{(2)} + g_{abc}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} \dot{\alpha}^{b} \dot{\alpha}^{c} + g_{ab}^{(1)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} \dot{\alpha}^{b} + g_{a}^{(2)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} + j^{(3)} + h_{abcd}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} \dot{\alpha}^{b} \dot{\alpha}^{c} \dot{\alpha}^{d} + h_{abc}^{(1)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} \dot{\alpha}^{b} \dot{\alpha}^{c} + h_{ab}^{(2)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} \dot{\alpha}^{b} + h_{a}^{(3)} \dot{\alpha}^{a} + j^{(4)} , \qquad (175)$$

where α^a are the dynamical fields where a runs over the number of those dynamical fields. The coefficients $f^{(n)}, q^{(n)}, h^{(n)}, j^{(n)}$ are function of α^a but do not contain $\dot{\alpha}^a$. The *n* index in the parenthesis denotes the coefficient is *n*th order in α .

First one define the conjugate momentum π_a :

$$\pi_a \equiv \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\alpha}^a} , \qquad \pi^a \equiv F^{ab} \pi_b , \qquad (176)$$

where F^{ab} is the inverse of $f_{ab}^{(0)}$ such that $F^{ab}f_{bc}^{(0)} = \delta_c^a$. Now $\dot{\alpha}^a$ can be solved in terms of π_a order by order (up to 3rd order here) as

$$\dot{\alpha}^{a}_{(1)} = \frac{\pi^{a}}{2} , \qquad \dot{\alpha}^{a}_{(2)} = -\frac{1}{2} F^{ab} g^{(2)}_{b} - \frac{1}{2} F^{ac} g^{(1)}_{bc} \pi^{b} - \frac{3}{8} F^{ac} g^{(0)}_{dbc} \pi^{b} \pi^{d} .$$
(177)

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{\alpha}_{(3)}^{i} = &\frac{1}{2} F^{ak} F^{ij} g_{jk}^{(1)} g_{a}^{(2)} - \frac{1}{2} F^{ij} h_{j}^{(3)} + \frac{1}{2} F^{bk} F^{ij} g_{ak}^{(1)} g_{bj}^{(1)} \pi^{a} + \frac{3}{4} F^{bk} F^{ij} g_{ajk}^{(0)} g_{b}^{(2)} \pi^{a} + \frac{3}{4} F^{ck} F^{ij} g_{bjk}^{(0)} g_{ac}^{(1)} \pi^{a} \pi^{b} \\ &+ \frac{3}{8} F^{ck} F^{ij} g_{abk}^{(0)} g_{cj}^{(1)} \pi^{a} \pi^{b} + \frac{9}{16} F^{dk} F^{ij} g_{ajk}^{(0)} g_{bcd}^{(0)} \pi^{a} \pi^{b} \pi^{c} - \frac{1}{2} F^{ij} h_{jk}^{(2)} \pi^{j} - \frac{3}{8} F^{ik} h_{ajk}^{(1)} \pi^{a} \pi^{j} - \frac{1}{4} F^{ij} h_{abjk}^{(0)} \pi^{a} \pi^{b} \pi^{j} . \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{178}$$

Now the Hamiltonian density is

$$\mathcal{H} = \dot{\alpha}^a \pi_a - \mathcal{L} , \qquad (179)$$

where all the $\dot{\alpha}^a$ on the RHS are to be replaced by Eqs. (177), (178). Finally, define the interaction picture derivative as discussed in Sec. III A 2:

$$\dot{\alpha}_I^a \equiv \frac{\pi^a}{2} \ . \tag{180}$$

Inserting this definition into the Hamiltonian, the Hamiltonian density becomes

$$\mathcal{H} = f_{ab}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{b} - j^{(2)} - g_{abc}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{b} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} - g_{ab}^{(1)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{b} - g_{a}^{(2)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} - j^{(3)} - h_{abcd}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{b} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{d} - h_{abc}^{(1)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{b} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} - h_{ab}^{(2)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{b} - h_{a}^{(3)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{a} - j^{(4)} + \frac{9}{4} F^{ab} g_{acd}^{(0)} g_{bef}^{(0)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{d} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{e} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{f} + 3 F^{ab} g_{acd}^{(0)} g_{be}^{(1)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{d} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{e} + \frac{3}{2} F^{ab} g_{acd}^{(0)} g_{b}^{(2)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{d} + F^{ab} g_{ac}^{(1)} g_{bd}^{(1)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{d} + F^{ab} g_{ac}^{(1)} g_{b}^{(2)} \dot{\alpha}_{I}^{c} + \frac{1}{4} F^{ab} g_{a}^{(2)} g_{b}^{(2)} .$$

$$(181)$$

We observe that at the third order, we indeed have $\mathcal{H}_3 = -\mathcal{L}_3$ even when there are derivative couplings. On the other hand, at the 4th order non-trivial terms arises in the last two lines.

D. 3-point correlation function (bispectrum)

Now we have derived the Hamiltonian, and are in the position to use in-in formalism to calculate the correlation function. We only do it at the leading order of slow roll.

Inserting the mode function (85) together with the Hamiltonian (first line of (170) and Eq. (174)), and perform the time integration. The result is [99]

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = (2\pi)^7 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3) \frac{P_{\zeta}^2}{k_1^2 k_2^2 k_3^2} \mathcal{F}(k_1/k_3, k_2/k_3) , \qquad (182)$$

where there is a factor of P_{ζ}^2 on the RHS. Thus the three point function is also called the bispectrum. The dimensionless shape function

$$\mathcal{F}(k_1/k_3, k_2/k_3) \equiv \frac{3(\eta - \epsilon)}{8} \frac{(k_1^3 + k_2^3 + k_3^3)}{3k_1k_2k_3} + \frac{3\epsilon}{4} \frac{(k_1k_2^2 + k_1k_3^2 + k_2k_1^2 + k_2k_3^2 + k_3k_1^2 + k_3k_2^2)}{6k_1k_2k_3} + \epsilon \frac{(k_1^2k_2^2 + k_1^2k_3^2 + k_2^2k_3^2)}{k_1k_2k_3(k_1 + k_2 + k_3)}$$
(183)

The shape functions are plotted in Fig 14. Note that when $k_1/k_3 \rightarrow 0$, $\mathcal{F} \propto k_3/k_1$. This $k_1/k_3 \rightarrow 0$ limit (or limits $k_2/k_1 \rightarrow 0$ or $k_3/k_1 \rightarrow 0$) is called the squeezed limit. The squeezed limit is of particular importance in the study of non-Gaussianities.



FIG. 14: The panels (a), (b) and (c) are the shape functions $\frac{(k_1^3+k_2^3+k_3^3)}{3k_1k_2k_3}$, $\frac{(k_1k_2^2+k_1k_3^2+k_2k_1^2+k_2k_3^2+k_3k_1^2+k_3k_2^2)}{6k_1k_2k_3}$ and $\frac{(k_1^2k_2^2+k_1^2k_3^2+k_2k_3^2)}{k_1k_2k_3(k_1+k_2+k_3)}$ respectively. Note that only the configurations satisfying the triangle inequality $k_1 + k_2 > k_3$ makes sense in physics. The part with $k_1 + k_2 < k_3$ is set to zero by hand and should be ignored from physical consideration. The shape function in panel (a) is known as "local shape", because local processes could only generate this shape. The physical meaning of local shape is discussed extensively in Sec. III E. The other two panels look similarly to local shape. Especially all those 3 shapes have the same scaling when $k_1/k_3 \rightarrow 0$, that $\mathcal{F} \propto k_3/k_1$ in this limit.

E. Local non-Gaussianity and the local f_{NL}

We explain in this subsection the physical meaning of local non-Gaussianity [104]. The local non-Gaussianity is originally introduced as a position space expansion of non-Gaussian perturbations around Gaussian perturbations⁴⁴⁴⁵:

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \zeta_g(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{3}{5} f_{NL} \zeta_g^2(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{9}{25} g_{NL} \zeta_g^3(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{27}{125} h_{NL} \zeta_g^4(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{81}{625} i_{NL} \zeta_g^5(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{243}{3125} j_{NL} \zeta_g^6(\mathbf{x}) + \cdots , \qquad (184)$$

where $\zeta_g(\mathbf{x})$ is a perturbation variable satisfying Gaussian statistics. Note that this is an ansatz, instead of a general expansion. Because in general, the non-Gaussian estimators f_{NL}, \cdots could depend on position, and terms like $\zeta_g^2(\mathbf{x})$ is not necessarily expanded at the same spatial point. As a result, the terms like $f_{NL}\zeta_g^2(\mathbf{x})$ has to be in general written as a convolution.

⁴⁴ The funny numerical coefficients come from that f_{NL} is originally defined in terms of the gravitational potential Φ .

⁴⁵ In Maldacena's paper, there was a minus sign in front of the f_{NL} term. Here we use the WMAP convention. A summary of conventions can be found in [105, 106].

The local ansatz has clear physical meaning. This ansatz assumes non-Gaussianities are generated independently at different spatial points. Translating this requirement into the context of inflation, typically this implies the non-Gaussianity is generated on super-Hubble scales.⁴⁶

Especially, note that, for positive f_{NL} , the part of contribution from positive ζ_g gets enhanced, and the part of contribution from negative ζ_g gets suppressed. This provides an intuitive way to visualize the sign of f_{NL} .

In position space, this non-Gaussianity can be characterized by the probability distribution function of ζ . The probability distribution is plotted in Fig. 15. Note that the tail at large and positive ζ indicates where structures are formed in the universe. Thus positive f_{NL} means more galaxies are formed given a fixed power spectrum. For the CMB sky, positive f_{NL} means there are more very cold spots than very hot spots on the CMB, and more modestly hot spots than modestly cold spots⁴⁷.



FIG. 15: Probability distribution of ζ for different f_{NL} parameters. Positive f_{NL} corresponds to the red curve in the figure. Negative f_{NL} corresponds to $\zeta \to -\zeta$ of the red curve. This figure is only for illustration purpose. The real world $|f_{NL}|$ is much smaller than the one plotted here.

The position space features of f_{NL} is intuitive to understand. However, the inflationary perturbation manifests itself in momentum space. There are much more configurations of three point function to look at, than just looking at position space probability distributions point by point. Thus the momentum space correlation functions provides a much more powerful test of non-Gaussianity than the isolated position space test.

In momentum space, the corresponding expression is

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}} = \zeta_{\mathbf{k}}^g + \frac{3}{5} f_{NL} \int \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} \zeta_{\mathbf{q}}^g \zeta_{\mathbf{q-k}}^g \,. \tag{185}$$

Inserting the expansion into the three point function, the three point function can be calculated as

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = (2\pi)^7 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3) \frac{3f_{NL}}{10k_1^3 k_2^3} P_{\zeta}(k_1) P_{\zeta}(k_2) + (\mathbf{k}_2 \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{k}_3) + (\mathbf{k}_1 \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{k}_3) , \qquad (186)$$

⁴⁶ Note the logic here: Local mechanisms (super-Hubble generation of non-Gaussianity) produces local shape non-Gaussianity. However, local shape non-Gaussianity may not necessarily be produced by local mechanisms. Nevertheless, counter examples are unknown to the best of my knowledge. On the other hand, super-Hubble conversion of non-Gaussianity does not necessarily produce local shape non-Gaussianity, as long as the non-Gaussianity is generated on sub-Hubble or Hubble scales [107, 108].

⁴⁷ On CMB cold spot means higher actual energy density. Because the CMB photon needs to climb up a bigger gravitational potential before reaching us.

This non-Gaussianity has the same shape as the first term of (183). The other two terms in Eq. (183) has different shape, but behave quite similarly.

The local ansatz (184) can be generalized to multiple species:

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i} N_{i} \delta \phi_{i}(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{ij} N_{ij} \delta \phi_{i}(\mathbf{x}) \delta \phi_{j}(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{1}{6} \sum_{ijk} N_{ijk} \delta \phi_{i}(\mathbf{x}) \delta \phi_{j}(\mathbf{x}) \delta \phi_{k}(\mathbf{x}) + \cdots$$
(187)

Note that in this generalization, the locality of non-Gaussianity is not modified. Only that multi-source of fluctuations become possible. Here the notation $N_{ij\dots}$ and $\delta\phi_i$ is used, having in mind that one can interpret $N_{ij\dots}$ as $\partial N/(\partial \phi_i \partial \phi_j \cdots)$. In this case the expansion (187) is related to the δN -formalism.

Inserting the expansion into correlation functions, at the three point level, we have

$$f_{NL} = \frac{5\sum_{ij} N_{ij} N_i N_j}{6\left(\sum_i N_i\right)^2} \,. \tag{188}$$

While for the 4-point function, we have

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_4} \rangle = (2\pi)^9 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4) \left[\frac{27}{100} g_{NL} \left(\frac{P_{\zeta}^3}{k_1^3 k_2^3 k_3^3} + 3 \text{ perm} \right) + \frac{1}{8} \tau_{NL} \left(\frac{P_{\zeta}^3}{k_1^3 k_2^3 k_{13}^3} + 11 \text{ perm} \right) \right].$$
(189)

Because of the P_{ζ}^3 factor, the four point function is also known as the trispectrum. Now even for the local shape, there are two estimators g_{NL} and τ_{NL} . In terms of the ansatz (187), we have

$$g_{NL} = \frac{25\sum_{ijk} N_{ijk} N_i N_j N_k}{54\left(\sum_i N_i^2\right)^3} , \qquad \tau_{NL} = \frac{\sum_{ijk} N_{ij} N_{ik} N_j N_k}{\left(\sum_i N_i^2\right)^3} . \tag{190}$$

Note that g_{NL} depends on N_{ijk} , which does not appear in the expression of three point functions. On the other hand, τ_{NL} is determined by N_{ij} and N_i , the same coefficients that determines f_{NL} . Thus it is interesting to see if there are relations between τ_{NL} and f_{NL} . Interestingly, such relation indeed exist. Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\sum_{ij} (A_i A_i) (B_j B_j) \ge \sum_{ij} (A_i B_i) (A_j B_j) , \qquad (191)$$

where A_i and B_j are real vectors, we have

$$\tau_{NL} \ge \frac{36}{25} f_{NL}^2 \ . \tag{192}$$

This relation is known as the Suyama-Yamaguchi relation [109]. Especially, when there is only one source of fluctuation, the above inequality takes the equal sign. Similar relations also exist for higher order correlation functions [110] or loop corrections [111].

F. Soft limits of correlation functions

1. The squeezed limit

Here we are to consider the physical meaning of the squeezed limit. When one of the momenta is much smaller than the other two, say, $k_1/k_3 \ll 1$, the k_1 mode is already super-Hubble and become classical and conserved when the modes $k_2 \simeq k_3$ exit the horizon [99]. This constant mode can be considered as just a shift of background.⁴⁸⁴⁹ Thus the three point function should reduce to the background shift of a two point function.

⁴⁸ On the other hand, if ζ is for some reason not conserved on super-Hubble scales, it cannot be considered as a shift of background. Because one can distinguish ζ and a redefinition of the background scale factor by the time evolution of ζ . Examples of this type include multi-field inflation, and a growing mode of ζ , as discussed in Secs. IV B and IV A 4 respectively.

⁴⁹ There could also be initial correlations between the three modes on sub-Hubble scales, which are stretched to super-Hubble scales as they were, and happen to provide non-vanishing squeezed limit. An example of this type is discussed in Sec. IV A 3.

To see this explicitly, one can expand $(\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2}\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3})$ with the presence of a background \mathbf{k}_1 mode [112]:

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2}\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} = (\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2}\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3})_0 + \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}\frac{\partial}{\partial\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}}(\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2}\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3}) + \cdots$$
(193)

where $\partial/\partial \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}$ can be written as a shift of background. Recall the large gauge transformation (70): via a λ -transformation, we have

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \to \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} + \lambda (2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1) , \qquad \mathbf{k} \to \mathbf{k} e^{-\lambda} , \qquad (2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1) \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \ln k} = -\frac{\partial}{H\partial t} . \tag{194}$$

To get the final equation, consider a general function $f(e^{-\lambda}k)$. We have $\partial_{\lambda}f = -e^{-\lambda}kf'$ and $\partial_{k}f = e^{-\lambda}f'$. Thus we have⁵⁰

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}} (\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3}) = -\frac{\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}}{(2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1)} \frac{\partial}{H \partial t} (\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3}) .$$
(195)

Contract this term with $\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \cdots \rangle$, we get

$$\lim_{k_1/k_3 \to 0} \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = -(2\pi)^7 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3) \frac{P_{\zeta}^2}{4k_1^3 k_3^3} (n_s - 1) .$$
(196)

This consistency relation should be satisfied when $\zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1}$ is indeed a shift of background, especially for the standard model of single field inflation. To check that, we note the shape function takes the limit

$$\lim_{k_1/k_3 \to 0} \mathcal{F}(k_1/k_3, k_2/k_3) = \frac{k_3}{4k_1} (2\epsilon + \eta) , \qquad (197)$$

Thus

$$\lim_{k_1/k_3 \to 0} \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = (2\pi)^7 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3) \frac{P_{\zeta}^2}{4k_1^3 k_3^3} (2\epsilon + \eta) .$$
(198)

Recall that the spectral index is $n_s - 1 = -2\epsilon - \eta$. Thus the consistency relation is indeed satisfied for the three point function that we just reviewed.

Comparing with the squeezed limit of Eq. (186)

$$\lim_{k_1/k_3 \to 0} \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = (2\pi)^7 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3) \frac{3f_{NL}}{5k_1^3 k_2^3} P_{\zeta}(k_1) P_{\zeta}(k_2) , \qquad (199)$$

we have for this minimal model

$$f_{NL} = -\frac{5}{12}(n_s - 1) \ . \tag{200}$$

The squeezed limit discussion of three point function can be straightforwardly generalized to higher point correlations. As a result, in the squeezed limit, we have

$$g_{NL} \propto \frac{df_{NL}}{Hdt}$$
, $h_{NL} \propto \frac{dg_{NL}}{Hdt}$, (201)

Those consistency relations can also be checked by resuming the perturbation Hamiltonian with the presence of a classical mode of perturbation [113], or a result of unitary [114] or operator produce expansion [75].

⁵⁰ The delta function on the denominator is not well defined. However, one can consider perturbations in a box and take the box size to infinity to cure this problem.



FIG. 16: Soft limit of correlation functions. In this example, we have $\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 \rightarrow 0$. The left panel illustrates momentum conservation, and the right panel illustrates the soft limit is dominated by a propagation of a soft momentum. In this limit we get $j_{NL} \propto f_{NL}g_{NL}$.

2. Soft limit of internal momenta

Additional soft limits arises for *n*-point function with n > 3. For example, now we can have $\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \cdots + \mathbf{k}_m \rightarrow 0$, $(m \le n-2)$ without any external momentum being zero (note the ordering of momentum is not important here. Thus this covers any partition of summation goes to zero). The situation is illustrated in Fig. 16.

Note that the exchanged scalar has a divergent behavior $1/k^3$ when $\mathbf{k} \equiv \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \cdots + \mathbf{k}_m \to 0$. Thus in this limit, this propagation should be the dominate diagram. The *n*-point correlation breaks into a m + 1-point correlation times a (n - m + 1)-point correlation. Note that for m > 1 and n - m > 1 (which is the requirement that \mathbf{k} is an internal momentum), the zeroth order expansion in (193) does not vanish⁵¹.

We again apply a similar argument as the squeezed limit: \mathbf{k} is a shift of background, thus $\zeta_k \sim (2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k})$. With this shift, the zeroth order expansion of (193) is not affected and thus

$$\lim_{\mathbf{k}\to 0} \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \cdots \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle = \frac{\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}}^2 \rangle}{[(2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k})]^2} \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \cdots \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_m} \rangle \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_{m+1}} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_{m+2}} \cdots \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_n} \rangle$$
(202)

Especially, in case of four point correlation function, this relation produces⁵²

$$\tau_{NL} = \frac{36}{25} f_{NL}^2 \ . \tag{203}$$

Once we relax the single degree of freedom assumption, there can be more than one mode propagating as the soft mode. Also the propagating mode could contribute a different shift of the background. In this case

$$\tau_{NL} \ge \frac{36}{25} f_{NL}^2 \ . \tag{204}$$

This is again the Suyama-Yamaguchi relation.

3. Usage of unitarity

Here we derive the Suyama-Yamaguchi relation once more, by showing that the Suyama-Yamaguchi relation is actually a special example of optical theorem in cosmology [114]. The main purpose of this subsection is to illustrate the unitarity method, and how to cut cosmological Feynman diagrams in general, despite that the same relation has already been derived twice in this review⁵³.

In the in-in formalism, an expectation value can be calculated as

$$\langle Q(t) \rangle = \langle F^{\dagger} Q_I(t) F \rangle , \qquad (205)$$

⁵¹ Even for m = 1, the zeroth order expansion may not vanish if there are tadpole contribution to the background. However, one can cancel this tadpole before doing the whole calculation. Or one can take the tadpole into account in the correlation function level, and the conclusion should not change.

⁵² Note that for more general shape of non-Gaussianity, this relation is in general an integral relation in momentum space, which manifests itself better in position space [114, 115].

 $^{^{53}}$ I thank Miao Li, Chunshan Lin and Shinji Mukohyama for discussion for the contents in this section.

$$F \equiv F(t, t_0) = T \exp\left(-i \int_{t_0}^t H_I(t) dt\right) , \qquad (206)$$

and $Q_I(t)$ is the corresponding operator in the interaction picture. To be explicit, we have

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = \langle F^{\dagger} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} F \rangle \tag{207}$$

and

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{q}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{q}_2} \rangle = \langle F^{\dagger} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{q}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{q}_2} F \rangle , \qquad (208)$$

For the time being, we restrict our attention to the states that created by a single field operator. Because in the folded limit, a single internal propagator should be dominate considering that $P(k) \sim 1/k^3$. Thus we consider the unitarity formula restricted to those states, and the limitations will be addressed in later sections. In the Heisenberg picture, the states are time independent and thus even in a FRW background we have

$$\mathbf{1} = \sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} |\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}\rangle \langle \phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}| = \sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\frac{\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}}{u_{p}^{(i)}}\right)^{*} |0\rangle \langle 0| \left(\frac{\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}}{u_{p}^{(i)}}\right) , \qquad (209)$$

where $u_p^{(i)}$ is the mode function of $\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}$, defined as

$$\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)} = u_p^{(i)} a_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)} + (u_p^{(i)})^* (a_{-\mathbf{p}}^{(i)})^\dagger .$$
(210)

A one particle state (well before horizon crossing) is defined as

$$|\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}\rangle = (a_{-\mathbf{p}}^{(i)})^{\dagger}|0\rangle = \left(\frac{\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)}}{u_{p}^{(i)}}\right)^{*}|0\rangle .$$

$$(211)$$

This is because in the very early times⁵⁴, the perturbation modes live in flat spacetime.

In the interaction picture, the operators evolves with the free Hamiltonian. While the states evolves with the interaction Hamiltonian, with time evolution operator F as $|0\rangle \rightarrow F|0\rangle$. Thus we have⁵⁵

$$\mathbf{1} = \sum_{i} \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{|u_p^{(i)}|^2} \phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)} F|0\rangle \langle 0|F^{\dagger}(\phi_{\mathbf{p}}^{(i)})^{\dagger} .$$
(212)

Note that the RHS of this relation has time dependence. This relation holds at any time when field content of the model do not change, or change trivially. For example, a single field component decays into radiation can be considered as a trivial change, when the interested p is on super-Hubble scales. This is because on super-Hubble scales, a scalar field and a fluid share the same properties, and can be calculated in the same way in the in-in formalism. On the other hand, curvaton decay in the curvaton scenario cannot be considered as a trivial change of field content, if the curvaton is decayed into the same radiation as the inflaton decay product. This is because there is a reduction of low energy degrees of freedom in this case.

One should also note that (212) itself is not the unitarity condition. Rather it is derived from the unitarity relation from sub-Hubble time scales. Thus a violation of (212) such as a non-trivial change of field content is nothing scared. It could be simply a violation of the derivation procedure of (212), instead of a violation of unitarity. For example, there could exist monopoles, bound states or other non-local objects in Minkowski space, with radius greater than the horizon size when putting the fields onto de Sitter background. Those states cannot exist any longer because of causal considerations, and thus may signal an apparent shortage of states in de Sitter.

⁵⁴ We shall eventually contract this integration momentum \mathbf{p} with $\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2$. Thus here "early" means well before the horizon crossing of the comoving wave number $\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2$.

⁵⁵ Note that in general there is also $|0\rangle\langle 0|$, which contributes the sum. But here we are only interested in the connected components in the correlation function. Thus this term is ignored.

By inserting equation (212) into the calculation of in-in formalism, we have

$$\tau_{NL}(k,t) = \sum_{i} \frac{P^{(i)}(k,t)}{P(k,t)} \left(\frac{6}{5} f_{NL}^{(i)}(k,t)\right)^2 + \cdots,$$
(213)

where \cdots denote the corrections that cannot be expressed by (212), (say, non-trivial change of field content, bound states, two particle states via loop diagram, and not-so-folded contributions.

IV. INFLATION MODELS

So far, we have almost restricted our attention to the minimal model of inflation. On the other hand, there are a vast number of inflation models around. Those models brings various novel predictions. Here we introduce some of those models.

A. General single field inflation

In the case of single field inflation, there are already a lot of possibilities for generalization.

1. Generalizing the Lagrangian

The dynamics of inflation is determined by its Lagrangian. Thus towards generalization of the minimal inflation model, it is natural to consider how to generalize its Lagrangian. Here we restrict our attention to the scalar sector⁵⁶ An immediate question is if we can generalize the potential. The answer is almost negative, considering we have

An inimediate question is if we can generalize the potential. The answer is annost negative, considering we have already considered the potential as a general function of ϕ in the minimal model. However, this is not the end of the story. We have assumed $V(\phi)$ is single valued. One could consider multiple

However, this is not the end of the story. We have assumed $V(\phi)$ is single valued. One could consider multiple valued $V(\phi)$, for example ϕ moving on a monodromy potential. This opens up interesting possibilities such as large field inflation in string theory [116]. One could also consider features or small oscillations on the potential. The inflaton could either tunnel though the potential [117, 118], or rolling but with slow roll conditions violated (see Sec. IV D).

Now let us go beyond modifying potential. The task is to find a general scalar Lagrangian, which is well behaved theoretically. Especially the Lagrangian should be ghost free. Otherwise either the theory is not consistent, or we are not expanding around the correct vacuum⁵⁷ or imposing the correct boundary conditions⁵⁸.

The ghost free requirement can be expressed in more explicit terms. Consider we have some background, and want to quantize small perturbations on this background:

First of all, we would like to restrict our attention to the theories with correct sign of the kinetic term: $S = \int d^4x (+\dot{\delta \phi}^2 + \cdots)$ instead of $S = \int d^4x (-\dot{\delta \phi}^2 + \cdots)$. Ghost is not welcome to physics [123]. To see this, note that the propagator is the inverse of the second order action. Thus a wrong sign kinetic term results in a wrong sign of the propagator ⁵⁹

$$\frac{-i}{p^2 - m^2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{-i}{p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon} \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{-i}{p^2 - m^2 - i\epsilon} \ . \tag{214}$$

We yet have the freedom to choose the sign of $i\epsilon$ term for the ghost. However, if we choose the plus sign, the imaginary part of (214) has different sign from normal particle. Thus the optical theorem is violated and there is no probabilistic interpretation of the theory. On the other hand, if the minus sign is chosen, negative energy modes propagate forward in time. Thus the ghost particle carry negative energy. In this case the vacuum decays into ghost particles even

⁵⁶ One may use higher spin fields or modified gravity as inflaton as well. We shall not step into this huge literature in this review.

⁵⁷ In this case, a ghost condensate [119, 120] may drive us to the correct vacuum, as in the case of tachyon condensate.

⁵⁸ We typically impose simplest boundary conditions such that the field approach its classical value and quantum fluctuation vanishes at infinity. However, if alternative boundary conditions are imposed, such as that imposed in \mathcal{PT} -symmetric quantum mechanics, the ghost may be eliminated [121, 122].

⁵⁹ Here we work in flat space. Because in the UV, cosmological background returns to flat space. And the ghost is already troublesome enough in the UV.

if ghost and other particles only interact gravitationally. Even worse, the decay rate for vacuum to decay into two photon and two ghost particles is

$$\Gamma \sim \frac{\Lambda^8}{M_p^4} , \qquad (215)$$

where Λ is the UV cutoff of Lorentz violation. Thus in a Lorentz invariant theory, the decay rate is divergent. The divergence is physical: in each frame there is a non-vanishing decay rate and one has to integrate over the infinite volume of Lorentz group. Any small decay rate is forbidden.

Secondly, we require the equation of motion for perturbations to be second order in time derivatives. This is because, in a higher order derivative theory (for example, 4th order), the propagator can be written as

$$\frac{i}{(p^2 - m_1^2)(p^2 - m_2^2)} = \frac{1}{m_1^2 - m_2^2} \left[\frac{i}{p^2 - m_1^2} - \frac{i}{p^2 - m_2^2} \right] .$$
(216)

Thus one of the two terms behaves as a $ghost^{60}$.

We would like to emphasize that the above requirements are imposed on the perturbations. The background could still have higher orders derivatives as long as perturbations are well behaved.

The minimal inflation model is definitely ghost free. However, it is not the most general ghost free theory. Instead, the most general theory of a scalar, coupled to gravity and with second order equation of motion for perturbations, is [127–129]

$$\mathcal{L} = P(\phi, X) - G_3(\phi, X) \Box \phi + G_4(\phi, X) R + G_{4,X} \left[(\Box \phi)^2 - (\nabla_\mu \nabla_\nu \phi)^2 \right] + G_5(\phi, X) G_{\mu\nu} \nabla^\mu \nabla^\nu \phi - \frac{1}{6} G_{5,X} \left[(\Box \phi)^3 - 3 \Box \phi (\nabla_\mu \nabla_\nu \phi)^2 + 2 (\nabla_\mu \nabla_\nu \phi)^3 \right] .$$
(217)

where P, G_3, G_4, G_5 are arbitrary functions of ϕ and $X \equiv -(\partial \phi)^2/2$, and $G_{4,X}$ and $G_{5,X}$ denote derivatives with respect to X. For perturbations, the high order time derivatives are removed by integration by parts. One still need to be careful about the correct sign of the kinetic term, which cuts about half of the parameter space. The linear perturbations are considered in [129] and the non-Gaussianities are calculated in [130].

Historically, the $P(\phi, X)$ term in the (217) is considered as K-inflation [131, 132]. Later the G_3 term is added inspired by the Galilean symmetry [133, 134]. And finally the most general form (217) is rediscovered in the context of cosmology.

The full theory of (217) is complicated and we are not going into the details here. However, it is interesting to consider the simplest non-minimal case of the theory, where $\mathcal{L} = P(\phi, X)$, and all other terms vanish [131, 132, 135, 136]. In this case, by varying the action with respect to the metric, the energy density takes the form

$$\rho = 2XP_{,X} - P \ . \tag{218}$$

And one can find the pressure is $p = P(\phi, X)$. The Friedmann equation and the continuity equation still hold:

$$3M_p^2 H^2 = \rho$$
, $\dot{\rho} + 3H(\rho + p) = 0$. (219)

For the theory of perturbations, we work in the ζ -gauge. The second order action can be derived as

$$S_2 = \int dt d^3x \left[a^3 \frac{\epsilon}{c_s^2} \dot{\zeta}^2 - a\epsilon (\partial \zeta)^2 \right] , \qquad (220)$$

where

$$c_s^2 = \frac{P_{,X}}{P_{,X} + 2XP_{,XX}} \ . \tag{221}$$

Note that in the minimal inflation scenario, where P(X) = X and $c_s^2 = 1$. However here this parameter is generalized, and can be understood as the sound speed of the perturbations. This is because now the temporal and spatial directions have different weight in the action.

 $^{^{60}}$ It may be fine if the Lagrangian has infinite orders of time derivatives which resums to a ghost-free form [124–126].

To solve the linear perturbation equations, one typically assumes slow variation of c_s : $s \equiv \dot{c}_s/(Hc_s) \ll 1$. In this case, the ζ field can be quantized and solved as

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}} = u_k a_{\mathbf{k}} + u_k^* a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} , \qquad u_k = \frac{H}{M_p \sqrt{4\epsilon c_s k^3}} (1 + ikc_s \tau) e^{-ikc_s \tau} .$$
(222)

Note again that now the oscillation factor in the time direction is $e^{-ikc_s\tau}$. On the other hand, the spatial Fourier transform still has the same factor $e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}}$. Thus a propagating wave described by this Lagrangian has a modified speed.

The power spectrum can be calculated as

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{H^2}{8\pi^2 M_p^2 c_s \epsilon} . \tag{223}$$

The only difference from the minimal inflation model is the factor of c_s . When $c_s^2 < 1$, this is an enhancement factor. The quantum fluctuations are larger because the perturbations are frozen at a smaller horizon.

For non-Gaussianities, the leading order terms in the slow roll approximation is [136]

$$S_{3} = \int dt d^{3}x \ a^{3} \left\{ -\left[\Sigma \left(1 - \frac{1}{c_{s}^{2}} \right) + 2\lambda \right] \frac{\dot{\zeta}^{3}}{H^{3}} - \frac{3\epsilon}{c_{s}^{4}} (1 - c_{s}^{2})\zeta\dot{\zeta}^{2} + \frac{\epsilon}{a^{2}c_{s}^{2}} (1 - c_{s}^{2})\zeta(\partial\zeta)^{2} \right\} ,$$
(224)

where

$$\Sigma \equiv XP_{,X} + 2X^2 P_{,XX} = \frac{H^2 \epsilon}{c_s^2} , \qquad \lambda \equiv X^2 P_{,XX} + \frac{2}{3} X^3 P_{,XXX} .$$
 (225)

Using some integration by parts and making use of the equation of motion, (224) can further be simplified into⁶¹

$$S_3 = \int dt d^3 x \ a^3 \left\{ -2\frac{\lambda}{H^3} \dot{\zeta}^3 + \frac{\Sigma}{a^2 H^3} (1 - c_s^2) \dot{\zeta} (\partial \zeta)^2 \right\} , \qquad (226)$$

Using the in-in formalism, the bispectrum can be calculated as

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle = (2\pi)^7 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3) \frac{P_{\zeta}^2}{k_1^2 k_2^2 k_3^2} \mathcal{F}(k_1/k_3, k_2/k_3) , \qquad (227)$$

where

$$\mathcal{F} = \left(\frac{1}{c_s^2} - 1 - \frac{2\lambda}{\Sigma}\right) \frac{3k_1k_2k_3}{2(k_1 + k_2 + k_3)^3} \\ + \left(\frac{1}{c_s^2} - 1\right) \left[-\frac{k_1^2k_2^2 + k_1^2k_3^2 + k_2^2k_3^2}{k_1k_2k_3(k_1 + k_2 + k_3)} + \frac{k_1^2k_2^3 + k_1^2k_3^3 + k_2^2k_3^3 + k_2^2k_1^3 + k_3^2k_1^3 + k_3^2k_2^3}{2k_1k_2k_3(k_1 + k_2 + k_3)^2} + \frac{k_1^3 + k_2^3 + k_3^3}{8k_1k_2k_3} \right] .$$
(228)

In the squeezed limit $k_1/k_2 \to 0$, it is clear that the first term vanishes proportional to k_1/k_2 . The second term appears divergent. However, both the divergence and the constant term near $k_1/k_2 \to 0$ actually cancel. To see this, consider the limit $k_1 \to 0$ with $k_3 \to k_2 + \alpha k_1$. In this limit,

$$\mathcal{F} = \left(\frac{1}{c_s^2} - 1 - \frac{2\lambda}{\Sigma}\right)\frac{3k_1}{2k_2} + \left(\frac{1}{c_s^2} - 1\right)\frac{(5\alpha^2 - 11)k_1}{16k_2} + \mathcal{O}(k_1^2) \ . \tag{229}$$

Thus $\mathcal{F} \propto k_1/k_2$ near $k_1/k_2 \rightarrow 0$, where the linear term depends on how the squeezed limit is taken. The shape functions are plotted in Fig. 17. The left and right panels are respectively the normalized shape functions

$$\frac{27k_1k_2k_3}{(k_1+k_2+k_3)^3}, \quad -\frac{24}{7} \left[-\frac{k_1^2k_2^2+k_1^2k_3^2+k_2^2k_3^2}{k_1k_2k_3(k_1+k_2+k_3)} + \frac{k_1^2k_2^3+k_1^2k_3^3+k_2^2k_3^3+k_2^2k_1^3+k_3^2k_1^3+k_3^2k_2^3}{2k_1k_2k_3(k_1+k_2+k_3)^2} + \frac{k_1^3+k_2^3+k_3^3}{8k_1k_2k_3} \right].$$

$$(230)$$

⁶¹ This same form of Lagrangian can also be obtained by starting from the $\delta\phi$ -gauge and do a gauge transformation to the ζ -gauge. To get those leading order terms, the gravitational interaction in the $\delta\phi$ -gauge can be ignored. And the gauge transformation only needs to be expanded into the leading order $\delta\phi = -\dot{\phi}\zeta/H$. Thus the calculation is much simplified in the $\delta\phi$ -gauge plus gauge transformation way.

Those shapes are known as equilateral shapes. Note that those shape functions are not separable. In other words, the shape functions cannot be written in the form $\sum_i c_i f_i^{(1)}(k_1) f_i^{(2)}(k_2) f_i^{(3)}(k_3)$. Technically it is much harder to do data analysis of non-separable shapes than separable ones. For this purpose, some shape templates are proposed to mimic the equilateral shapes [137]: The equilateral template

and the orthogonal template

$$\mathcal{F}_{o} = 6\left(-8 - \frac{3k_{1}^{2}}{k_{2}k_{3}} - \frac{3k_{2}^{2}}{k_{1}k_{3}} - \frac{3k_{3}^{2}}{k_{2}k_{1}} + 3k_{1}/k_{2} + 3k_{1}/k_{3} + 3k_{2}/k_{1} + 3k_{2}/k_{3} + 3k_{3}/k_{1} + 3k_{3}/k_{2}\right) .$$
(232)

Those templates are plotted in Fig. 18.

(a) equilateral shape 1

(b) equilateral shape 2



FIG. 17: The left and right panels are the first and second terms of Eq. (230). They are equilateral shapes.



FIG. 18: Left panel: the equilateral template $\mathcal{F}_e/6$. Right panel: the orthogonal template $\mathcal{F}_o/6$.

The trispectrum of this $P(X, \phi)$ theory can also be calculated using the in-in formalism [98, 138]. It is useful to note that non-trivial transformation (181) between the Lagrangian to the Hamiltonian has to be considered. Also the scalar propagation diagram (like the right panel of Fig. 16) needs to be included.

2. Effective field theory of perturbations

In this subsection, we take a different point of view for extending the cosmic perturbation theory. Unlike the previous section, here we assume an inflationary background, and see what is the general perturbation theory living on that

background. This approach is known as the effective field theory (EFT) approach for inflationary perturbations [139] (see also, [140, 141]).

As in the general discussion of EFT, any operator respecting the symmetry of the theory could appear in the Lagrangian. The relative importance of those operators are determined by the dimension of the operator. Operators with higher dimensions are suppressed more by the UV cutoff scale of the EFT.

Now we are to write down all possible terms for perturbations. Considering that there are many possibilities, it is helpful to choose a gauge to reduce the number of terms. The gauge to choose here is the ζ -gauge, where $\delta \phi = 0$. In this gauge, the most general Lagrangian for single field inflation, with the foliation-preserving diff-invariance $x^i \to x^i + \xi^i(t, \mathbf{x})$ is

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} M_p^2 R - c(t) g^{00} - \Lambda(t) + \frac{1}{2} M_2^4(t) (g^{00} + 1)^2 + \frac{1}{6} M_3^4(t) (g^{00} + 1)^3 - \frac{\bar{M}_1^3(t)}{2} (g^{00} + 1) \delta K_\mu^\mu - \frac{\bar{M}_2^2(t)}{2} (\delta K_\mu^\mu)^2 - \frac{\bar{M}_3^2(t)}{2} \delta K_\nu^\mu \delta K_\mu^\nu + \cdots \right] ,$$
(233)

where $\delta K_{\mu\nu} \equiv K_{\mu\nu} - a^2 H h_{\mu\nu}$. The dots stand for higher order terms (including higher order in perturbation variable ζ and higher order in derivatives), that can be written down straightforwardly if needed. It can be shown that other operators as $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$, R^{00} , ${}^{(3)}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$, etc can be rewritten in terms of the above operators, up to some total derivatives. Expanding around the FRW background, one finds

$$c(t) = -M_p^2 \dot{H}$$
, $\Lambda(t) = M_p^2 (3H^2 + \dot{H})$. (234)

The form of (233) is not yet very useful. This is because we have to solve all the complicated gravitational interactions, which is possible but messy. Fortunately, there are a hierarchy of energy scales in the theory, among which the Planck mass is the highest. This implies the existence of a range of energy where gravitational interactions decouple.

To find this range of energy, together with the simplified action with decoupled gravity, we should go away from the ζ -gauge. As we discussed in previous sections, there are a lot of cancellations in the ζ -gauge, which makes decoupling not transparent at all.

The ζ -gauge is chosen by picking up a specific time coordinate. Thus the ζ -gauge can be undone by promoting the ζ -gauge time to a scalar field $T(t, \mathbf{x})$, such that in the ζ -gauge, $T_{\zeta}(t_{\zeta}, \mathbf{x}) = t_{\zeta}$ (where the subscript ζ denotes quantity in the ζ -gauge). Now consider a general gauge

$$t = t_{\zeta} - \pi(t, \mathbf{x}) . \tag{235}$$

 $T(t, \mathbf{x})$ transforms as a scale field thus

$$T(t, \mathbf{x}) = T_{\zeta}(t_{\zeta}, \mathbf{x}) = T_{\zeta}(t + \pi(t, \mathbf{x}), \mathbf{x}) = t + \pi .$$
(236)

Now we are ready to make the ζ -gauge quantities into tensors from $T(t, \mathbf{x})$:

 $\delta_{\mu}^{(0)}$

$$\partial_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} t \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \partial_{\mu} T = \partial_{\mu} (t + \pi) = \delta^{0}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu} \pi , \qquad (237)$$

$$g^{0\mu} = \delta^0_{\nu} g^{\mu\nu} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad g^{0\mu} + g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \pi , \qquad (238)$$

$$g^{00} = \delta^0_\mu \delta^0_\nu g^{\mu\nu} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad g^{00} + 2g^{0\mu} \partial_\mu \pi + g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \pi \partial_\nu \pi , \qquad (239)$$

$$n_{\mu} = -\frac{\delta^{0}_{\mu}}{\sqrt{-g^{00}}} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad -\frac{\delta^{0}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\pi}{\sqrt{-g^{00} - 2g^{0\mu}\partial_{\mu}\pi - g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\pi\partial_{\nu}\pi}} , \qquad (240)$$

where the left column are unitary gauge quantities and the right column are quantity without choosing a gauge. By doing the above replacements to the action (233), together with the replacement (235), we return from the ζ -gauge to a general coordinate system without choosing a gauge:

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} M_p^2 R - M_p^2 \left[3H^2(t+\pi) + \dot{H}(t+\pi) \right] \right. \\ \left. + M_p^2 \dot{H}(t+\pi) \left[(1+\dot{\pi})^2 g^{00} + 2(1+\dot{\pi})\partial_i \pi g^{0i} + g^{ij}\partial_i \pi \partial_j \pi \right] \right. \\ \left. + \frac{M_2^4(t+\pi)}{2} \left[(1+\dot{\pi})^2 g^{00} + 2(1+\dot{\pi})\partial_i \pi g^{0i} + g^{ij}\partial_i \pi \partial_j \pi + 1 \right]^2 \right. \\ \left. + \frac{M_3^4(t+\pi)}{2} \left[(1+\dot{\pi})^2 g^{00} + 2(1+\dot{\pi})\partial_i \pi g^{0i} + g^{ij}\partial_i \pi \partial_j \pi + 1 \right]^3 + \cdots \right\},$$
(241)

where we neglect more terms in \cdots for simplicity.

After re-obtaining the gauge invariant action, we are free to choose the $\delta\phi$ -gauge (or any other gauge close to the $\delta\phi$ -gauge, like the Newtonian gauge). The advantage of $\delta\phi$ -gauge, or any gauge which is close to that, is that *near* the horizon crossing, gravity is weakly coupled and only provide slow roll suppressed corrections. An example of this statement can be found in Eq. (77). More generally, we can compare the terms with and without dynamical gravity in the new action, and conclude: The decoupling energy range for matter perturbations from gravity is⁶²

$$\frac{k}{a} \gg \omega_{\text{mix}} = \max\left(\frac{\ddot{\phi}}{HM_p}, \frac{\dot{\phi}}{M_p}, \frac{M_2^2}{M_p}, \cdots\right) , \qquad (242)$$

where the dots denotes other scales (not shown in (241)) that could appear, which are also suppressed by M_p . Note that $\dot{\phi}/M_p \sim \sqrt{\epsilon}H$, and $\ddot{\phi}/(HM_p) \sim \sqrt{\eta}H$. This result is intuitive to understand: when all scales appearing in the theory are smaller than M_p , gravity should be weak.

However, when $k/a < \omega_{\text{mix}}$, things are different. Because small physical wave number means large length scales. And gravity accumulates on large length scales. Huge lump of matter makes gravity coupling non-neglectable. As an explicit example, the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon\eta)$ terms in the gravitational action (165) produce non-Gaussianities $f_{NL} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon, \eta)$ on energy scales $k/a < \omega_{\text{mix}}^{63}$.

Nevertheless, if we are interested in physics of $k/a \gg \omega_{\text{mix}}$, or non-Gaussianity with $f_{NL} \gg \mathcal{O}(\epsilon, \eta)$, it is safe to use the action with gravity (including the constraints in the gravity sector) decoupled:

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} M_p^2 R - M_p^2 \dot{H} \left(\dot{\pi}^2 - \frac{(\partial_i \pi)^2}{a^2} \right) + 2M_2^4 \left(\dot{\pi}^2 + \dot{\pi}^3 - \dot{\pi} \frac{(\partial_i \pi)^2}{a^2} \right) - \frac{4}{3} M_3^4 \dot{\pi}^3 + \cdots \right\} .$$
(243)

Eq. (243) recovers the action (224), without referring to a background model explicitly. Moreover, in the \cdots terms we neglected here (but can be recovered straightforwardly), a much wider class of models are covered, for example, ghost inflation [120, 142, 143].

Although we have put the EFT approach here as a generalization of single field inflation, the usage of EFT is not limited to single field (or field theory at all). Instead, the EFT approach can be used widely in cosmology, including applications in multi-field inflation [144], quasi-single field inflation [145, 146] and large scale structures [147].

3. Generalizing the initial condition

In the previous subsections we have discussed how the operators of inflation could be generalized, on the full and perturbation level respectively. However, physical observables not only depend on operators but also depend on states. We have argued that it is natural to choose the initially lowest energy state as the vacuum state. But yet there can be generalizations.

The simplest generalization follows from Eq. (33). Written in terms of the mode function of comoving curvature perturbation ζ , we have [136]

$$u_k = \frac{H}{\sqrt{4\epsilon k^3}} \left[C_k^{(+)} (1+ik\tau) e^{-ik\tau} + C_k^{(-)} (1-ik\tau) e^{ik\tau} \right] \,. \tag{244}$$

One can turn on the $C_k^{(-)}$ component, with $|C_k^{(+)}|^2 - |C_k^{(-)}|^2 = 1$. In this case, we have for the power spectrum

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{H^2}{8\pi^2 \epsilon M_p^2} \left| C_k^{(+)} + C_k^{(-)} \right|^2 \,. \tag{245}$$

In case $C_k^{(\pm)}$ have some phase-sensitive k-dependence, there could be small oscillations on top of the nearly scale invariant power spectrum.

⁶² Note that the ω_{mix} should be understood as a wave number instead of an energy scale. Because we are comparing ω_{mix} with k/a. On super-Hubble scales there are a huge number of particles in perturbation mode k thus the corresponding actual energy is much greater than ω_{mix} .

⁶³ The relation between local f_{NL} and ω_{mix} can be estimated as follows: EFT approach (with decoupled gravity) predicts vanishing squeezed limit. And on super-Hubble scales, the time dependence of ζ decays as $\dot{\zeta} \propto [k/(aH)]^2$. Thus the gravitational non-Gaussianity, coming from $k/a < \omega_{\text{mix}}$, should be at most of order $f_{NL} \propto (\omega_{\text{mix}}/H)^2 \propto \max(\epsilon, \eta)$. And we have checked the local f_{NL} is indeed of this order.

Things become more interesting at the level of non-Gaussianity. We restrict our attention to a small non-BD component $|C_k^{(-)}| \ll |C_k^{(+)}|$. Including a factor of $C_k^{(-)}/C_k^{(+)}$ effectively flips the sign of k (sign of amplitude, not the vector direction of **k**). Recall that we had a shape function

$$\frac{k_1^2 k_2^2 + k_1^2 k_3^2 + k_2^2 k_3^2}{k_1 k_2 k_3 (k_1 + k_2 + k_3)} \tag{246}$$

in Eq. (183) of the minimal inflation model. With sign flip of the k_i 's⁶⁴, we get

$$\operatorname{Re}[C_k^{(-)}] \frac{k_1^2 k_2^2 + k_1^2 k_3^2 + k_2^2 k_3^2}{k_1 k_2 k_3} \left[\frac{1}{-k_1 + k_2 + k_3} + \frac{1}{k_1 - k_2 + k_3} + \frac{1}{k_1 + k_2 - k_3} \right] .$$
(247)

This shape function blows up at the folded triangle limit $k_2 + k_3 \rightarrow k_1$, or its permutations. This folded shape is plotted in Fig. 19. In the squeezed limit $k_1/k_2 \rightarrow 0$, $k_3 = \alpha k_2$, this shape function behaves as

$$\operatorname{Re}[C_k^{(-)}] \frac{k_2^2}{k_1^2} \frac{2}{1-\alpha^2} , \qquad (248)$$

which blows up dramatically – More quickly than the local shape, and depends on how the limit is taken.

However, we need to be careful in interpreting the divergence at the folded limit. This is because this divergence originates in the UV. On the one hand, it is tricky to define the UV limit of a non-vacuum state. On the other hand, the $i\epsilon$ prescription of selecting the interacting vacuum no longer works for an excited state. One may put a cutoff by hand to cure those problems phenomenologically [136]. However, the prediction is sensitive to the detailed cutoff scheme and thus sensitive to the UV physics [148]. An explicit UV completion of physics above the cutoff can be found in [149].



FIG. 19: A plot of the shape function (247).

4. Generalizing the attractor behavior

Inflation is attractive as an attractor solution. And we have implicitly used this nature in various places. In case that during a period of time the attractor behavior is violated, the inflationary perturbations could behave differently.

For example, typically we consider an inflaton field rolling down its potential. However, what happens when the inflaton use its kinetic energy to climb up a potential?

Note that the kinetic energy of the inflaton itself has equation of state $p_{kin} = \rho_{kin}$. Thus even there is no potential, the kinetic energy dilutes as $\rho_{kin} \propto a^{-6}$. With a potential, the kinetic energy could only dilute faster. Thus we get $\eta \leq -6$ during the climbing up stage of the potential.

⁶⁴ Note that only the k in the $(1+ik\tau)e^{-ik\tau}$ part of the mode function is flipped. The $\frac{H}{\sqrt{4\epsilon k^3}}$ part of the mode function does not change.

Recall the equation of motion for the comoving curvature perturbation:

$$\ddot{\zeta} + H(3+\eta)\dot{\zeta} + \frac{k^2}{a^2}\zeta = 0.$$
(249)

When $\eta < 3$, ζ effectively live in a contracting universe (though the actual universe is expanding). As a result, the conventionally decaying mode of ζ becomes a growing mode and dominates over the constant mode. One can show that when $\eta \simeq -6$, the power spectrum is still scale invariant. However the non-Gaussianity becomes $f_{NL} \sim 5/2$, which is not only order one but also breaks the consistency relation of single field inflation [150, 151]. One may further enhance this local non-Gaussianity by considering a small sound speed [148]. Qualitatively, the behavior of the perturbations are similar to the case of bouncing cosmology [152].

B. Multi-field inflation

Here we generalize inflation towards another direction: including more light fields.

1. Adiabatic and entropy perturbations

The status of perfect fluid can be described by its energy density $\rho(t, \mathbf{x})$, pressure $p(t, \mathbf{x})$ and velocity $v^i(t, \mathbf{x})$. On super-Hubble scales $v^i(t, \mathbf{x})$ decays exponentially thus the status of the perfect fluid is determined by $\rho(t, \mathbf{x})$ and $p(t, \mathbf{x})$.

Further, if the fluid has only one component, p is determined by ρ as $p = p(\rho)$. In this case, we denote the fluctuation of the fluid as *adiabatic perturbation*. If it is not the case, we can parameterize p as

$$p = p(\rho, s_i) . \tag{250}$$

Recall that when there is no entropy perturbation, the comoving curvature perturbation is conserved, following Eq. (95), on uniform energy density slice $\rho = \rho(t)$:

$$H(t) + \dot{\zeta}(t, \mathbf{x}) = -\frac{1}{3} \frac{\dot{\rho}(t)}{\rho(t) + p(\rho, s_i)} .$$
(251)

Thus we can define the non-adiabatic part of pressure according to the derivation from this equation.

Consider a general situation without choosing a gauge. We note:

$$p \equiv p_0(t) + \delta p(t, \mathbf{x}), \qquad \delta p(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\dot{p}_0}{\dot{\rho}_0} \delta \rho + \frac{\partial p}{\partial s_i} \left(\delta s_i - \frac{\dot{s}_i}{\dot{\rho}} \delta \rho \right) + \cdots , \qquad (252)$$

where \cdots denotes higher order terms in perturbations.

It is the second term which make ζ change on super-Hubble scales. Thus we can define the non-adiabatic part of $p(\rho, s_i)$ as [153]

$$\delta p_{\rm nad} \equiv \frac{\partial p}{\partial s_i} \left(\delta s_i - \frac{\dot{s}_i}{\dot{\rho}} \delta \rho \right) + \dots = \delta p - \frac{\dot{p}_0}{\dot{\rho}_0} \delta \rho \ . \tag{253}$$

This non-adiabatic part, or entropy part of pressure has clear physical meaning: It is the difference of equation of state, between perturbing the fluid and evolving the fluid in time. When there is such a difference, perturbation in the universe cannot be considered as a pure time shift between different local universes.

Now we identify the adiabatic and entropy perturbations for inflation. In case there are multiple rolling⁶⁵ fields $(\phi_1, \phi_2, \dots, \phi_n)$. We can rotate the basis in the field space of those fields, such that there is only one rolling field [154, 155]. This can be done by considering basis vector

$$e_1^i \equiv \frac{\dot{\phi}_i^{(0)}}{\sqrt{\sum_j \dot{\phi}_j^{(0)}}} , \qquad (254)$$

⁶⁵ Originally very massive fields are not rolling, and remain not rolling after this rotate of basis.

where superscript (0) denotes the background level of the field, without perturbations. And the other (n-1) basis vector are defined as the orthogonal directions. The rotated fields, including the background and the perturbations, are defined as

$$\chi_a \equiv e_a^i \phi_i \ . \tag{255}$$

After this change of basis, the adiabatic direction, or called the inflation direction, is χ_1 . All other directions χ_2, \dots, χ_n has $\dot{\chi}_i = 0$. In words, those fields in the new basis then have flat potential thus not rolling. Those non-rolling fields does not contribute energy density or pressure at leading order in field perturbations. Thus at leading order perturbation theory, the fluctuation of those field are entropy perturbations. This decomposition is illustrated in Fig. 20.



FIG. 20: Redefining the field directions for multi-field inflation. The χ_1 direction is the inflationary direction and the perturbation on χ_1 direction is the adiabatic perturbation. The other directions are on the hypersurface perpendicular to χ_1 . Fluctuations on those directions are entropy perturbations.

When the inflation trajectory is straight in field space, the basis vectors e_a^i are time independent and the rotation is trivial. Otherwise the basis vectors e_a^i are time dependent.

For models with standard kinetic term, and at linear order in perturbations, χ_1 is coupled to χ_2, \dots, χ_n direction only through a rotation of basis. In the case of straight trajectory those directions decouple. This is because vanishing $\dot{\chi}_2, \dots$ and $\partial V/\partial \chi_2, \dots$ forbid direct coupling.

On super-Hubble scales, a time dependence of ζ can be generated by this turning of trajectory:

$$\dot{\zeta} = -\frac{H}{\rho + p}\delta p_{\text{nad}} = -\frac{2H}{\dot{\chi}_1}\dot{e}_1^i\delta\phi_i \ . \tag{256}$$

Thus the adiabatic perturbation is sourced by the entropy perturbation along the \dot{e}_1^i direction. Note that the \dot{e}_1^i direction is perpendicular to e_1^i . It is sometimes convenient [156] to take this direction as e_2^i :

$$e_2^i = \frac{\dot{e}_1^i}{\sqrt{\sum_j \dot{e}_1^j}} \ . \tag{257}$$

In this case the e_2^i direction is the source of time dependent ζ on super-Hubble scales.

Note that those new add-ons of curvature perturbation come from different source from the quantum fluctuation of the original inflaton direction. Thus the power spectrum P_{ζ} tends to increase instead of decrease, with the presence of turning of trajectory. It is in general difficult to suppress the adiabatic perturbation, once it is generated [157–159].

Before going into detailed models, a few comments are in order here:

- The adiabatic/entropy perturbations are also called curvature/isocurvature perturbations.
- Note that we have defined two versions for adiabatic and entropy perturbations: one for fluid and the other for field from rotating basis. They coincide at first order in perturbation theory, and super-Hubble scales. At second order perturbation theory, the classification of adiabatic/isocurvature perturbation becomes not unique. One can consistently use either of them. Also on sub-Hubble scales, even a single field has non-vanishing δp_{nad} .
- Sometimes (e.g. the curvaton scenario), the fields which are rolling much more slowly than the inflaton (though still rolling thus unlike the non-rolling χ_2, \cdots fields) are also considered isocurvature directions and generating entropy perturbations.
- We have shown that at linear order, entropy perturbation can convert to the comoving curvature perturbation only if the inflationary trajectory turns. However, this is under the assumption of standard kinetic term for both fields. Otherwise, kinetic coupling can couple between adiabatic and entropy perturbations without any turning of trajectory.
- At non-linear order, there can be coupling of adiabatic and entropy fluctuations (when defined as in the field theory way as Fig. 20) even without turning of trajectory. This is because the adiabatic direction is defined at the background level. At the perturbation level, the real field trajectory is perturbed slightly.

In the next a few sections, we are to discuss a few models where the entropy perturbation converts to adiabatic perturbation.

2. Curvaton mechanism

In the curvaton mechanism [160–164], it is assumed that there is a curvaton field σ , which rolls much more slowly than the inflaton during inflation. After inflation, the inflaton decays first. Later the curvaton energy density catches up. When the curvaton energy density becomes non-negligible, the entropy fluctuation converts into adiabatic perturbation. This is illustrated in Fig. 21.



FIG. 21: The curvaton mechanism.

For simplicity here we review the simplest scenario of curvaton: the inflaton decays to radiation. And the curvaton oscillate around the minima of its potential $V(\sigma) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\sigma^2$ before curvaton decay, which happens later than the inflaton decay. We use the method developed in [165].

Recall the discussion in Sec. II G, there are separately conserved quantities for non-interacting field species. The conserved quantity associated to the curvaton field is

$$\zeta_{\sigma}^{(\text{gi})} = \delta N + \frac{1}{3} \int_{\bar{\rho}_{\sigma}(t)}^{\rho_{\sigma}(t,\mathbf{x})} \frac{d\rho_{\sigma}}{\rho_{\sigma}} , \qquad (258)$$

where we have used $p_{\sigma} = 0$ for a fast oscillating field. Here and later in this subsection, we shall omit the superscript (gi) on ζ_{σ} for simplicity.

This conserved quantity provides connection between initial condition and observations. Thus we have to: (a) relate the conserved quantity with the horizon crossing value of the curvaton field σ_* ; and (b) relate the conserved quantity with the curvature perturbation ζ .

To relate ζ_{σ} with σ_* , we note that on spatial flat slice ($\delta N = 0$), Eq. (258) can be integrated as

$$\rho_{\sigma} = e^{3\zeta_{\sigma}}\bar{\rho}_{\sigma} \ . \tag{259}$$

The curvaton energy density is

$$\rho_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{2}m^2\sigma^2 , \qquad (260)$$

where σ is the amplitude of curvaton oscillation.

However, the quantum initial condition for σ perturbations are determined at Hubble-crossing of the corresponding perturbation modes. Thus we have to relate σ at the oscillation stage to the value at Hubble crossing⁶⁶: $\sigma_* \equiv \sigma|_{k=aH}$. At Hubble crossing, the curvaton is a spectator field, thus

$$\sigma_* = \bar{\sigma}_* + \delta \sigma_* , \qquad (261)$$

where $\delta \sigma_*$ is Gaussian and has power spectrum

$$P_* = \frac{H_*^2}{4\pi^2} \ . \tag{262}$$

The relation between σ and σ_* is model dependent. In general, we can write this dependence as

$$\sigma = g(\sigma_*). \tag{263}$$

Combining (259), (260), (261) and (263), we have⁶⁷

$$e^{3\zeta_{\sigma}} = \frac{1}{\bar{g}^2} \left[\bar{g} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{g^{(n)}}{n!} \left(\delta \sigma_* \right)^n \right]^2 \tag{264}$$

where $\bar{g} \equiv g(\bar{\sigma}_*)$ and $g^{(n)} \equiv \partial^n g(\sigma) / \partial \sigma^n |_{\sigma = \bar{\sigma}_*}$. Eq. (264) is a nonlinear relation between the σ -comoving curvature perturbation and the Gaussian fluctuation $\delta \sigma_*$.

We need yet a relation between ζ and ζ_{σ} . To derive this, we make use of (99) and its counter part for radiation, on uniform total energy density slice. As a result,

$$\zeta_r = \zeta + \frac{1}{4} \ln \left(\frac{\rho_r}{\bar{\rho}_r} \right) , \quad \to \quad \rho_r = \bar{\rho}_r e^{4(\zeta_r - \zeta)} , \qquad (265)$$

$$\zeta_{\sigma} = \zeta + \frac{1}{3} \ln \left(\frac{\rho_{\sigma}}{\bar{\rho}_{\sigma}} \right) , \quad \to \quad \rho_{\sigma} = \bar{\rho}_{\sigma} e^{3(\zeta_{\sigma} - \zeta)} , \qquad (266)$$

Thus we have, on uniform total energy density $slice^{68}$,

$$\bar{\rho}_r + \bar{\rho}_\sigma = \rho_r + \rho_\sigma = \bar{\rho}_r e^{4(\zeta_r - \zeta)} + \bar{\rho}_\sigma e^{3(\zeta_\sigma - \zeta)} .$$
(267)

In case the final adiabatic perturbation is dominated by the curvaton perturbation, we have $\zeta_r = 0$. In this case, the above equation reduces to

$$(1 - \Omega)e^{-4\zeta} + \Omega e^{3(\zeta_{\sigma} - \zeta)} = 1 , \qquad (268)$$

⁶⁶ Note that, here we are aiming at a full non-linear analysis of perturbations. Thus rigorously speaking the perturbation is not a single k mode and k = aH is not well defined. However, observationally we are only interested in a small range of k. Considering the σ perturbation is nearly scale invariant, the horizon-crossing value do not differ very much.

⁶⁷ Note here $\bar{\rho}_{\sigma}$ is no longer the average energy density because there is also a contribution from $\frac{1}{2}m^2\langle\delta\sigma\rangle^2$. However, it is still consistent and convenient to define the background as $\delta\sigma = 0$ instead of $\delta\rho_{\sigma} = 0$.

⁶⁸ Here we assume curvaton decays on uniform total energy density slice. Otherwise, there is additional slice matching [107].

where

$$\Omega \equiv \frac{\bar{\rho}_{\sigma}}{\bar{\rho}_{\sigma} + \bar{\rho}_{r}} \ . \tag{269}$$

Thus finally one can solve ζ from Eqs. (264) and (269) order by order in terms of the Gaussian perturbation $\delta \sigma_*$. As a result,

$$P_{\zeta} = r \left(\frac{g'H_*}{6\pi g}\right)^2 \,, \tag{270}$$

$$f_{NL} = \frac{5}{4r} \left(1 + \frac{gg''}{g'^2} \right) - \frac{5}{3} - \frac{5r}{6} , \qquad (271)$$

$$g_{NL} = \frac{25}{54} \left[\frac{9}{4r^2} \left(\frac{g^2 g'''}{g'^3} + \frac{3gg''}{g'^2} \right) - \frac{9}{r} \left(1 + \frac{gg''}{g'^2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{9gg''}{g'^2} \right) + 10r + 3r^2 \right]$$
(272)

where we have omitted the bar on \bar{g} , and

$$r \equiv \frac{3\Omega}{4-\Omega} = \frac{3\bar{\rho}_{\sigma}}{\bar{\rho}_{\sigma} + \bar{\rho}_{r}} , \qquad (273)$$

with $\bar{\rho}_{\sigma}$ and $\bar{\rho}_{r}$ evaluated at curvaton decay time.

Note that in the $r \ll 1$ limit, $f_{NL} \gg 1$. It is intuitive to understand why there is large non-Gaussianity in the curvaton scenario: when $r \ll 1$, the curvaton is sub-dominate. Thus it has to fluctuate harder to have the correct P_{ζ} . The harder curvaton fluctuates, the more non-Gaussian it is. Also, the inflationary slow roll parameter ϵ doesn't enter this later time calculation thus f_{NL} is not ϵ -suppressed. This is because the curvaton potential near the curvaton oscillation is not slow roll suppressed.

The other trispectrum estimator is trivial, considering the single-source nature of curvaton mechanism:

$$\tau_{NL} = \frac{36}{25} f_{NL}^2 \ . \tag{274}$$

In the simplest case, if the curvaton has only quadratic potential, there is no nonlinear evolution on super-Hubble scales. Thus in this case g'' = 0 and g''' = 0. The above formulas simplify considerably in this limit. Otherwise the dynamics can be solved perturbatively or numerically in g [166–168].

3. Non-trivial reheating surface in field space

Another way to convert entropy perturbation to adiabatic perturbation is to make use of a non-trivial reheating surface. In this section we consider a non-dynamical reheating surface but dynamical trajectory due to entropy perturbations. A dynamical reheating surface is discussed in the next subsection.

Conventionally, we assume inflation terminates when the inflation direction ϕ (or χ_1 after a change of basis) reach a certain (range of) value, where potential is no longer flat or the inflaton field suddenly decays to something else.

However, the above simple picture is not necessarily the full story. In general, the reheating surface could be a hypersurface in field space, which is not perpendicular to the inflationary trajectory. The reheating surface may be even curved instead of flat. Such a generalized reheating surface can convert entropy perturbation into curvature perturbation, with a possibility for large non-Gaussianity. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 22. An explicit example of non-trivial reheating surface is known as multi-brid inflation [169], and more general analysis is performed in [170].

As shown in the right panel of Fig. 22, the amount of isocurvature perturbation (in terms of field space distance), converted to curvature perturbation, is characterized by the angle α , between the reheating surface and the inflation trajectory:

$$\delta\phi = \delta\sigma \cot\alpha \ . \tag{275}$$

Note that $\zeta = -H\delta\phi/\dot{\phi}$. Thus in case the $\delta\sigma$ fluctuation is conserved from Hubble crossing to reheating, then the adiabatic power spectrum induced by the entropy perturbation is

$$\Delta P_{\zeta} = \cot^2 \alpha \frac{H^2}{8\pi^2 M_p^2 \epsilon} . \tag{276}$$



FIG. 22: Non-Gaussianity from a non-trivial reheating surface in field space. When the reheating surface is not perpendicular to the inflationary trajectory, entropy fluctuation converts into e-folding number difference, and thus adiabatic perturbation.

For standard inflaton sector, the total power spectrum is

$$P_{\zeta} = \left(1 + \cot^2 \alpha\right) \frac{H^2}{8\pi^2 M_n^2 \epsilon} . \tag{277}$$

More generally, the σ field could change its value from Hubble crossing to reheating. In this case the technique in the previous section can be employed to calculate the density perturbation.

The non-Gaussianity of this scenario follows from how the reheating surface is curved [170]. When the inflaton trajectory hits a convex reheating surface, a positive f_{NL} is created.

This fact can be observed geometrically. For small isocurvature perturbations, the curved reheating surface can be approximated as a circle. Consider the left panel of Fig. 23. Here the green and red solid lines denote different inflation trajectories, with perturbation $-\delta\sigma$ and $\delta\sigma$ respectively. Note that we have |BD| > |AC|.⁶⁹

Recall the observation of section III E. $\zeta = \zeta_g + \frac{3}{5} f_{NL} \zeta_g^2 + \cdots$. Thus positive f_{NL} corresponds to an enhancement of positive ζ_g . Note that the red line (positive $\delta\sigma$) is positive ζ_g (because of greater δN), and |BD| > |AC| means the second order effects enhance the δN of the red line compared with the green. Thus when the trajectory hits a convex reheating surface, a positive f_{NL} is produced.

Note that if the inflation trajectory is perpendicular to the reheating surface, there is vanishing three-point function because of the symmetry of the configuration. However, once the trajectory hits the curved reheating surface with an angle, the sign of f_{NL} only depends on how the reheating surface is curved.

Similarly, hitting a concave surface produces a negative f_{NL} . A reheating surface without any curvature converts the isocurvature perturbation to curvature perturbation linearly and thus there is no non-Gaussianity. This situation is illustrated in the right panel of Fig. 23.

⁶⁹ Proof: in the figure the line intervals satisfy |AO| = |BO| and |CO| = |DO|, where O is the center of the circle. From the construction we have angles $\angle BOD > \angle AOC$ (this can be proved by rotating triangle $\triangle AOC$ by angle $\angle AOB$). Thus interval |BD| > |AC|



FIG. 23: The curvature of reheating surface (or any other hypersurface on which entropy perturbation is converted into adiabatic perturbation) and the sign of non-Gaussianity.

The relation between curved reheating surface and non-Gaussianity can also be generalized. Note that the curved reheating surface is nothing but a hypersurface to convert entropy perturbation to adiabatic perturbation. If during inflation, or after reheating, such conversion happens, the blue surface in Fig. 23 can be considered as the conversion surface from entropy to adiabatic perturbations.

Further, it is still possible that the reheating surface (or other hypersurface with entropy to adiabatic conversion) is not curved, however the field trajectories themselves are diverging or converging when they hit the surface. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 24.

Finally, it is interesting to generalize the above argument from a "hypersurface" of entropy to adiabatic conversion, into some continuous conversion mechanism (see, e.g. [171]). Or consider originally non-Gaussian $\delta\sigma$ fluctuations (thus they are no longer ζ_g).



FIG. 24: A bundle of diverging trajectories corresponds to positive f_{NL} . This is because the positive part of ζ_g converts more and the negative part converts less. Similarly, a bundle of converging trajectories corresponds to negative f_{NL} .

4. Modulated reheating

In this subsection we again play with the reheating surface of multi-field inflation. However, instead of the way to hit reheating surface, here we make the shape of the reheating surface dynamically depend on the entropy fluctuations. This scenario is known as the modulated reheating [109, 172, 173]. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 25.

Consider that the decay rate of inflaton depends on the entropy field:

$$\Gamma_{\phi} = \Gamma(\sigma) \ . \tag{278}$$

During reheating, the inflaton energy density ρ_{ϕ} decays into radiation ρ_r . This process can be described by

$$\frac{d\rho_{\phi}}{dN} + 3\rho_{\phi} = -\frac{\Gamma}{H}\rho_{\phi} , \qquad (279)$$



FIG. 25: Modulated reheating. Note that despite the similarly looking of this figure with Fig. 22, here the "/" direction axis denotes spatial coordinate, instead of field value. The other axis has the same meaning (inflaton field value).

$$\frac{d\rho_r}{dN} + 4\rho_r = \frac{\Gamma}{H}\rho_\phi \ , \tag{280}$$

$$3M_p^2 H^2 = \rho_\phi + \rho_r \ . \tag{281}$$

The above equations are to be solved with initial condition, at a time t_0 before the inflaton decay, as $\rho_{\phi}(t_0) = 3M_p^2 H_0^2$ and $\rho_r(t_0) = 0$. The e-folding number during this process can be calculated as

$$N = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{H_0}{H_f} + Q\left(\frac{\Gamma}{H_0}\right) , \qquad (282)$$

where Q satisfies

$$\exp\left[4Q\left(\frac{\Gamma}{H_0}\right)\right] = \int_0^\infty dN' \frac{e^{4N'}\Gamma}{H(N)} \frac{\rho_\phi(N')}{\rho_\phi(t_0)} \ . \tag{283}$$

Expanding Eq. (282), one obtains

$$\Delta P_{\zeta} = \left(Q' \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \frac{H_*}{2\pi}\right)^2 . \tag{284}$$

We again assumed extremely slow-rolling of σ . Otherwise the dynamics of σ should be tracked similarly to the curvaton scenario. The non-Gaussianities can be calculated by expanding Eq. (282) to higher orders [109].

For the sign of non-Gaussianities, the intuition in the last section (Fig. 25) still applies. Now we work in position space instead of field space. The distribution of σ field is Gaussian. However, the conversion $\Gamma(\sigma)$ makes the reheating surface non-Gaussianly curved. The second derivative of $\Gamma(\sigma)$ determines the sign of non-Gaussianity.

5. Modulated expansion history

In this section we discuss a mechanism similar to the modulated reheating, where the expansion history, instead of the decay rate, is modulated by an isocurvature direction $[174]^{70}$.

For example, after inflation ends, the inflaton field decays to thermalized particles χ , with mass m. The reheating temperature is $T_I \gg m$. The χ particles are relatively long lived, such that it decays after the temperature of the

⁷⁰ Note that the same model is also calculated in [175], using an integral constraint in GR. The result is in conflict with the result from δN formalism. Nevertheless, here we focus on the method in [174], reformulated following closely the principles of the δN formalism.

universe drops to $T_F \ll m$. Thus from reheating to χ -decay, the universe is initially radiation dominated and later matter dominated. After the χ -decay to lighter particles the universe becomes hot again.

To track the local expansion history of this period, here we use a sudden transition approximation, neglecting the transition period between radiation domination and radiation radiation. This should be a reasonable approximation, because after m varies at different local universes, those different local universes undergoes the same transition (at different times). Thus the error cancels when we calculate the e-folding number difference δN .

We use T_E and H_E to denote the temperature and Hubble parameter at matter radiation equality time, for the χ -particle dominated universe. The expansion from the initial time to the equality time is

$$N_{IE} = \log(a_I/a_E) = \frac{1}{2}\log(H_E/H_I) , \qquad (285)$$

and the expansion from the equality time to the final time is

$$N_{EF} = \log(a_F/a_I) = \frac{2}{3}\log(H_F/H_E) .$$
(286)

The total e-folds is a summation of the two stages:

$$N_{IF} = -\frac{1}{2}\log H_I - \frac{1}{6}\log H_E + \frac{2}{3}\log H_F .$$
(287)

To relate the expansion to the δN -formalism, we have to choose the initial slice to be the flat slice and the final slice to be the uniform energy density slice. Assuming the original density fluctuation of the χ particles (originates from inflaton fluctuation) is negligible. In this case the uniform H_I slice is indeed the initial flat slice. On the other hand, the final uniform H_F slice is the uniform energy density slice because $H_F \propto \sqrt{\rho_F}$ from the Friedmann equation. Thus when we vary N_{IF} , H_I and H_F should be fixed. The only variation comes from H_E . The mass, energy density and Hubble parameter can be related as⁷¹

$$\rho_E \simeq \frac{\pi^2}{30} g T_E^4 \propto m^4 , \qquad H_E \propto \sqrt{\rho_E} \propto m^2 .$$
(288)

Here we still approximately used the energy density of radiation dominated epoch. The difference results in an error of the sudden transition approximation.

Thus the comoving curvature perturbation can be calculated as

$$\zeta = \delta N_{IF} = -\frac{1}{6} \frac{\delta H_E}{H_E} = -\frac{1}{3} \frac{\delta m}{m} .$$
(289)

Now we need to calculate δm in the δN -formalism. As a simplest case: we may directly have $m = m(\sigma)$, where σ is an isocurvature field which gets fluctuations during inflation. In this case, $\delta m = m'(\sigma)\delta\sigma$. If σ is rolling extremely slowly during inflation, such that the Hubble-exit value is the same as the value at equality time, the induced power spectrum for curvature perturbation is

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{1}{9} \left(\frac{m'}{m}\right)^2 P_{\delta\sigma} = \frac{H_*^2}{36\pi^2} \left(\frac{m'}{m}\right)^2 , \qquad (290)$$

where H_* is the horizon crossing value of Hubble parameter. Similarly, the non-Gaussian estimators can be calculated.

On the other hand, if σ is rolling not so slowly, but follow linear evolution (i.e. the potential is just a mass term), $\delta\sigma/\sigma$ is a constant on super-Hubble scales. In this case, when $m \propto \sigma^{\alpha}$, we have $m'/m = \alpha \delta\sigma/\sigma$ and

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{\alpha^2 H_*^2}{36\pi^2} , \qquad (291)$$

Finally, if the σ potential is dominated by terms other than mass during some periods of time evolution, one can define a function g such that $\sigma = g(\sigma_*)$, and calculate g perturbatively, as is done in the curvaton mechanism.

As the last step, χ has to decay, preferably to radiation components and re-reheat the universe. Note that the decay rate of χ also depends on m. There are at least two possibilities:

 $^{^{71}}$ There is an additional factor of 7/8 in the energy density for fermions, which do not affect the final result.

65

No modulation in re-reheating: It is possible that the σ rolls back to origin, or decays, before the decay of χ . In this case, at χ decay, the mass m no longer depends on σ . Thus the re-reheating at χ decay does not introduce extra curvature perturbations.

Modulated re-reheating: In this case, the discussion for the extra curvature perturbation transfer is in parallel to the modulated reheating.

As alternative realizations, one may either modulate the expansion rate at other stages of the universe. For example, one can modulate the dilution rate of isocurvature direction, to generate entropy perturbation. As another example, during the oscillation of the inflaton, before reheating, the shape of the potential may get modulated. For example, near the end of inflation, the mass term of inflaton may get an anomalous dimension⁷²:

$$V = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2 \exp\left[\frac{\sigma}{\Lambda}\log\left|\frac{\phi}{m}\right|\right]$$
(292)

As a result, the dilution of inflaton no longer has equation of state $p/\rho = 0$, but instead

$$\frac{p}{\rho} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma + 4\Lambda} \simeq \frac{\sigma}{4\Lambda} \ . \tag{293}$$

Thus the expansion history is modified as a function of the σ value in local universes. Assuming $\sigma \ll \Lambda$,

$$\zeta = -\frac{1}{3}e^{3w\Delta N} \simeq -\frac{\sigma}{4\Lambda}\Delta N , \qquad (294)$$

where ΔN is the number of e-folds of inflaton oscillation before it decays. The inflationary power spectrum follows from squaring this equation.

6. A landscape of inflatons and isocurvatons?

In the previous subsections, we have been making the multi-field inflationary potential complicated. Inspired by the string landscape [176–179], it is argued that inflation may take place on a rather complicated potential [156, 180, 181]. Yet there is a question: how complicated the inflationary potential could be?

To see the physics more closely, we decomposed the question into a few more concrete ones:

 $^{^{72}}$ We assume other terms drives inflation, and this potential only applies near the end of inflation. Otherwise serve fine tuning is needed to make σ massless.



FIG. 26: Once inflation takes place on a complicated multi-field potential, the inflationary trajectory (white lines in the figure) may bifurcate. The bifurcation, if happened during observable state, and not under control, brings deserters.

- How complicated could a potential be on one field direction? Note that slow roll of inflationary direction already tightly constraint the potential along the inflation direction. We postpone the discussion of possible break down of slow roll to Subsection IV D.
- How many fields could there be during inflation? The constraint [182, 183] is quite weak. Nevertheless a weak constraint is stronger than no constraint [184].

Note that during inflation, each massless (actually m < H should be enough) field has a fluctuation $\sigma_i \sim H$ per Hubble volume. Thus the total energy density of n massless fields is

$$\rho_n \sim \sum_{i}^{n} (\partial \sigma_i)^2 \sim nH^4 .$$
⁽²⁹⁵⁾

This must be much smaller than the background energy density ρ . Thus we have

$$n \ll \frac{H^2}{M_p^2} . \tag{296}$$

This constraint can also be argued as that, near Hubble crossing, the quantum perturbation of each massless field becomes classical and carry of order one bit entropy (about its phase). However, de Sitter space has an entropy bound of H^2/M_p^2 . Thus the field number is bounded by (296).

Note that this number is greater than 10^{10} . Thus most models are unconstrained, unless one wants the number of fields to be greater than $1/P_{\zeta}$ or $1/P_h$.

• What extras could a multi-field complicated potential bring compared with a single field one?

As we already discussed, in multi-field inflation, much more things could happen compared to the case of single field inflation. Here regarding to a complicated potential, there is at least one more: The classical trajectory of inflation may bifurcate during inflation [92]. Inflation with such a bifurcation is called multi-stream inflation, as illustrated in Fig. 26.

In case the bifurcation of inflationary trajectory is under control (with symmetry or fine-tuning), those bifurcations can be responsible to non-Gaussianities [92] or position space features such as cold spots on the CMB [185]. Or alternatively the bifurcation could happen before the observable stage of inflation [186, 187]. However, if the bifurcation is due to a random potential, the e-folding number difference between different trajectories are not under control. In this case the CMB sky becomes extremely anisotropic and non-Gaussian. This kind of models should be ruled out.

It is shown that in a double-field random potential, bifurcation could happen with some not-so-fine tuning of potential parameters [93]. When the random potential has more dimensions, the probability for bifurcation should increase thus there may be a tighter constraint.

There is also a danger of rapid tunneling in a random potential, as discussed in [188, 189].

C. Quasi-single field inflation

1. Energy scales during inflation

We have discussed single field inflation and multi-field inflation. Definitely we cannot cover even a small portion of the huge literature. Nevertheless at first look the classification of single/multiple field covers all possibilities.

However, it is actually not the case. Note that inflation is a theory with multiple energy scales built in. The inflationary background defines an energy scale $E_B = \sqrt{\eta_V} H$, whereas the perturbations defines another energy scale $E_P = H$. There is a hierarchy between those two energy scales.

The hierarchy of energy scales allows a class of inflation models, in which at the homogeneous and isotropic background level, the models look like single field inflation. However, when we consider cosmic perturbations, which live at a higher energy scale, the physics becomes different from single field. This class of models is called quasi-single field inflation [190][94][145].

For example, consider a scalar field σ with mass $m \sim H$ during inflation (Fig. 27). At the background level, this field stays at its minimum of the potential, because the mass is higher than the background energy scale and not slow rolling. Thus at the background level we have single field inflation.

However, at the energy scale of perturbations, $m \sim H$ is not too heavy. It takes quite a few e-folds for the σ perturbation to roll back to the origin. As a result, there is room for the σ perturbation, which appears as entropy perturbation, to convert to curvature perturbation.



FIG. 27: Energy scales during inflation.

Note that the potential of the σ field is not restricted by slow roll condition. Thus the potential need not to be very flat. As a result, the self interactions of σ can be strong. When the entropy perturbations in the σ direction converts to curvature perturbation, the non-Gaussianity of σ , from the self interactions, are also converted. The generation and conversion of non-Gaussianity is near Hubble crossing. This is different from the local non-Gaussianity (which is generated on super-Hubble scales) or equilateral non-Gaussianity (which is generated on sub-Hubble scales). As a result, a family of new shapes of non-Gaussianity arises, controlled by the mass m of σ .

2. Mass uplifting of flat directions

As we discussed in Sec. IG, there is an η_V -problem of inflation: Originally massless fields (unless protected by symmetry) get uplifted to $m \sim H$ during inflation. Note that this is true not only for the inflaton field, but also for other originally massless fields.

If we have some originally massless fields in field theory. Now inflationary back-reaction typically uplift them to $m \sim H$. Some of them may have $m \ll H$ by pure chance⁷³ or some fine tuning. They can behave as the inflaton,

⁷³ The chance may not be small if there are many $m \sim H$ fields. For example, assuming the mass of the field obeys Gaussian distribution $\exp[-c^2(m-H)^2/H^2]$, one needs $\sqrt{2}c/[\operatorname{erf}(c) - \operatorname{erf}(0.9c)]$ fields to naturally have one or more of them lying in range 0 < m < 0.1H. For c = 0.5, 16 fields are needed; for c = 1, 31 fields are needed; for c = 5, 10¹⁰ fields are needed.

because we want inflation. The other fields has $m \sim H$.

Among those $m \sim H$ fields, some may decouple from inflaton. The fluctuation of those fields are diluted after a few e-folds of super-Hubble evolution and thus not observable. However, others may couple to inflaton, via operators [145]

$$\dot{\phi}^2 \sigma, \quad (\partial_\mu \phi)^2 \sigma, \quad \sigma \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \sigma, \quad \cdots$$
 (297)

3. A simple model

It is helpful to consider a simple model to see explicitly how the above argument works [190][94]. To do that, we consider a model in which the inflation trajectory is along an arc. The angular direction is the inflaton and the radius direction is the massive field σ . We illustrate the case in Fig. 28.



FIG. 28: A simple example of quasi-single field inflation. The isocurvature direction is not slow roll restricted. Thus the entropy fluctuation can be non-Gaussian. During the turning of trajectory, the non-Gaussian entropy fluctuation is converted to the adiabatic perturbation, along the inflation direction.

For simplicity, we further assume the potential for the two scalars can be written in the factorized form when written in the polar coordinates. In this case, we can write down the theory in polar coordinates as

$$S_m = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} + \sigma \right)^2 g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \theta \partial_\nu \theta - \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \sigma \partial_\nu \sigma - V_{\rm sr}(\theta) - V(\sigma) \right] , \qquad (298)$$

where $V_{\rm sr}(\theta)$ is the slow roll potential in the inflation direction; $V(\sigma)$ is the potential in the $V'' \equiv m \sim H$ direction, without slow roll restriction; and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is the radius of the turning potential. Gravity minimally couples to this matter sector. The background equations of motion are

$$3M_p^2 H^2 = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{R}^2 \dot{\theta}_0^2 + V + V_{\rm sr} , \qquad -2M_p^2 \dot{H} = \mathcal{R}^2 \dot{\theta}_0^2 , \qquad (299)$$

where \mathcal{R} is the radius of turning trajectory, which has a shift by a constant compared with $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}$ due to the centrifugal force: $\sigma_0 \equiv R - \widetilde{R}$, such that $V'(\sigma_0) = R\dot{\theta}_0^2$.

As we have shown in the general discussion of adiabatic and entropy perturbations, the turning of trajectory couples the adiabatic and entropy directions. This can be verified in the present model by expanding (298) in perturbations. The interaction is

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_2 = 2a^3 \dot{\theta}_0 \times (\mathcal{R} \dot{\delta} \theta) \times \delta \sigma . \tag{300}$$

The importance of this term can be estimated as follows: near Hubble-crossing, the canonically normalized field $\mathcal{R}\delta\theta$ has fluctuation of order $\mathcal{R}\delta\theta \sim H^2$. The $\delta\sigma$ field is massive thus has amplitude $\delta\sigma \sim \min(H, H^2/m)$. The mass dependence is because when m > H, the $\delta\sigma$ fluctuation is suppressed [95, 191] by $\langle \delta\sigma^2 \rangle \sim 1/m^2$, which is the flat space estimation of propagator.

To estimate how strong is the coupling $\Delta \mathcal{L}_2$, we can compare it with the free Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{R}^2 \dot{\delta \theta}^2 + \cdots \sim H^4$. We have

$$g_2 \equiv \frac{\Delta \mathcal{L}_2}{\mathcal{L}_2} = \begin{cases} \dot{\theta}/H, & \text{if } m \sim H \\ \dot{\theta}/m, & \text{if } m \gg H \\ \text{cutoff needed} & \text{if } m \ll H \end{cases}$$
(301)

Because of the transfer vertex, the power spectrum gets a relative correction proportional to $(g_2)^2$. This situation is illustrated in Fig. 29.

As a result, the power spectrum goes as

$$P_{\zeta} = \frac{H^4}{4\pi^2 R^2 \dot{\theta}_0^2} \left(1 + \delta\right) , \qquad (302)$$

where δ is the relative correction due to the transfer vertex. The analytical expression of δ is given as $\delta = 8\dot{\theta}^2(C_1 + C_2)/H^2$ in [95]. The g_2 estimate in (301) should apply for both $m \sim H$ and $m \gg H$. Thus in those cases, up to $\mathcal{O}(1)$ factors,

$$\delta \sim g_2^2 \ . \tag{303}$$

On the other hand, when $m \ll H$, there is a divergence that worth noticing. It can be shown that in this limit, if one take the bounds in the in-in integral as $-\infty < \tau < 0$, δ ends up with a divergence in the small m limit: $\delta \sim 72g_2^2 H^4/(2m^4)$. However this divergence is not real because inflation will eventually end. If we instead take m = 0 and cut the in-in integral as $-\infty < \tau < \tau_c$, we have $\delta \sim \log^2 \tau_c$. Thus in the $m \ll H$ limit, we have

$$\delta \sim \max\left(\frac{H^4}{m^4}, \log^2 \tau_c\right) \sim \max\left(\frac{H^4}{m^4}, 360\right)$$
, (304)

where we have assumed 60 e-folds of observable inflation. It turns out that when $m \simeq 0.3H$ (which is actually not much smaller than H), we will already have to consider the e-folding number limit of inflation.

The IR growth of $m \ll H$ case is straightforward to understand: for a massless field, when there is a fluctuation, the fluctuation will continues interacting with the adiabatic perturbation all the time until the interaction is turned off (for example, reheating). In flat space QFT, the cross sections and decay rates are defined as a finite value per unit time. Thus there is no wonder the interaction rate diverges with a diverge duration of time.

$$\delta\theta \xrightarrow{g_2} \delta\sigma$$

$$\delta\theta \xrightarrow{g_2} \delta\theta = \delta\theta \xrightarrow{g_2} \theta^2 \delta\theta + \delta\theta \xrightarrow{g_2} \delta\theta \delta\theta + \dots$$

FIG. 29: The transfer vertex in quasi-single field inflation, and the correction to the power spectrum, due to the transfer vertex.

4. Amplitude of non-Gaussianities

The amplitude of non-Gaussianity can be estimated similarly to the power spectrum for quasi-single field inflation. The bispectrum can be estimated by the coupling

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_3 = V^{\prime\prime\prime} \delta \sigma^3 . \tag{305}$$

Note that V''' has mass dimension. Thus it is natural to have $V''' \sim H$ during inflation, similar to the $m \sim H$ argument. And again similarly to the η_V -problem, the V''' term may have UV sensitivity driving $V''' \gg H$ straightly to the UV-sensitivity scale. One can estimate

$$g_3 \equiv \frac{\Delta \mathcal{L}_3}{\mathcal{L}_2} = \begin{cases} V'''/H, & \text{if } m \sim H \\ V'''H^2/m^3, & \text{if } m \gg H \\ \text{cutoff needed} & \text{if } m \ll H \end{cases}$$
(306)

Here we shall focus on the weakly coupling case $g_3 \ll 1$, leaving the more general case to Sec. IV C 6.

We should note that this interaction g_3 is huge, compared with the inflaton counterpart, which is offered by a slow roll potential $V_{\rm sr}$. As shown in Eq. (172), the slow roll potential is suppressed by

$$V_{\rm sr}^{\prime\prime\prime} \sim \frac{H\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)}{\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}}$$
 (307)

And we know this $V_{\rm sr}^{\prime\prime\prime}$ generates sub-dominate non-Gaussianity for single field inflation with amplitude $f_{NL} \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$. Thus we immediately know that the $f_{NL}^{\rm ent}$ in the entropy perturbations should be $f_{NL}^{\rm ent} \sim g_3/\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}$, which could be huge considering $1/\sqrt{P_{\zeta}} \sim 10^4$.

Here we obtain the $1/\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}$ factor by comparing with the single field potential. The same estimation could either be obtained as follows: The three point function is $\langle \zeta \zeta \zeta \rangle \sim P_{\zeta}^{3/2} \times (\text{coupling constant})$. On the other hand, the bispectrum estimator f_{NL} is multiplied with P_{ζ}^2 in its definition. To compare them we need to divide the result by $\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}$.

Now we have got the amplitude of non-Gaussianity in the isocurvature direction. However, this entropy perturbation needs to be converted to adiabatic perturbation. We have shown the conversion is mediated by g_2 coupling. As a result, the amplitude of non-Gaussianity for quasi-single field inflation can be estimated as

$$f_{NL} \sim \frac{g_3(g_2)^3}{\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}}$$
 (308)

This amplitude is illustrated in Fig. 30.



FIG. 30: The interaction vertex and the three point correlation function.

Similarly, the analogue of g_{NL} and τ_{NL} can also be estimated. As we have shown in Sec. III F 2, τ_{NL} is dominated by the diagram with an internal propagator, and g_{NL} is dominated by the other diagram. Thus we have

$$g_{NL} \sim g_4(g_2)^4 / P_{\zeta} , \qquad \tau_{NL} \sim (g_3)^2 (g_2)^4 / P_{\zeta} .$$
 (309)

When g_2 is small (which is the case we can trust our calculation), we have

$$\tau_{NL} \gg f_{NL}^2 \ . \tag{310}$$

Thus the Suyama-Yamaguchi inequality is satisfied. The graphical understanding is given in Fig. 32. One can also estimate the higher order correlation functions [110]. The τ_{NL} analogue of the n-point function scales as

$$f_{NL}^{(n)} \sim \left(g_3/\sqrt{P_{\zeta}}\right)^{n-2} (g_2)^n ,$$
 (311)

where we have factorized the product into two groups, one scales with power n-2 and another scales with n. Those two groups follows different interaction structures:

- The power n-2 group shows how the non-Gaussianity is generated. This is because for three point interaction (which generates $f_{NL}, \tau_{NL}, \cdots$, and g_{NL} belongs to yet another case), we need n-2 vertices to have *n*-point function.
- The power n group shows how the non-Gaussianity is converted from entropy direction to curvature direction. This is because for n-point function, we need at least n transfer vertices to convert all external legs to adiabatic perturbation.

This scaling behavior is discussed in more details in [192], known as the feeding mechanism.



FIG. 31: The quasi-local analog of g_{NL} (left panel) and τ_{NL} (right panel).



FIG. 32: The Suyama-Yamaguchi relation. Here we have $\tau_{NL} \gg (36/25) f_{NL}^2$, as long as the transfer vertex is perturbative. In case $g_2 \gg 1$, our perturbative calculation cannot be trusted. However, the Suyama-Yamaguchi relation should still hold. The implication is that, resummation should suppress the large coupling.

5. Shape of non-Gaussianities

Now comes the shape of non-Gaussianity. To get some intuition, we may consider two limits:

- When $m \ll H$, quasi-single field inflation approaches multi-field inflation and the shape should approach local shape. This is because when there is an entropy fluctuation, in the massless limit the fluctuation do not roll back. Thus the interaction continues on super-Hubble scales. From causality, the non-Gaussianity should be dominated by the local shape.
- When $m \gg H$, the kinetic term of σ becomes hard to excite. Thus the heavy field just stays at the effective minimal of the potential, determined by the centrifugal force $V'(\sigma) = R\dot{\theta}^2$. To perturb this equation, additional factors of $\dot{\delta\theta}^2$ comes into the action of $\delta\theta$, which modifies the sound speed c_s of $\delta\theta$ perturbations. As a result, the non-Gaussianity should be very non-local.

In general, we expect the shape should be in between the above cases. In the squeezed limit $k_1 \ll k_2 \simeq k_3$, the k-dependence of the three-point function can be calculated explicitly [94]. Here we will not go into the details. Instead, as observed in [145], the squeezed limit of quasi-single field inflation can be estimated as follows: The long wave length mode crosses the horizon at $|k_1\tau_1| \sim 1$. Later, the short wave length mode crosses the horizon at $|k_2\tau_2| \sim 1$. Between time τ_1 and τ_2 , the massive field σ has a decaying solution:

$$\sigma_{k_1}(\tau_2) \sim \sigma_{k_1}(\tau_1) \left(\frac{\tau_2}{\tau_1}\right)^{3/2-\nu} \sim \sigma_{k_1}(\tau_1) \left(\frac{k_1}{k_2}\right)^{3/2-\nu} , \qquad (312)$$

where $\nu \equiv \sqrt{9/4 - m^2/H^2}$.

In the squeezed limit, $k_1 \ll k_2$. At τ_2 , the k_1 mode can still be considered as a shift of background. But the shift has a decay factor (312). As a result,

$$\lim_{k_1/k_2 \to 0} \langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle \propto \frac{1}{k_1^3 k_2^3} \left(\frac{k_1}{k_2} \right)^{3/2-\nu} \propto \frac{1}{k_1^{3/2+\nu}} .$$
(313)

This analysis can also be made more rigorous [114]. Also, in the special case $\nu = 0$, a logarithm factor appears in the squeezed limit [94].

The exact shape of three-point function is quite complicated and plotted in [94]. Phenomenologically, the dimensionless shape function can be approximated by

$$3^{\frac{5}{2}-3\nu}(k_1^2+k_2^2+k_3^2)(k_1k_2k_3)^{\frac{1}{2}-\nu}(k_1+k_2+k_3)^{-\frac{7}{2}+3\nu}.$$
(314)

This shape function is simple, but unfortunately not factorized. One can nevertheless write a factorized shape near the squeezed limit [193]. The shape function (314) is plotted in Fig. 33.

It is interesting to notice that, the shape function for m = H/2 already looks very similar to the local shape. Indeed, a Fisher matrix analysis shows that the $m \leq H/2$ shape and the local shape are not distinguishable in the next 10 years' experiments [193] (see also [194]). In case the local shape non-Gaussianity fits future data, it is challenging to distinguish if the non-Gaussianity comes from a massless field, or from a $m \leq H/2$ field and the corresponding quasi-local shapes. On the other hand, shapes from greater mass (such as m = H) will be distinguishable from local shape.



FIG. 33: The shapes of non-Gaussianity for quasi single field inflation, for m = 3H/2 (i.e. $\nu = 0$), m = 1.414H (i.e. $\nu = 0.5$), m = H (i.e. $\nu = 1.12$) and m = H/2 (i.e. $\nu = 1.414$) respectively. The shape ansatz (314) is used. Note that the change of shapes are very sensitive to the σ mass in Hubble unit.

6. Scaling dimensions for general operators

In the above discussion of quasi-single field inflation, we have restricted our attention to the weakly coupled case. In the strongly coupled case, perturbative methods of directly calculation breaks down. However, one can still try to resum the diagrams, seeking a weakly coupled effective field theory. For example, the transfer vertex can be in principle resummed using the Schwinger-Dyson equation, as illustrated in Fig. 34.

Alternatively, one can generalize the weakly coupled picture without doing the resummation. Especially for a conformal field theory (CFT) the interaction structure is highly constrained by symmetry [97]. In CFT, mass and


FIG. 34: Resumming the transfer vertex. Note that the above diagrams represents a set of integral equations. When V''' and/or other interactions are turned on, the resummation becomes more complicated but yet possible.

interaction operators are characterized by their scaling dimensions. In this case, the squeezed limit of correlation functions are as functions of the scaling dimensions of the operators.

The scaling dimension of the mass operator is an analogue of the example of Sec. IV C 3. However, a non-trivial scaling dimension of interaction operators open up new possibilities. For example, one can imagine a sector of isocurvature perturbations which is strongly coupled on sub-Hubble scales, but weakly coupled on super-Hubble scales. The transition is controlled by the RG-flow and the anomalous dimension of the interaction operator. In this case the anomalous dimension dynamically generates a scale, analogous to Λ_{QCD} . One can compare this scale to the Hubble scale, and generate a one parameter family of non-Gaussianities. New possibilities such as the nearly orthogonal shape arise compared to the simple model that we reviewed in detail.

D. Scale dependent features

So far the inflation models we have reviewed are nearly scale invariant. Such models are natural because the observed power spectrum is nearly scale invariant. However, it is still possible that there are small ripples in the inflationary power spectrum, that we have not yet observed. Or the observational effects hide in higher order correlation functions or gravitational waves, which we haven't yet observed. Here we review a few models of this kind.

1. Features in the potential

Consider single field inflation, where the potential is approximately flat but there are small features on top of that. For example, one can model a feature as [195]

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2 \left[1 + c\tanh\left(\frac{\phi - \phi_s}{d}\right)\right]$$
(315)

The potential is illustrated in Fig. 35.

Alternatively, one can choose a feature with a non-continuous slope [196]:

$$V(\phi) = \begin{cases} V_0 + A_+(\phi - \phi_0), & \text{if } \phi > \phi_0 \\ V_0 + A_-(\phi - \phi_0), & \text{if } \phi < \phi_0 \end{cases}$$
(316)

A sharp feature can in general enhance slow roll parameters. The enhanced slow roll parameters result in a feature in the power spectrum, as well as large non-Gaussianity. However, it is useful to estimate which slow roll parameter is enhanced most. Considering the sharpness of the feature, higher time derivatives get enhanced most.

In the third order action of standard single field inflation (170), the highest derivative is $\dot{\eta}$. Thus the interaction is dominated by

$$\mathcal{H}_3 \supset -\frac{a^3\epsilon}{2}\dot{\eta}\zeta^2\dot{\zeta} \ . \tag{317}$$

The shape of the bispectrum can be calculated numerically. It is intuitive to see that the non-Gaussianity is now scale dependent. This is because the far sub-Hubble modes has time to relax back to the vacuum and the far super-Hubble



FIG. 35: A feature in the potential. The solid line denote the actual feature considered in [195], with c = 0.0018 and d = 0.022. The feature is actually too small to be observable on the plot. The dot line is just an illustration of the feature, choosing by hand a huge feature (c = 0.1), which is clearly ruled out by experiments.

modes are conserved already. The most-affected modes are the Hubble crossing ones. In the bi-spectrum, they are the ones $|(k_1 + k_2 + k_3)\tau_*| \sim 1$, where τ_* is the time when the inflaton rolls onto the feature. As a result [197], the shape function is modulated by an oscillation $\sin[(k_1 + k_2 + k_3)\tau_*]$.

2. Sharp turning of trajectory

Here we review a sharp turning of inflationary trajectory [198–201]. For example, there is one inflation direction, and another very massive direction. The turning of trajectory is between those two directions, as illustrated in Fig. 36.



FIG. 36: A sharp turning of trajectory.

During a sharp turning, a combination of effects may happen:

• Background oscillation: When the trajectory turns very sharply, the kinetic energy of the inflaton gets projected on to the massive direction. The amount of transfer energy is $\frac{1}{2}\phi^2 \sin\theta$, where θ is the turning angle. This amount of energy drives the massive direction σ to move as high as $\sigma \sim (\dot{\phi}/m) \sin\theta$. In case this offset in the σ direction is not cancelled by a linear potential, the σ field get released from this height and start to oscillate. The background oscillation is not just a shift of background. Instead more dramatic things can happen. Note that the perturbations has varying physical wave length k/a. Once the k/a for a perturbation mode gets close to the oscillation frequency of the background, parametric resonance can happen. This situation is similar to the case of preheating. As a result, both the linear perturbation and non-Gaussianity are enhanced.

It is interesting to note that, both the background oscillation itself, and the induced effects such as the resonant enhancement of perturbations, are periodic (with a decaying envelope) with respect to physical time. On the other hand, the comoving wave number k is defined with respect to the conformal time. Thus in case one observes such a periodic feature in the sky, the function dependence between the physical time and conformal time is obtained. This function dependence differs significantly between inflation and alternative to inflation models [198, 202].

In case the turning of trajectory is not sharp enough, or a linear potential comes to cancel the centrifugal force during the turning of trajectory, the background oscillation may not be present.

- Sharp feature: During the turning of trajectory, the slow roll parameters got boosted thus there is an similar effect as discussed in Sec. IV D.
- *Vacuum projection:* The wave function of a quantum harmonic oscillator depends on the frequency of the oscillator. The same is true for scalar fields. The wave function of a massive direction is different from the wave function of a massless direction. However, after a sharp turning of trajectory, the two wave functions gets mixed. As a result, the perturbations of the fields are no longer in the vacuum state.

In terms of k-modes, the perturbation modes with H < k/a < m are affected. The mixing, which can be calculated using the in-in formalism, kicks the perturbations even if there is no background oscillation.

3. Particle production

Despite the wording "slow roll", the inflaton field actually runs very fast, with $\dot{\phi} \gg H^2$. Thus it is useful to check if the fast motion of the inflaton pollutes the inflationary environment. For example, when other fields have coupling to the inflaton, there may be particle productions induced by the motion of the inflaton [203–206].

For example, consider an otherwise massless field χ , with the interaction Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = -\frac{g^2}{2} (\phi - \phi_0)^2 \chi^2 \equiv -\frac{1}{2} m_{\rm eff}^2(\phi) \chi^2 .$$
(318)

The motion of the inflaton provides an effective mass for χ . The equation of motion for χ is

$$\ddot{\chi} + 3H\dot{\chi} + \frac{\partial^2}{a^2}\chi + m_{\text{eff}}^2(\phi)\chi = 0.$$
(319)

When the change of background is slow, the χ field has a WKB solution. As a result χ almost stays unchanged without particle production. However, when ϕ moves cross ϕ_0 , the situation changes dramatically. Not only that χ gets effectively massless, but also the WKB condition breaks badly:

$$\frac{\partial_t(m_{\text{eff}})}{m_{\text{eff}}^2} = \frac{\dot{\phi}}{g(\phi - \phi_0)^2} \gg 1 .$$
(320)

Thus particles of χ get produced. To see the effect more closely, one can parameterize the behavior of ϕ near ϕ_0 as $\phi \sim \phi_0 + vt$. Solving the EoM of χ , the occupation number can be calculated as

$$n_k = \exp\left(-\frac{\pi k^2}{g|v|}\right) \ . \tag{321}$$

After the moment $\phi = \phi_0$, the produced particles quickly become massive. The mass increases while the number density is diluted. The back-reaction from the produced particles to the adiabatic perturbation can be calculated. The power spectrum gets a correction. For the bispectrum, for small k the shape of non-Gaussianity is similar to local shape. For larger k there are oscillations in the shape function [205].

It is also interesting to put this scenario onto a Landscape type potential. When the number of fields increase, it is exponentially likely for the inflation field to encounter particle production events (with a small mass of χ) [206].

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my collaborators Niayesh Afshordi, Robert Brandenberger, Yi-Fu Cai, Bin Chen, Xingang Chen, James Cline, Francis Duplessis, Xian Gao, Jinn-Ouk Gong, A.Emir Gumrukcuoglu, Min-xin Huang, Bin Hu, Qing-Guo Huang, Miao Li, Chunshan Lin, Alexander Maloney, Guy Moore, Shinji Mukohyama, A. Riotto, Gary Shiu, Anže Slosar, Tower Wang and Wei Xue for collaborations and discussions on inflation and cosmic perturbations. I thank Valentin Assassi, Daniel Baumann, Xingang Chen, and David Seery for discussions during writing this review. I thank Xingang Chen for helpful comments on a draft of this review. This work is supported by fundings from the Kavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe (Kavli IPMU), and from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS).

Appendix A: Computer Assisted Analytical Calculation

Although the physics of inflationary perturbations is interesting, the calculations are sometimes tediously long. Fortunately, nowadays computers are in the position to assist us for this purpose.

1. Algebra systems

There are quite a few choices of algebra systems in the market. Among those, there are propriety software such as Mathematica and Maple, and free software such as Sage and Maxima. Here we comment the pros and cons for our particular purpose (there are of course other choices as well):

- *Mathematica:* The functional programming paradigm is typically convenient for math calculations. Also there is a powerful mechanism of pattern matching, related to its functional programming nature. There are also GR packages such as XACT available on Mathematica.
- Maple: There is a very powerful package on general relativity: GRTensor, on the Maple platform.
- Sage: Sage is a collection of free math software. Those lower level software use different languages and conventions. And sage unifies them with an interface using the Python programming language. Python is strong in object-oriented programming, in contrast with the functional programming approach taken by Mathematica.
- *Maxima*: Currently Sage use Maxima as back-end. In the analytical aspects, Maxima itself is feature complete, if one would not need the conveniences provided by Python.

The examples of calculating cosmic perturbations using Mathematica, Maple and Sage are given at

https://dl.dropbox.com/u/49916494/Yi-Wang-pert-sample-code.tar.gz

Not every part of the code is thoroughly checked thus please double check before usage. From now on we take Mathematica as an example for discussion.

2. Summed indices

One annoying fact is that computers are usually not clever enough to combine quantities in desired forms. Especially they typically do not collect summed indices. Algebraic systems as Mathematica will leave you something like $\partial_1 \partial_1 f + \partial_2 \partial_2 f + \partial_3 \partial_3 f$ instead of $\partial_i \partial_i f$. There are at least two tricks one can do for this:

• Replace the dummy indices: We can define a replacement rule

expression /. { D[f_,x1,x1] -> p2[f] - D[f,x2,x2] - D[f,x3,x3] }

Note the underscore here. This underscore matches and replaces $\partial_1 \partial_1$ acting on all variables, not only f itself. We will also meet a lot of other combinations that we need to design rules to match and replace.

- Keep them abstract from the beginning: For most of the cases, we don't need to actually calculate the summation of spatial indices, we just need to write them in a compact form. For this purpose, we can directly write $\partial_i \partial_i f$ in the code. It is (typically) elegant and not hard to do this. We have to note:
 - The default derivative operator tries to calculate $\partial_i f$ explicitly. This is not the desired behavior when we decide to keep $\partial_i \partial_i f$ as abstract. To solve this problem, we can define derivative operators ourselves. The definition should include linearity and the Leibniz's rule for multiplication, without defining how to calculate $\partial_i f$ explicitly. It is also convenient to use the "Notation" package to overload the ∂ operator.
 - Dummy indices may conflict. For example, how does Mathematica write $(\partial^2 f)^2$ as $\partial_i \partial_i f \partial_j \partial_j f$ instead of as $\partial_i \partial_i f \partial_i \partial_i f$? For this purpose, the Unique[] function is useful. We can write

```
(\partial_# \partial_# f)&[Unique[]] * (\partial_# \partial_# f)&[Unique[]]
```

Then Mathematica automatically assign different dummies for different terms. It is also not hard to write a function to simplify dummies.

3. Integration by parts

In the code calculating the action of perturbations, one frequently need to integrate by parts. The situations can be divided into 2nd order or higher order actions, and spatial or temporal directions. For 2nd order spatial direction, one can go to momentum space to get rid of integration by parts. However, for higher order, or temporal direction, going to momentum space does not help that much.

One general way to do integration by parts is to use the Mathematica function ReplaceList[]. This function tries all possible replace rules (which we write ourselves). We just need to setup some measure to compare the result of each replacement and find a good one. We can repeatedly call ReplaceList[] (or multiple ReplaceList[] in a row) until the result is simplest.

- A. H. Guth, "The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems," Phys. Rev. D 23, 347 (1981).
- [2] A. D. Linde, "A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems," Phys. Lett. B 108, 389 (1982).
- [3] A. Albrecht and P. J. Steinhardt, "Cosmology for Grand Unified Theories with Radiatively Induced Symmetry Breaking," Phys. Rev. Lett. 48, 1220 (1982).
- [4] V. F. Mukhanov and G. V. Chibisov, "Quantum Fluctuation and Nonsingular Universe. (In Russian)," JETP Lett. 33, 532 (1981) [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 33, 549 (1981)].
- [5] S. W. Hawking, "The Development of Irregularities in a Single Bubble Inflationary Universe," Phys. Lett. B 115, 295 (1982).
- [6] A. A. Starobinsky, "Dynamics of Phase Transition in the New Inflationary Universe Scenario and Generation of Perturbations," Phys. Lett. B 117, 175 (1982).
- [7] A. H. Guth and S. Y. Pi, "Fluctuations in the New Inflationary Universe," Phys. Rev. Lett. 49, 1110 (1982).
- [8] J. M. Bardeen, P. J. Steinhardt and M. S. Turner, "Spontaneous Creation of Almost Scale Free Density Perturbations in an Inflationary Universe," Phys. Rev. D 28, 679 (1983).
- [9] H. Kodama and M. Sasaki, "Cosmological Perturbation Theory," Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 78, 1 (1984).
- [10] V. F. Mukhanov, H. A. Feldman and R. H. Brandenberger, "Theory of cosmological perturbations. Part 1. Classical perturbations. Part 2. Quantum theory of perturbations. Part 3. Extensions," Phys. Rept. 215, 203 (1992).
- [11] E. Komatsu, "The pursuit of non-gaussian fluctuations in the cosmic microwave background," astro-ph/0206039.
- [12] A. Riotto, "Inflation and the theory of cosmological perturbations," hep-ph/0210162.
- [13] N. Bartolo, E. Komatsu, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, "Non-Gaussianity from inflation: Theory and observations," Phys. Rept. 402, 103 (2004) [astro-ph/0406398].
- [14] V. Mukhanov, "Physical foundations of cosmology," Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (2005) 421 p
- [15] D. Wands, "Multiple field inflation," Lect. Notes Phys. 738, 275 (2008) [astro-ph/0702187 [ASTRO-PH]].
- [16] S. Weinberg, "Cosmology," Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Pr. (2008) 593 p
- [17] K. A. Malik and D. Wands, "Cosmological perturbations," Phys. Rept. 475, 1 (2009) [arXiv:0809.4944 [astro-ph]].
- [18] W. H. Kinney, "TASI Lectures on Inflation," arXiv:0902.1529 [astro-ph.CO].
- [19] D. Baumann, "TASI Lectures on Inflation," arXiv:0907.5424 [hep-th].

- [20] M. Liguori, E. Sefusatti, J. R. Fergusson and E. P. S. Shellard, "Primordial non-Gaussianity and Bispectrum Measurements in the Cosmic Microwave Background and Large-Scale Structure," Adv. Astron. 2010, 980523 (2010) [arXiv:1001.4707 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [21] D. Langlois, "Lectures on inflation and cosmological perturbations," Lect. Notes Phys. 800, 1 (2010) [arXiv:1001.5259 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [22] X. Chen, "Primordial Non-Gaussianities from Inflation Models," Adv. Astron. 2010, 638979 (2010) [arXiv:1002.1416 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [23] J. B. Hartle and S. W. Hawking, "Wave Function of the Universe," Phys. Rev. D 28, 2960 (1983).
- [24] A. D. Linde, "Quantum creation of an inflationary universe," Sov. Phys. JETP 60, 211 (1984) [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 87, 369 (1984)].
- [25] A. Vilenkin, "Quantum Creation of Universes," Phys. Rev. D 30, 509 (1984).
- [26] G. F. Smoot, C. L. Bennett, A. Kogut, E. L. Wright, J. Aymon, N. W. Boggess, E. S. Cheng and G. De Amici et al., "Structure in the COBE differential microwave radiometer first year maps," Astrophys. J. 396, L1 (1992).
- [27] C. L. Bennett, D. Larson, J. L. Weiland, N. Jarosik, G. Hinshaw, N. Odegard, K. M. Smith and R. S. Hill *et al.*, "Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Final Maps and Results," arXiv:1212.5225 [astro-ph.CO].
- [28] G. Hinshaw, D. Larson, E. Komatsu, D. N. Spergel, C. L. Bennett, J. Dunkley, M. R. Nolta and M. Halpern et al., "Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Parameter Results," arXiv:1212.5226 [astro-ph.CO].
- [29] S. Das, T. Louis, M. R. Nolta, G. E. Addison, E. S. Battistelli, J R. Bond, E. Calabrese and D. C. M. J. Devlin *et al.*, "The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Temperature and Gravitational Lensing Power Spectrum Measurements from Three Seasons of Data," arXiv:1301.1037 [astro-ph.CO].
- [30] J. Dunkley, E. Calabrese, J. Sievers, G. E. Addison, N. Battaglia, E. S. Battistelli, J. R. Bond and S. Das *et al.*, "The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: likelihood for small-scale CMB data," arXiv:1301.0776 [astro-ph.CO].
- [31] J. L. Sievers, R. A. Hlozek, M. R. Nolta, V. Acquaviva, G. E. Addison, P. A. R. Ade, P. Aguirre and M. Amiri et al., "The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Cosmological parameters from three seasons of data," arXiv:1301.0824 [astro-ph.CO].
- [32] K. T. Story, C. L. Reichardt, Z. Hou, R. Keisler, K. A. Aird, B. A. Benson, L. E. Bleem and J. E. Carlstrom *et al.*, "A Measurement of the Cosmic Microwave Background Damping Tail from the 2500-square-degree SPT-SZ survey," arXiv:1210.7231 [astro-ph.CO].
- [33] Z. Hou, C. L. Reichardt, K. T. Story, B. Follin, R. Keisler, K. A. Aird, B. A. Benson and L. E. Bleem *et al.*, "Constraints on Cosmology from the Cosmic Microwave Background Power Spectrum of the 2500-square degree SPT-SZ Survey," arXiv:1212.6267 [astro-ph.CO].
- [34] M. Li, X. -D. Li, S. Wang and Y. Wang, "Dark Energy," Commun. Theor. Phys. 56, 525 (2011) [arXiv:1103.5870 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [35] S. R. Coleman, "The Fate of the False Vacuum. 1. Semiclassical Theory," Phys. Rev. D 15, 2929 (1977) [Erratum-ibid. D 16, 1248 (1977)].
- [36] S. R. Coleman and F. De Luccia, "Gravitational Effects on and of Vacuum Decay," Phys. Rev. D 21, 3305 (1980).
- [37] F. Lucchin and S. Matarrese, "Power Law Inflation," Phys. Rev. D 32, 1316 (1985).
- [38] G. W. Gibbons, S. W. Hawking and J. M. Stewart, "A Natural Measure On The Set Of All Universes," Nucl. Phys. B 281, 736 (1987).
- [39] G. W. Gibbons and N. Turok, "The Measure Problem in Cosmology," Phys. Rev. D 77, 063516 (2008) [hep-th/0609095].
- [40] M. Li and Y. Wang, "The Measure for the Multiverse and the Probability for Inflation," JCAP 0706, 012 (2007) [arXiv:0704.1026 [hep-th]].
- [41] B. A. Bassett, S. Tsujikawa and D. Wands, "Inflation dynamics and reheating," Rev. Mod. Phys. 78, 537 (2006) [astroph/0507632].
- [42] R. Allahverdi, R. Brandenberger, F. -Y. Cyr-Racine and A. Mazumdar, "Reheating in Inflationary Cosmology: Theory and Applications," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 60, 27 (2010) [arXiv:1001.2600 [hep-th]].
- [43] L. F. Abbott, E. Farhi and M. B. Wise, "Particle Production in the New Inflationary Cosmology," Phys. Lett. B 117, 29 (1982).
- [44] A. D. Dolgov and A. D. Linde, "Baryon Asymmetry in Inflationary Universe," Phys. Lett. B 116, 329 (1982).
- [45] A. Albrecht, P. J. Steinhardt, M. S. Turner and F. Wilczek, "Reheating an Inflationary Universe," Phys. Rev. Lett. 48, 1437 (1982).
- [46] A. Sen, "Tachyon matter," JHEP 0207, 065 (2002) [hep-th/0203265].
- [47] G. Shiu, S. H. H. Tye and I. Wasserman, "Rolling tachyon in brane world cosmology from superstring field theory," Phys. Rev. D 67, 083517 (2003) [hep-th/0207119].
- [48] J. M. Cline, H. Firouzjahi and P. Martineau, "Reheating from tachyon condensation," JHEP 0211, 041 (2002) [hep-th/0207156].
- [49] J. H. Traschen and R. H. Brandenberger, "Particle Production During Out-of-equilibrium Phase Transitions," Phys. Rev. D 42, 2491 (1990).
- [50] A. D. Dolgov and D. P. Kirilova, "On Particle Creation By A Time Dependent Scalar Field," Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 51, 172 (1990) [Yad. Fiz. 51, 273 (1990)].
- [51] Y. Shtanov, J. H. Traschen and R. H. Brandenberger, "Universe reheating after inflation," Phys. Rev. D 51, 5438 (1995) [hep-ph/9407247].
- [52] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde and A. A. Starobinsky, "Reheating after inflation," Phys. Rev. Lett. 73, 3195 (1994) [hep-

th/9405187].

- [53] S. Y. Khlebnikov and I. I. Tkachev, "Relic gravitational waves produced after preheating," Phys. Rev. D 56, 653 (1997) [hep-ph/9701423].
- [54] E. J. Copeland, A. R. Liddle, D. H. Lyth, E. D. Stewart and D. Wands, "False vacuum inflation with Einstein gravity," Phys. Rev. D 49, 6410 (1994) [astro-ph/9401011].
- [55] J. Martin and R. H. Brandenberger, "The TransPlanckian problem of inflationary cosmology," Phys. Rev. D 63, 123501 (2001) [hep-th/0005209].
- [56] R. H. Brandenberger and J. Martin, "The Robustness of inflation to changes in superPlanck scale physics," Mod. Phys. Lett. A 16, 999 (2001) [astro-ph/0005432].
- [57] R. Brandenberger and J. Martin, "Trans-Planckian Issues for Inflationary Cosmology," arXiv:1211.6753 [astro-ph.CO].
- [58] A. Borde, A. H. Guth and A. Vilenkin, "Inflationary space-times are incompletein past directions," Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 151301 (2003) [gr-qc/0110012].
- [59] P. J. Steinhardt, "Natural Inflation," In *Cambridge 1982, Proceedings, The Very Early Universe*, 251-266 and Pennsylvania Univ. Philadelphia - UPR-0198T (82,REC.OCT.) 16 P. (211400) (SEE CONFERENCE INDEX)
- [60] A. Vilenkin, "The Birth of Inflationary Universes," Phys. Rev. D 27, 2848 (1983).
- [61] L. Parker, "Quantized fields and particle creation in expanding universes. 1.," Phys. Rev. 183, 1057 (1969).
- [62] T. S. Bunch and P. C. W. Davies, "Quantum Field Theory in de Sitter Space: Renormalization by Point Splitting," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 360, 117 (1978).
- [63] R. L. Arnowitt, S. Deser and C. W. Misner, "The Dynamics of general relativity," gr-qc/0405109.
- [64] R. M. Wald, "General Relativity," Chicago, Usa: Univ. Pr. (1984) 491p
- [65] J. W. York, Jr., "Role of conformal three geometry in the dynamics of gravitation," Phys. Rev. Lett. 28, 1082 (1972).
- [66] G. W. Gibbons and S. W. Hawking, "Action Integrals and Partition Functions in Quantum Gravity," Phys. Rev. D 15, 2752 (1977).
- [67] W. Unruh, "Cosmological long wavelength perturbations," astro-ph/9802323.
- [68] G. Geshnizjani and R. Brandenberger, "Back reaction and local cosmological expansion rate," Phys. Rev. D 66, 123507 (2002) [gr-qc/0204074].
- [69] T. Prokopec and J. Weenink, "Uniqueness of the gauge invariant action for cosmological perturbations," JCAP 1212, 031 (2012) [arXiv:1209.1701 [gr-qc]].
- [70] K. Hinterbichler, L. Hui and J. Khoury, "Conformal Symmetries of Adiabatic Modes in Cosmology," JCAP 1208, 017 (2012) [arXiv:1203.6351 [hep-th]].
- [71] G. L. Pimentel, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, "On Loops in Inflation III: Time Independence of zeta in Single Clock Inflation," JHEP 1207, 166 (2012) [arXiv:1203.6651 [hep-th]].
- [72] E. D. Stewart and D. H. Lyth, "A More accurate analytic calculation of the spectrum of cosmological perturbations produced during inflation," Phys. Lett. B 302, 171 (1993) [gr-qc/9302019].
- [73] J. E. Lidsey, A. R. Liddle, E. W. Kolb, E. J. Copeland, T. Barreiro and M. Abney, "Reconstructing the inflation potential : An overview," Rev. Mod. Phys. 69, 373 (1997) [astro-ph/9508078].
- [74] D. H. Lyth, K. A. Malik and M. Sasaki, "A General proof of the conservation of the curvature perturbation," JCAP 0505, 004 (2005) [astro-ph/0411220].
- [75] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, "Symmetries and Loops in Inflation," arXiv:1210.7792 [hep-th].
- [76] A. A. Starobinsky, "Multicomponent de Sitter (Inflationary) Stages and the Generation of Perturbations," JETP Lett. 42, 152 (1985) [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 42, 124 (1985)].
- [77] M. Sasaki and E. D. Stewart, "A General analytic formula for the spectral index of the density perturbations produced during inflation," Prog. Theor. Phys. 95, 71 (1996) [astro-ph/9507001].
- [78] D. H. Lyth and Y. Rodriguez, "The Inflationary prediction for primordial non-Gaussianity," Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 121302 (2005) [astro-ph/0504045].
- [79] A.A.Starobinsky, in Fundamental Interactions, ed. V.N.Ponomarev (MGPI Press, Moscow, 1984) p. 54; and in Current Topics in Field Theory, Quantum Gravity and Strings, Lecture Notes in Physics 246, H.J.DeVega and N.Sanchez, eds. (Springer, Berlin, 1986) p. 107.
- [80] L. Susskind, L. Thorlacius and J. Uglum, "The Stretched horizon and black hole complementarity," Phys. Rev. D 48, 3743 (1993) [hep-th/9306069].
- [81] N. Goheer, M. Kleban and L. Susskind, "The Trouble with de Sitter space," JHEP 0307, 056 (2003) [hep-th/0212209].
- [82] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dubovsky, A. Nicolis, E. Trincherini and G. Villadoro, "A Measure of de Sitter entropy and eternal inflation," JHEP 0705, 055 (2007) [arXiv:0704.1814 [hep-th]].
- [83] V. A. Rubakov, M. V. Sazhin and A. V. Veryaskin, "Graviton Creation in the Inflationary Universe and the Grand Unification Scale," Phys. Lett. B 115, 189 (1982).
- [84] R. Fabbri and M. d. Pollock, "The Effect of Primordially Produced Gravitons upon the Anisotropy of the Cosmological Microwave Background Radiation," Phys. Lett. B 125, 445 (1983).
- [85] L. F. Abbott and M. B. Wise, "Constraints on Generalized Inflationary Cosmologies," Nucl. Phys. B 244, 541 (1984).
- [86] L. A. Boyle and P. J. Steinhardt, "Probing the early universe with inflationary gravitational waves," Phys. Rev. D 77, 063504 (2008) [astro-ph/0512014].
- [87] D. H. Lyth, "What would we learn by detecting a gravitational wave signal in the cosmic microwave background anisotropy?," Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 1861 (1997) [hep-ph/9606387].
- [88] T. Fujita and S. Mukohyama, "Universal upper limit on inflation energy scale from cosmic magnetic field," JCAP 1210, 034 (2012) [arXiv:1205.5031 [astro-ph.CO]].

- [89] A. D. Linde and V. Mukhanov, "The curvaton web," JCAP 0604, 009 (2006) [astro-ph/0511736].
- [90] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Anomalous High Energy Dependence in Inflationary Density Perturbations," arXiv:1207.0100 [hep-th].
- [91] S. Weinberg, "Quantum contributions to cosmological correlations," Phys. Rev. D 72, 043514 (2005) [hep-th/0506236].
- [92] M. Li and Y. Wang, "Multi-Stream Inflation," JCAP 0907, 033 (2009) [arXiv:0903.2123 [hep-th]].
- [93] F. Duplessis, Y. Wang and R. Brandenberger, "Multi-Stream Inflation in a Landscape," JCAP 1204, 012 (2012) [arXiv:1201.0029 [hep-th]].
- [94] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Quasi-Single Field Inflation and Non-Gaussianities," JCAP 1004, 027 (2010) [arXiv:0911.3380 [hep-th]].
- [95] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Quasi-Single Field Inflation with Large Mass," JCAP 1209, 021 (2012) [arXiv:1205.0160 [hep-th]].
- [96] S. R. Behbahani and D. Green, "Collective Symmetry Breaking and Resonant Non-Gaussianity," JCAP 1211, 056 (2012) [arXiv:1207.2779 [hep-th]].
- [97] D. Green, M. Lewandowski, L. Senatore, E. Silverstein and M. Zaldarriaga, "Anomalous Dimensions and Non-Gaussianity," arXiv:1301.2630 [hep-th].
- [98] X. Chen, B. Hu, M. -x. Huang, G. Shiu and Y. Wang, "Large Primordial Trispectra in General Single Field Inflation," JCAP 0908, 008 (2009) [arXiv:0905.3494 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [99] J. M. Maldacena, "Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models," JHEP 0305, 013 (2003) [astro-ph/0210603].
- [100] F. Arroja and T. Tanaka, "A note on the role of the boundary terms for the non-Gaussianity in general k-inflation," JCAP 1105, 005 (2011) [arXiv:1103.1102 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [101] N. Arkani-Hamed, L. Motl, A. Nicolis and C. Vafa, "The String landscape, black holes and gravity as the weakest force," JHEP 0706, 060 (2007) [hep-th/0601001].
- [102] Q. -G. Huang, "Gravitational correction and weak gravity conjecture," JHEP 0703, 053 (2007) [hep-th/0703039 [HEP-TH]].
- [103] X. Chen, M. -x. Huang and G. Shiu, "The Inflationary Trispectrum for Models with Large Non-Gaussianities," Phys. Rev. D 74, 121301 (2006) [hep-th/0610235].
- [104] E. Komatsu and D. N. Spergel, "Acoustic signatures in the primary microwave background bispectrum," Phys. Rev. D 63, 063002 (2001) [astro-ph/0005036].
- [105] B. Chen, Y. Wang and W. Xue, "Inflationary nonGaussianity from thermal fluctuations," JCAP 0805, 014 (2008) [arXiv:0712.2345 [hep-th]].
- [106] D. Wands, "Local non-Gaussianity from inflation," Class. Quant. Grav. 27, 124002 (2010) [arXiv:1004.0818 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [107] Y. -F. Cai and Y. Wang, "Large Nonlocal Non-Gaussianity from a Curvaton Brane," Phys. Rev. D 82, 123501 (2010) [arXiv:1005.0127 [hep-th]].
- [108] J. -O. Gong, C. Lin and Y. Wang, "Non-Gaussianity from false vacuum inflation: Old curvaton scenario," JCAP 1003, 004 (2010) [arXiv:0912.2796 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [109] T. Suyama and M. Yamaguchi, "Non-Gaussianity in the modulated reheating scenario," Phys. Rev. D 77, 023505 (2008) [arXiv:0709.2545 [astro-ph]].
- [110] C. Lin and Y. Wang, "Quadra-Spectrum and Quint-Spectrum from Inflation and Curvaton Models," JCAP 1007, 011 (2010) [arXiv:1004.0461 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [111] G. Tasinato, C. T. Byrnes, S. Nurmi and D. Wands, "Loop corrections and a new test of inflation," arXiv:1207.1772 [hep-th].
- [112] P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, "Single field consistency relation for the 3-point function," JCAP 0410, 006 (2004) [astro-ph/0407059].
- [113] M. Li and Y. Wang, "Consistency Relations for Non-Gaussianity," JCAP 0809, 018 (2008) [arXiv:0807.3058 [hep-th]].
- [114] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, "On Soft Limits of Inflationary Correlation Functions," JCAP 1211, 047 (2012) [arXiv:1204.4207 [hep-th]].
- [115] M. Shiraishi, E. Komatsu, M. Peloso and N. Barnaby, "Signatures of anisotropic sources in the squeezed-limit bispectrum of the cosmic microwave background," arXiv:1302.3056 [astro-ph.CO].
- [116] E. Silverstein and A. Westphal, "Monodromy in the CMB: Gravity Waves and String Inflation," Phys. Rev. D 78, 106003 (2008) [arXiv:0803.3085 [hep-th]].
- [117] K. Freese and D. Spolyar, "Chain inflation: 'Bubble bubble toil and trouble'," JCAP 0507, 007 (2005) [hep-ph/0412145].
- [118] J. M. Cline, G. D. Moore and Y. Wang, "Chain Inflation Reconsidered," JCAP 1108, 032 (2011) [arXiv:1106.2188 [hep-th]].
- [119] N. Arkani-Hamed, H. -C. Cheng, M. A. Luty and S. Mukohyama, "Ghost condensation and a consistent infrared modification of gravity," JHEP 0405, 074 (2004) [hep-th/0312099].
- [120] N. Arkani-Hamed, P. Creminelli, S. Mukohyama and M. Zaldarriaga, "Ghost inflation," JCAP 0404, 001 (2004) [hep-th/0312100].
- [121] C. M. Bender and S. Boettcher, "Real spectra in nonHermitian Hamiltonians having PT symmetry," Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 5243 (1998) [physics/9712001].
- [122] C. M. Bender and P. D. Mannheim, "No-ghost theorem for the fourth-order derivative Pais-Uhlenbeck oscillator model," Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 110402 (2008) [arXiv:0706.0207 [hep-th]].
- [123] J. M. Cline, S. Jeon and G. D. Moore, "The Phantom menaced: Constraints on low-energy effective ghosts," Phys. Rev. D 70, 043543 (2004) [hep-ph/0311312].
- [124] N. Barnaby and J. M. Cline, "Large Nongaussianity from Nonlocal Inflation," JCAP 0707, 017 (2007) [arXiv:0704.3426

[hep-th]].

- [125] N. Barnaby and J. M. Cline, "Predictions for Nongaussianity from Nonlocal Inflation," JCAP 0806, 030 (2008) [arXiv:0802.3218 [hep-th]].
- [126] N. Barnaby, "Nonlocal Inflation," Can. J. Phys. 87, 189 (2009) [arXiv:0811.0814 [hep-th]].
- [127] G. W. Horndeski, "Second-order scalar-tensor field equations in a four-dimensional space," Int. J. Theor. Phys. 10, 363 (1974).
- [128] C. Deffayet, X. Gao, D. A. Steer and G. Zahariade, "From k-essence to generalised Galileons," Phys. Rev. D 84, 064039 (2011) [arXiv:1103.3260 [hep-th]].
- [129] T. Kobayashi, M. Yamaguchi and J. 'i. Yokoyama, "Generalized G-inflation: Inflation with the most general second-order field equations," Prog. Theor. Phys. 126, 511 (2011) [arXiv:1105.5723 [hep-th]].
- [130] X. Gao, T. Kobayashi, M. Shiraishi, M. Yamaguchi, J. 'i. Yokoyama and S. Yokoyama, "Full bispectra from primordial scalar and tensor perturbations in the most general single-field inflation model," arXiv:1207.0588 [astro-ph.CO].
- [131] C. Armendariz-Picon, T. Damour and V. F. Mukhanov, "k inflation," Phys. Lett. B 458, 209 (1999) [hep-th/9904075].
- [132] J. Garriga and V. F. Mukhanov, "Perturbations in k-inflation," Phys. Lett. B **458**, 219 (1999) [hep-th/9904176].
- [133] T. Kobayashi, M. Yamaguchi and J. 'i. Yokoyama, "G-inflation: Inflation driven by the Galileon field," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 231302 (2010) [arXiv:1008.0603 [hep-th]].
- [134] T. Kobayashi, M. Yamaguchi and J. 'i. Yokoyama, "Primordial non-Gaussianity from G-inflation," Phys. Rev. D 83, 103524 (2011) [arXiv:1103.1740 [hep-th]].
- [135] D. Seery and J. E. Lidsey, "Primordial non-Gaussianities in single field inflation," JCAP 0506, 003 (2005) [astroph/0503692].
- [136] X. Chen, M. -x. Huang, S. Kachru and G. Shiu, "Observational signatures and non-Gaussianities of general single field inflation," JCAP 0701, 002 (2007) [hep-th/0605045].
- [137] P. Creminelli, A. Nicolis, L. Senatore, M. Tegmark and M. Zaldarriaga, "Limits on non-gaussianities from wmap data," JCAP 0605, 004 (2006) [astro-ph/0509029].
- [138] F. Arroja, S. Mizuno, K. Koyama and T. Tanaka, "On the full trispectrum in single field DBI-inflation," Phys. Rev. D 80, 043527 (2009) [arXiv:0905.3641 [hep-th]].
- [139] C. Cheung, P. Creminelli, A. L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, "The Effective Field Theory of Inflation," JHEP 0803, 014 (2008) [arXiv:0709.0293 [hep-th]].
- [140] C. P. Burgess, J. M. Cline and R. Holman, "Effective field theories and inflation," JCAP 0310, 004 (2003) [hep-th/0306079].
- [141] S. Weinberg, "Effective Field Theory for Inflation," Phys. Rev. D 77, 123541 (2008) [arXiv:0804.4291 [hep-th]].
- [142] Q. -G. Huang, "The trispectrum in ghost inflation," JCAP 1007, 025 (2010) [arXiv:1004.0808 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [143] K. Izumi and S. Mukohyama, "Trispectrum from Ghost Inflation," JCAP 1006, 016 (2010) [arXiv:1004.1776 [hep-th]].
- [144] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, "The Effective Field Theory of Multifield Inflation," JHEP 1204, 024 (2012) [arXiv:1009.2093 [hep-th]].
- [145] D. Baumann and D. Green, "Signatures of Supersymmetry from the Early Universe," Phys. Rev. D 85, 103520 (2012) [arXiv:1109.0292 [hep-th]].
- [146] T. Noumi, M. Yamaguchi and D. Yokoyama, "Effective field theory approach to quasi-single field inflation," arXiv:1211.1624 [hep-th].
- [147] J. J. M. Carrasco, M. P. Hertzberg and L. Senatore, "The Effective Field Theory of Cosmological Large Scale Structures," JHEP 1209, 082 (2012) [arXiv:1206.2926 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [148] X. Chen, H. Firouzjahi, M. H. Namjoo and M. Sasaki, "A Single Field Inflation Model with Large Local Non-Gaussianity," arXiv:1301.5699 [hep-th].
- [149] X. Chen, "Folded Resonant Non-Gaussianity in General Single Field Inflation," JCAP 1012, 003 (2010) [arXiv:1008.2485 [hep-th]].
- [150] M. H. Namjoo, H. Firouzjahi and M. Sasaki, "Violation of non-Gaussianity consistency relation in a single field inflationary model," arXiv:1210.3692 [astro-ph.CO].
- [151] J. Martin, H. Motohashi and T. Suyama, "Ultra Slow-Roll Inflation and the non-Gaussianity Consistency Relation," Phys. Rev. D 87, 023514 (2013) [arXiv:1211.0083 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [152] Y. -F. Cai, W. Xue, R. Brandenberger and X. Zhang, "Non-Gaussianity in a Matter Bounce," JCAP 0905, 011 (2009) [arXiv:0903.0631 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [153] D. Wands, K. A. Malik, D. H. Lyth and A. R. Liddle, "A New approach to the evolution of cosmological perturbations on large scales," Phys. Rev. D 62, 043527 (2000) [astro-ph/0003278].
- [154] C. Gordon, D. Wands, B. A. Bassett and R. Maartens, "Adiabatic and entropy perturbations from inflation," Phys. Rev. D 63, 023506 (2001) [astro-ph/0009131].
- [155] S. Groot Nibbelink and B. J. W. van Tent, "Scalar perturbations during multiple field slow-roll inflation," Class. Quant. Grav. 19, 613 (2002) [hep-ph/0107272].
- [156] S. -H. H. Tye, J. Xu and Y. Zhang, "Multi-field Inflation with a Random Potential," JCAP 0904, 018 (2009) [arXiv:0812.1944 [hep-th]].
- [157] M. S. Sloth, "Suppressing super-horizon curvature perturbations?," Mod. Phys. Lett. A 21, 961 (2006) [hep-ph/0507315].
- [158] N. Bartolo, E. W. Kolb and A. Riotto, "Post-inflation increase of the cosmological tensor-to-scalar perturbation ratio," Mod. Phys. Lett. A 20, 3077 (2005) [astro-ph/0507573].
- [159] M. Li, C. Lin, T. Wang and Y. Wang, "Non-Gaussianity, Isocurvature Perturbation, Gravitational Waves and a No-Go Theorem for Isocurvaton," Phys. Rev. D 79, 063526 (2009) [arXiv:0805.1299 [astro-ph]].

- [160] S. Mollerach, "Isocurvature Baryon Perturbations And Inflation," Phys. Rev. D 42, 313 (1990).
- [161] A. D. Linde and V. F. Mukhanov, "Nongaussian isocurvature perturbations from inflation," Phys. Rev. D 56, 535 (1997) [astro-ph/9610219].
- [162] K. Enqvist and M. S. Sloth, "Adiabatic CMB perturbations in pre big bang string cosmology," Nucl. Phys. B 626, 395 (2002) [hep-ph/0109214].
- [163] D. H. Lyth and D. Wands, "Generating the curvature perturbation without an inflaton," Phys. Lett. B 524, 5 (2002) [hep-ph/0110002].
- [164] T. Moroi and T. Takahashi, "Effects of cosmological moduli fields on cosmic microwave background," Phys. Lett. B 522, 215 (2001) [Erratum-ibid. B 539, 303 (2002)] [hep-ph/0110096].
- [165] M. Sasaki, J. Valiviita and D. Wands, "Non-Gaussianity of the primordial perturbation in the curvaton model," Phys. Rev. D 74, 103003 (2006) [astro-ph/0607627].
- [166] K. Enqvist and S. Nurmi, "Non-gaussianity in curvaton models with nearly quadratic potential," JCAP 0510, 013 (2005) [astro-ph/0508573].
- [167] Q. -G. Huang and Y. Wang, "Curvaton Dynamics and the Non-Linearity Parameters in Curvaton Model," JCAP 0809, 025 (2008) [arXiv:0808.1168 [hep-th]].
- [168] M. Kawasaki, T. Kobayashi and F. Takahashi, "Non-Gaussianity from Curvatons Revisited," Phys. Rev. D 84, 123506 (2011) [arXiv:1107.6011 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [169] M. Sasaki, "Multi-brid inflation and non-Gaussianity," Prog. Theor. Phys. 120, 159 (2008) [arXiv:0805.0974 [astro-ph]].
- [170] Q. -G. Huang, "A Geometric description of the non-Gaussianity generated at the end of multi-field inflation," JCAP 0906, 035 (2009) [arXiv:0904.2649 [hep-th]].
- [171] D. Seery, D. J. Mulryne, J. Frazer and R. H. Ribeiro, "Inflationary perturbation theory is geometrical optics in phase space," JCAP 1209, 010 (2012) [arXiv:1203.2635 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [172] G. Dvali, A. Gruzinov and M. Zaldarriaga, "A new mechanism for generating density perturbations from inflation," Phys. Rev. D 69, 023505 (2004) [astro-ph/0303591].
- [173] L. Kofman, "Probing string theory with modulated cosmological fluctuations," astro-ph/0303614.
- [174] G. Dvali, A. Gruzinov and M. Zaldarriaga, "Cosmological perturbations from inhomogeneous reheating, freezeout, and mass domination," Phys. Rev. D 69, 083505 (2004) [astro-ph/0305548].
- [175] F. Vernizzi, "Cosmological perturbations from varying masses and couplings," Phys. Rev. D 69, 083526 (2004) [astroph/0311167].
- [176] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski, "Quantization of four form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant," JHEP 0006, 006 (2000) [hep-th/0004134].
- [177] S. B. Giddings, S. Kachru and J. Polchinski, "Hierarchies from fluxes in string compactifications," Phys. Rev. D 66, 106006 (2002) [hep-th/0105097].
- [178] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A. D. Linde and S. P. Trivedi, "De Sitter vacua in string theory," Phys. Rev. D 68, 046005 (2003) [hep-th/0301240].
- [179] L. Susskind, "The Anthropic landscape of string theory," In *Carr, Bernard (ed.): Universe or multiverse?* 247-266 [hep-th/0302219].
- [180] N. Agarwal, R. Bean, L. McAllister and G. Xu, "Universality in D-brane Inflation," JCAP 1109, 002 (2011) [arXiv:1103.2775 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [181] J. Frazer and A. R. Liddle, "Multi-field inflation with random potentials: field dimension, feature scale and non-Gaussianity," JCAP 1202, 039 (2012) [arXiv:1111.6646 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [182] A. D. Linde, D. A. Linde and A. Mezhlumian, "From the Big Bang theory to the theory of a stationary universe," Phys. Rev. D 49, 1783 (1994) [gr-qc/9306035].
- [183] Q. -G. Huang, M. Li and Y. Wang, "Eternal Chaotic Inflation is Prohibited by Weak Gravity Conjecture," JCAP 0709, 013 (2007) [arXiv:0707.3471 [hep-th]].
- [184] P. Adshead, R. Easther and E. A. Lim, "Cosmology With Many Light Scalar Fields: Stochastic Inflation and Loop Corrections," Phys. Rev. D 79, 063504 (2009) [arXiv:0809.4008 [hep-th]].
- [185] N. Afshordi, A. Slosar and Y. Wang, "A Theory of a Spot," JCAP 1101, 019 (2011) [arXiv:1006.5021 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [186] S. Li, Y. Liu and Y. -S. Piao, "Inflation in Web," Phys. Rev. D 80, 123535 (2009) [arXiv:0906.3608 [hep-th]].
- [187] Y. Wang, "Multi-Stream Inflation: Bifurcations and Recombinations in the Multiverse," arXiv:1001.0008 [hep-th].
- [188] S. -H. Henry Tye, "A New view of the cosmic landscape," hep-th/0611148.
- [189] S. -H. H. Tye and D. Wohns, "Resonant Tunneling in Scalar Quantum Field Theory," arXiv:0910.1088 [hep-th].
- [190] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Large non-Gaussianities with Intermediate Shapes from Quasi-Single Field Inflation," Phys. Rev. D 81, 063511 (2010) [arXiv:0909.0496 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [191] S. Pi and M. Sasaki, "Curvature Perturbation Spectrum in Two-field Inflation with a Turning Trajectory," JCAP 1210, 051 (2012) [arXiv:1205.0161 [hep-th]].
- [192] N. Barnaby and S. Shandera, "Feeding your Inflaton: Non-Gaussian Signatures of Interaction Structure," JCAP 1201, 034 (2012) [arXiv:1109.2985 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [193] E. Sefusatti, J. R. Fergusson, X. Chen and E. P. S. Shellard, "Effects and Detectability of Quasi-Single Field Inflation in the Large-Scale Structure and Cosmic Microwave Background," JCAP 1208, 033 (2012) [arXiv:1204.6318 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [194] J. Norena, L. Verde, G. Barenboim and C. Bosch, "Prospects for constraining the shape of non-Gaussianity with the scale-dependent bias," JCAP 1208, 019 (2012) [arXiv:1204.6324 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [195] X. Chen, R. Easther and E. A. Lim, "Large Non-Gaussianities in Single Field Inflation," JCAP 0706, 023 (2007) [astroph/0611645].

- [196] J. Martin and L. Sriramkumar, "The scalar bi-spectrum in the Starobinsky model: The equilateral case," JCAP 1201, 008 (2012) [arXiv:1109.5838 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [197] X. Chen, R. Easther and E. A. Lim, "Generation and Characterization of Large Non-Gaussianities in Single Field Inflation," JCAP 0804, 010 (2008) [arXiv:0801.3295 [astro-ph]].
- [198] X. Chen, "Primordial Features as Evidence for Inflation," JCAP 1201, 038 (2012) [arXiv:1104.1323 [hep-th]].
- [199] G. Shiu and J. Xu, "Effective Field Theory and Decoupling in Multi-field Inflation: An Illustrative Case Study," Phys. Rev. D 84, 103509 (2011) [arXiv:1108.0981 [hep-th]].
- [200] A. Achucarro, J. -O. Gong, S. Hardeman, G. A. Palma and S. P. Patil, "Effective theories of single field inflation when heavy fields matter," JHEP 1205, 066 (2012) [arXiv:1201.6342 [hep-th]].
- [201] X. Gao, D. Langlois and S. Mizuno, "Influence of heavy modes on perturbations in multiple field inflation," JCAP 1210, 040 (2012) [arXiv:1205.5275 [hep-th]].
- [202] X. Chen, "Fingerprints of Primordial Universe Paradigms as Features in Density Perturbations," Phys. Lett. B 706, 111 (2011) [arXiv:1106.1635 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [203] D. J. H. Chung, E. W. Kolb, A. Riotto and I. I. Tkachev, "Probing Planckian physics: Resonant production of particles during inflation and features in the primordial power spectrum," Phys. Rev. D 62, 043508 (2000) [hep-ph/9910437].
- [204] A. E. Romano and M. Sasaki, "Effects of particle production during inflation," Phys. Rev. D 78, 103522 (2008) [arXiv:0809.5142 [gr-qc]].
- [205] N. Barnaby, "On Features and Nongaussianity from Inflationary Particle Production," Phys. Rev. D 82, 106009 (2010) [arXiv:1006.4615 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [206] D. Battefeld, T. Battefeld, C. Byrnes and D. Langlois, "Beauty is Distractive: Particle production during multifield inflation," JCAP 1108, 025 (2011) [arXiv:1106.1891 [astro-ph.CO]].